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Leaves are beautiful not only because of
their unique shapes and refreshing colors,
but also because of their unlimited energy
and growth. Our new shopping center,
Forum 66 in Shenyang, forms the newest
leaf in our Hang Lung tree of development
as we continue to grow our “expanding
horizons” and ever “soaring perspectives”.
On the cover of this annual report, Forum
66 is shown at the heart of the city center,
surrounded by the streets of Shenyang.

Forum 66

Shenyang
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n the fourth quarter of 2012, Forum 66, another world-class project of the Group, is
set to open in Shenyang. The opening of Forum 66 not only extends our footprint on
the Mainland, it also marks a major milestone in our transition into a leading national
corporation.

Situated at Qingnian Da Jie, Shenyang’s “Golden Corridor”, Forum 66 is the Group’s
largest project under development. The first phase of the mega complex to be completed
will consist of a high-end shopping center housing an impressive array of world-leading
Tuxury brands. Boasting the ultimate in architectural design, excellent tenant mix and
top-level services, this iconic landmark will create a brand new shopping experience for
customers seeking quality lifestyle.
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Hang Lung Group Limited

(stock code: 10) is one of the most established listed companies
in Hong Kong with more than 50 years of experience in the
property development market. Through its subsidiary, Hang
Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101), the Group has built a
leading reputation as a top tier property developer in Hong Kong
and on the Mainland, with a recognized commitment to quality.

The Group’s businesses in Hong Kong include property
development for sale and lease. Our substantial portfolio
includes well-planned large-scale commercial, office and
residential developments in prominent locations.

The Group made its first investment on the Mainland in early
1990s as the first step in our future business expansion. The
Group’s strategy on the Mainland is to develop prime sites in
major cities. Our portfolio of investment properties currently
comprises two large-scale developments in Shanghai, the
commercial, office and residential complex Grand Gateway
66; and the commercial and office complex Plaza 66; together
with the shopping complexes, Palace 66 in Shenyang and
Parc 66 in Jinan. We are building on our successes to develop
similar properties in major cities including Shenyang, Wuxi,
Tianjin, Dalian and Kunming.

We will continue not only to expand our horizons on the
Mainland, but also to invest in our portfolio in Hong Kong, as
we aim to become a mega national enterprise of the highest
quality in the market.
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Financial Highlights

Results

HZE+=-A=+—RA1/~M@A For the six-month period ended December 31

A EETTE in HKS$ million 2011 2010
MR Turnover
YERE Property leasing

BB Hong Kong 1,564 1,458

A A Mainland China 1,604 1,328
MEHE Property sales 193 3
E 2 Total turnover 3,361 2,789
5% 5P 4y A K Net profit attributable to shareholders 1,578 1,901
BE Dividends 512 256
BRER Per share data
vl Eamnings $1.17 $1.41
e Dividends

A Interim - $0.19

AREA Final $0.38 -

HaEt Total $0.38 $0.19
Hﬁ%ﬁiﬁf\?& Shareholders’ equity $44.9 $42.2
BEFE Net assets $89.9 $86.6
RER RS Shareholders’ equity 60,510 56,952
TRELEE Payout ratio 32% 13%
aER" Gearing ratio o' 1% 0%
Underlying Results
LA EETaTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
AR SR AR B A At R T2 Underlying net profit attributable to

shareholders "*°? 1,000 790
SRER "E° Earnings per share "°° $0.74 $0.59
RS & =0 Payout ratio "°° 51% 32%
FEE Notes:

1.

BIRTTER R EBERAANE - MRS RRTHE
R o BAER BIEA R s S JF i e

2. RIGEHASESEXRGENIER  SHEARA
5 B MR R BR A B8 & St BRI A0SR (IR E W)
X)) 2wE  ZEAREREMERERFIRE
MERNFEZESH W IR ARETHE R IFE
PR BER AR -

3. BHAEDBBERREEERLHE -

BEXRAFEHEREINEEEZLE - FEE 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents

bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the
underlying net profit attributable to shareholders are presented by excluding
the effect of adopting Hong Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property
which requires changes in fair value of investment properties and investment
properties under development, net of related deferred tax and non-controlling
interests be accounted for in profit or loss.

The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders.
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RO RBHRA NS IFEE R

Sustainable Income and Profit Growth in Core Business

HEEXHE HE A
Rental Turnover Rental Profit
HET-_A=1T—HIFE BE+-—A=1T—HILFE
For the years ended December 31 For the years ended December 31
BEEET BEEET
HKS million $3,168 HKS million
million $2,503
3,500 55% 3,000 million
BEFREREASZT= BAEFEREASZ T8N
3,000 Compound annual growth of 13% 50% 2,500 Compound annual growth of 12.9%
2,500
& F 45% 2,000
2,000 B
40% 1,500
1,500 F
35% 1,000
1,000
500 30% 500
0 25% 0
1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
® FEME Hong Kong leasing
o FREAMFEE Mainland China leasing —A&EXA +AZ+=A
TH ® 2H
PERHA SRS S ERETE AL Jew o Jlum i D
% of mainland China leasing of total leasing turnover
= NE—
MBREHIREUZEEH
Strong Financial Capability to Capture Business Opportunities
R EE#AE BAH A EEH
Total Equity Total Assets Interest Cover*
W+=—A=+—A8 Wt+=—A=+—8 HEt-A=t—BLFE
As at December 31 As at December 31 For the years ended December 31
BB AEEET &
HK$ million HK$ million times
$163,088 63
140,000 $,1,,2,|1|;l?,8 180,000 e 70 times
120,000 [leenot 60
140,000
100,000 50
120,000
80,000 100,000 e
60,000 80,000 -
60,000
40,000 20
40,000
20,000 20,000 10
0 0 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 ™M

* BRI F| BEEBIERTAREWEMBEREAIEE  * Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of

W 7 NEEEE) R B 25 A B AT investment properties and investment properties under development and interest
BEMMEATRER SRS o income divided by net interest expenses before interest capitalization.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 7
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Results and Dividend

Compared to the last corresponding period, turnover for
the six months ended December 31, 2011 increased
by 21% to HK$3,361 million. Net profit attributable to
shareholders fell 17% to HK$1,578 million, and earnings
per share was HK$1.17 representing a drop of the same
magnitude.

When excluding the effect of revaluation gains, the
underlying net profit attributable to shareholders
increased 27 % to HK$1,000 million and the underlying
earnings per share advanced 25% to HK$0.74.

The Board has resolved to change its financial year end
from June 30 to December 31. As such, the current
financial period covers the sixmonth period from
July 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011. The change is to
align with fiscal year end of subsidiaries incorporated in
Mainland China. There, by law, fiscal year end must be
December 31.

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK$0.38
per share. For the half year to December 31, 2010
we paid HK$0.19 per share and six months later,
HK$0.57 per share at then fiscal year end, making a
full-year payout of HK$0.76 per share. That means
on average we paid HK$0.38 per share for each
six-month period, hence the present recommendation.
This amount is subject to approval at the forthcoming
general meeting of shareholders.
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Business Review

Hong Kong rental market remained steady. Partly
benefitting from increased Mainland visitors, the retail
sector performed well. Office rents came under some
pressure which was not surprising since the global
economy was weak. Europe is fighting a mountain
of debt while the U.S. has to work out its real estate
problems and unemployment.  China’s economy,
increasingly intertwined with that of the world, cannot
remain unaffected. That in turn impacts Hong Kong's
all-important financial services industry which relies
heavily on Mainland corporates. As many banks are
cutting staff, leasing activities slowed and office rent
has nowhere to go but down. The only bright spot is
in the hospitality industry which also positively affects

certain serviced apartments like ours.

With that background, our Hong Kong investment
portfolio produced a 7% increase in overall rents -- 7%
for retail, 4% for offices and 14% for the rest. Given
the weakening office market, it is fortuitous that early
last year we renewed the lease to the sitting tenant for
a majority of the floors at our headquarters building. It
is for ten years and has terms quite favorable to us as
the landlord.

As previously reported, Shanghai's retail rents have
shown signs of softness in the past several months.
One cause may be the weakness in the residential
market. That together with the lackluster stock market
might have given people a “poverty effect” (as opposed

EEEEERAF —T——F4RH



EEN - MEARAMBEHLIEER
R OREERRINETEAEHME -

SEELLENRERYES
[FEESMEBEERRES  HaWA
BEAEBD ZTHARBED ZT
I LA EBEERA TS S HHE
NMa - ETHABHEXRBIRS
Fig - HEWALRES  BI1E1E
HARFRE o BEBERSNETE
fIRREE  BERALABDZ

= U E=ZBYEIERERE
WS ERAE - mERESNE
PEE 15 [ & 35 & i 78 B 2K - 2 &6
M e

/|\E

SENMEHNRE — BHHNEN
BEESMEMNERES HX
BRARI - BIBHEEAR  &E
KEZE - WMAANBEMI - 2H
BEERSMEER T HEELIRS
RIMEH R ERE - LB IR -
VL NBRBEERRIEHD 2M Al
EHREXRIDARRES  BREBEAE
AiE - AENERTIREEESZR
2 ARREEZETZRIEZEER
HKF - P A SRS BIEA
th - ZBEENESEXRBERED
ZThH - HESEEREANEEE 5 F
THEERA D Z/NT = B iR

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

to “wealth effect”) or a “feel-bad factor.” With that,
people tend to consume less. | trust thatitis a transient
phenomenon, for the systematic trend in China is still
the rise of domestic consumption.

Our two Shanghai malls Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66
reported growth in rent at 14% and 15% respectively.
For a maturing market, this is not bad. Our offices
have finally produced some rent increase after several
years of stagnation. The amount however is not yet
significant. The residential units in Grand Gateway 66
have fared well and brought in 13% more revenue.
Rental margins of all three product types remain steady
and both locations are basically fully let.

What is of interest to many is the performance of the
two new facilities, Shenyang Palace 66 and Jinan Parc
66. The former has encouraging news and the latter, a
glowing report. As | have previously written, not only
did Palace 66 encounter many unexpected troubles
during construction that blew the budget, resulting
in a lower initial yield of 4%, even after inauguration
luck still escaped us until perhaps now. The road work
surrounding our site has finally been resolved. Footfall
is approaching pre-road work levels while sales of
our tenants have surpassed the previous mark. As a
result, our rental turnover grew 15% and rental margin
improved. Profit has jumped 62% but it is from a very
low base. Occupancy was 94% with the vacancy due
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to tenant remix. It is gratifying that new leases are on
average 10% higher. All numbers seem to point to a
recovery, although challenges still abound.

Parc 66 is a different story -- in the absence of serious
competition, it has done superbly. Rental margin has
improved quickly in the four months since the August
2011 opening. Although it is only 56% bigger than
Palace 66, tenants’ sales as well as our operating profit
are doubled. Itis 100% occupied.

Due to market conditions, our major subsidiary Hang
Lung Properties only sold two units of The HarbourSide.
Profit margin however was phenomenal at 78%.
This should be considered a one-off situation when a
penthouse was sold for HK$50,000 per square foot. A
margin percentage in the 60's is more the norm for this
development.

In the past six months, both the Hong Kong and
Mainland residential markets have seen much change.
Volume and prices have not done well in both markets.
Ironically, although only in Hong Kong do we have flats
to sell, the housing market here probably affects our
local business less than the Mainland residential market
affects our commercial property rental there.

Hong Kong's housing industry is altogether bifurcated
into mass residential and luxury. Back in 1995, we
made a decision not to be in the former; we only do the
latter. This is similar in philosophy to our building only

13
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world-class commercial properties on the Mainland.
We do not want to play the speed and quantity game;
we only compete on profit margin and quality.

In the six months under review, transaction volume for
Hong Kong mass residential units was about half that of
the previous period while prices went sideways. This
followed a fairly active period of rising prices that lasted
about two years to this past summer. In the same
period, the luxury market was rather quiet - - since
August 2009 when we last sold a healthy amount of
flats, prices have not moved and volume was low. For
the less expensive flats, weak sentiment can quickly
send prices down, but for their high-end cousins, they
are much more resilient - - volume can suddenly
shrink but prices tend to hold up. Tighter supply is one
cause, and the fact that many luxury projects have their
somewhat unique attraction, is another. In the case of
The HarbourSide and to a lesser extent The Long Beach,
the beautiful harbor view is rare and highly desirable.
In other words, the psychology of purchasers in each

category varies.

The story on the Mainland is quite different. Although
we do not have residential units to sell -- at least not
now -- what happens in that market can directly impact
our commercial rental business. As | had previously
reported, at least twice in the past five years -- in 2007
and early 2008, and again from end 2009 to summer
2011 -- as home prices got very high, some of those
developers delved into commercial properties. On each
occasion, they bid up prices which adversely affected
our ability to buy land. Now that residential prices are
down and volume contracted, Mainland developers

15
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have to fight for survival and so will leave us alone. This
explains why last September we were able to buy an
excellent plot of land in the heart of Kunming. We did
not have a single competitor from the Mainland.

Last August, Hang Lung Properties lost a bid to continue
leasing and running Queensway Plaza in Admiralty,
Hong Kong. We have managed this high profile
property since the government first made it available in
1981. Financially speaking, it is altogether insignificant
to us and we know how old and tired the facility is.
Much maintenance and indeed capital expenditure are
required to rejuvenate it, yet the latest tenure dictated
by the government is shorter than ever. It was just not

worth the risk and our effort.

Prospects

Let me firstaddress the situation on the Mainland. Again
we cannot avoid its residential market although we do
not yet directly participate in it. At this juncture, it is not
easy to say with any degree of confidence where it will
go. The best guess is that prices will basically move
sideways while volume picks up. Bank lending to local
developers will be easier to come by than in the past
two years but certain restrictions on housing demand
will not be withdrawn altogether. This assessment is
based on the belief that the Central Government does
not want to rock the boat especially in this year of
changing administration.

17
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Nevertheless there are a few factors whose effects
may surface this year. They all tend to negatively impact
the residential market and so the developers. Take for
example subsidized housing. The first batch of millions
of homes since this policy initiative was implemented
Although the
number of units will not be as large as originally thought,

may come on stream later this year.

neither will it be inconsequential. There may be a delay
in their coming to the market but sooner or later they
will. Such a government building program will have the
effect of shrinking the private sector housing industry.

Also consider the property tax on homes which is
undergoing a trial run in certain cities. If it takes hold
and is practiced nationwide, the impact on residential
prices will have to be seen. Any impact on volume will
however be short-lived since to most people, home
purchase is a necessity.

The most likely outcome in light of all of the above
is that local developers presently in heavy debt will
survive the latest downturn, but it will not be easy. If
so, then hopefully most if not all of them wiill stay out
of commercial properties thus minimizing competition
for us in land acquisitions. Whether we will eventually
buy will of course depend on pricing which in turn will
depend on how desperate city governments are. There
is always the possibility that the Central Government
will bail out the cash-strapped municipalities.

And if we were to acquire more land, they will likely be
in secondary cities like those we have focused on since
the mid 2000's. It is our belief that the rental growth
rate there may be greater than that in first-tier cities like

19
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Beijing or Shanghai. To be sure, there are no Chinese
cities like those two. Apart from Hong Kong, they will
likely have the highest commercial rents in the country.
But for several reasons, their rate of increase may no
longer be the highest as they once were.

First, first-tier metropolises have more mature retail
markets.
already quite high. Six or eight years ago, many people
from nearby or not-so-nearby towns converged on them

Supply of shops is plentiful and rents are

to shop. Now almost all major brands are ubiquitous
thus partially diverting demand from those cities.

On the other hand, the secondary cities on which we
now focus and which are economically behind Beijing
and Shanghai are quickly catching up. Their GDP as
well as salary increases are faster. \With retail starting
at a lower base, there is much room for advancement.
If the 1990's and 2000's belonged to Beijing and
Shanghai, then the 2010’s belong to the secondary
cities. All the places in which we are building fall within
that category. Their rates of growth in retail sales will
be among the highest, although in absolute terms, no
Chinese city, again excepting Hong Kong, will likely
match Beijing and Shanghai.

Take for example Jinan. Although it is the capital of
Shandong, one of the three richest provinces in the
country, there were no shopping centers to speak of until
Parc 66 opened last August. The differential in quality
between our facility and others is huge. In fact, in most
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if not all of the cities where we are constructing, there
are simply no existing malls of our size or quality. This
condition is very favorable to our business. Inasmuch
as we like Beijing and Shanghai, if we had not entered
these excellent secondary cities years ago, our growth
today may be limited. Moreover, the number of such
metropolises in China is large -- certainly large enough
for many players the size of Hang Lung. That means
opportunities on the Mainland are practically limitless.

Hong Kong is quite a different story. Although we
apply the same investment philosophy in both places,
local conditions can make operational dynamics very
different.

There are two conditions which must be met before
we can successfully acquire land. The first is that
substantially all -- of course it is best if all -- of our
potential competitors are out of money and cannot or
dare not borrow. Because most Mainland players are
heavily leveraged, this condition can be met easier than
it appears. The last two incidents were from the fourth
quarter of 2008 to the second quarter of 2009, and
again from the second half of 2011 until now.

The likelihood of the same condition being fulfilled in
Hong Kong is much slimmer. The last time was 1998
to 2000 in the wake of the Asian Financial Crisis and so
that was the last time that we bought land in our home
city.
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The second condition is that the land sellers must be
on their knees. Chinese municipalities were in that
posture from 2008 year end to the second quarter of
2009. Besides selling land, their other major source of
funding is the Central Government. There is a possibility
that this time the Central Government will somehow

extend a life-saver to them.

In Hong Kong, the government is the biggest landlord.
For political reasons it dares not to appear to sell land
cheaply. This is why it has always kept the reserved price
for land application unreasonably high. So much so that
for years no developer was successful in applying for
land. Only in exceptional circumstances such as right
after the Asian Financial Crisis did we have a chance to
buy. It happened in 1999 to 2000. That was also the
time when all our competitors were out of money, thus
fulfilling also the first condition. Through that episode
which to many local developers was a nearbankruptcy
experience, they must have somehow learned. So in
the next big crisis of 2008 and 2009, most of them were
financially sound. In the absence of the first condition,
we were unable to acquire land in those years in
Hong Kong.

Since the possibility of purchasing land on the much
bigger Mainland market is greater, and given much
faster economic growth, | do not understand why not
more Hong Kong developers would focus their efforts
there. Besides greenfield projects, it even makes

eminent sense to sell low-yielding and mature Hong
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Kong investment properties and redeploy resources to
higher yielding and dynamically expanding markets on
the Mainland. It seems a prudent thing to do.

Irrespective of the opportunity to buy more land on the
Mainland, we will already have our hands full. In the
coming years, our effort will to a good extent be focused
on the satisfactory build-out of the existing projects. The
coming on board of Mr Philip Chen eighteen months
ago as Managing Director is fortuitous in this regard.
Coming from the airline industry which is operationally
intensive, he has already built up or has strengthened
many of our management systems. All that will help us
meet the challenges ahead.

For the coming year, we expect the increase in rents to
be similar to that of the past six months. This will again
be the mainstay of our profit. A higher percentage of
top line growth can be expected as Palace 66 and Parc
66 continue to contribute more and more. The next
project to open will be the shopping center at Shenyang
Forum 66. It is scheduled for late September, for we
want to catch the winter fashion season. The low zone
of the first office tower will be ready next year, with the
rest of the floors open the year after. In 2013, we also
expect to inaugurate the mall at\Wuxi Center 66. Indeed
the Company will have many exciting days ahead!

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, January 19, 2012

25



g W

Extending our Reach on the Mainland

BERRBFESYERTIRALE  ERCARBRA—RZ2H
s MEREASTHETEAK -

With more projects on the Mainland to come on stream
in the next few years, we are quickly expanding into a
nationwide company with a broad rental portfolio.
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Residential and Apartment

+AZE+=A

1H 2H
201

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

o EFE o HERM
Hong Kong Mainland China

On November 27 2011, the Board of Directors of Hang Lung Group
Limited (HLG) and Hang Lung Properties Limited (HLP) passed a
resolution to change the financial yearend of the two companies
from June 30 to December 31. This Annual Report therefore covers
the current financial period for the six months from July 1, 2011 to
December 31, 2011. This change aligns both HLG and HLP with the
financial year, and yearend date, of the Group’s businesses in mainland
China, as their financial results are consolidated into both HLG's and
HLP's accounts. Mainland statutes require that all business accounts
are closed on the financial yearend date of December 31.

During the sixmonth reporting period, HLG enjoyed a positive
performance despite the political and financial uncertainties experienced
around the world as governments and financiers battled with the
European sovereign debt crisis. Hand-in-hand with our “expanding

EEEEERQIE —T——FFH
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R RMEBETANMIEREL > £%  horizons” and growing footprint on the Mainland, as our developments
TEBREEEEK AR EZEAT - increase and more and more of them come on line; the property boom
HEREABAF - REBE A%  onthe Mainland; as well as the strong inflow of visitors to Hong Kong,
DEBEYFERYIER - At @R we saw robust growth in all our core businesses. In the sixmonth
HE-Z——F+-A=+—HI1/XM@ periodended December 31, 2011, we thus achieved highly satisfactory
AHEIARIRIEE  LEBB LA EH 2 performances with total turnover growing by 21% to HK$3,361 million.
—t+—EEE=1+=E,T—B& Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders for the period also
REEEEAMFIEERD 2 —T+%E rose by 27% to HK$1,000 million. Overall rental income generated by
BRI BEME - WAL WAST  our Mainland properties grew by an encouraging 21% while the Hong
B RMMESHAES> 2 =_1T— &F Kong portfolio rose by 7%.
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Rental income of Hong Kong property portfolio grows steadily

Property Leasing

Buoyed by the strong leasing market as well as the opening of Parc 66,
our iconic new development in Jinan, our property leasing operations
continued to perform well, delivering both income and profit growth.
As a result, total rental turnover and rental operating profits in the
second half of 2011 grew a positive 14% and 11% to HK$3,168 million
and HK$2,503 million respectively during the second half of 2011.

Hong Kong

While Hong Kong was not immune to the uncertainties that swept
across Europe, the strong demand for our strategically located portfolio
experienced in the first half of 2011 carried over into the second
half of the year, and we were able to maintain steady growth. With
occupancy rates of 94% among our commercial and 93% among our
office premises, total rental income rose to HK$1,564 million, showing
growth of 7% over the sixmonth period. The operating profit in our
leasing portfolio also grew a satisfactory 8% to HK$1,290 million.

During the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, our leasing
properties in Hong Kong made a 49% contribution to the Group’s total
rental income.
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Parc 66 in Jinan achieved an 100% occupancy rate

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Mainland China

Total rental income in mainland China amounted to HK$1,604 million,
up 21%, while profits rose by 14% to HK$1,213 million in the six
month period ended December 31, 2011. With four major leasing
developments now in operation in the country, we expect this picture
to become even more positive in the future. Parc 66 in Jinan, our latest
shopping mall and commercial development, celebrated its grand
opening in August 2011, commencing operations with an exceptional
100% occupancy rate. As such, in little over four months of operation, it
generated a rental turnover of HK$123 million. Palace 66 in Shenyang,
gathering further momentum since its opening in June 2010, achieved
a rental turnover of HK$85 million. Our two established properties,
Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66, in the bustling city of Shanghai also
continued to do well. In view of our leading presence, outstanding
brand image and mature foothold in the market, occupancy levels
remained at a high of 99% for both developments. Plaza 66 and Grand
Gateway 66 therefore brought in a total rental contribution of HK$1,396
million during the reporting period. During the sixmonth period ended
December 31, 2011, our leasing properties on the Mainland made a
contribution of 51% to the Group's total rental income.
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Property Development

Our property developments on the Mainland remain on track and are
progressing well. The next project to come on stream will be Forum
66 in Shenyang. Construction work on the project is proceeding as
scheduled and Phase 1, which consists of a shopping complex,
is due for completion in the final quarter of 2012. Forum 66 will be
our second major development in Shenyang as Palace 66 opened
in the city in 2010. As the economic center of northeastern China,
Shenyang is experiencing rapid economic growth and development.
When completed, Forum 66 will complement the features and facilities
offered by Palace 66, reinforcing our prestigious Hang Lung “66" brand
and offering greater leisure and lifestyle options for the fast expanding
city.

Other property projects in mainland China include Center 66 in Wuxi,
Riverside 66 in Tianjin, Olympia 66 in Dalian and Spring City 66 in
Kunming. Reflecting the quality of these developments and our
ongoing quest for excellence, we were delighted to receive the “best
of the best” award in the prestigious International Property Awards
2011 for our landmark Olympia 66 project in Dalian. At the awards
presentation held in London at the end of 2011, Olympia 66's unique
architectural style, reflecting both the concept of the auspicious
Chinese Tai Chi twin dancing carps and our well-established “66"
brand, outperformed top projects from around the world to win the
title of “Best International Retail Architecture 2011", the ultimate
world’s best architectural award. Highlighting the culture of quality
that pervades the development, Olympia 66 took the “Best Retalil
Architecture in Asia Pacific” and “Five-star Best Retail Architecture in
China” titles also presented under the International Property Awards,
in addition to winning the Bronze Award in the category of the “Best
Chinese Futura Projects” in the MIPIM Asia Awards 2011.

Finance

As of December 31, 2011, we held a strong balance sheet with cash
and deposits of HK$26,149 million. Deducting bank borrowings of
HK$27,694 million, the net gearing ratio stayed at a low level of 1%
after full payment of the land costs for our new project in Kunming.
With this ample war chest, the Group is fully equipped to capture
future opportunities for expansion.
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Outlook

Looking forward, our strong balance sheet and abundant reserves,
hand-in-hand with our skilled and experienced staff, stand us in
good stead and equip us with the necessary tools not only to deliver
satisfactory progress on our current development projects, but also
to drive our future growth and momentum. We continue to maintain
our long-term investment plans in mainland China, capturing every
opportunity to build up our land bank and fuel our ongoing growth in
the future. At the same time, we will continue to invest in our home
market, Hong Kong.

During the period under review, building on the committed strategy
of Hang Lung, we acquired a prime 56,042 square-meter site, zoned
for commercial property development, in Kunming. In line with our
successful “Hang Lung Model’ the site is located in the heart of
Kunming'’s business district and will attract even greater pedestrian
flows as mass transit railway links are completed. Kunming, the capital
of Yunnan Province, is a key city in southwestern China, serving as
the political and cultural as well as the economic, technological and
transportation hub in the region. With a population of more than 6.4
million people, this new acquisition will expand our horizons while
broadening the Group’s asset and earning bases.

In Hong Kong, a brand enhancement exercise is being carried out in
all our core commercial properties. Not only is the tenant mix being
refined, effective marketing and promotional activities are greatly
increasing customer traffic and enhancing rentals in turn. With regard
to our property sales in the territory, we continue to monitor the market
closely and will release further residential units for sale as and when
appropriate. The completion of our new development on Blue Pool
Road, expected in 2013, will further buoy these activities in Hong Kong.

As we move forward into the new year, Parc 66, which opened in
Jinan in August 2011, will provide further impetus to the growth of our
rental income on the Mainland. The inauguration of Parc 66 marked
a milestone in our development on the Mainland. With the launch of
another world-leading shopping facility under our quality “66" brand,
it highlights our growth into a nationwide enterprise. This national
development will broaden and speed up as further projects, based on
our “Hang Lung Model” to build world-class commercial complexes
for long-term investment, come on line over the next few years. Our
Mainland property portfolio is thus set to become an important driving
force for the sustainable growth of the Group in the future.
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Our operations in Hong Kong remained positive as the momentum
generated in the first half of 2011 carried over into the second half of
the year, despite the European sovereign debt crisis and the financial
uncertainties suffered in the West. Rather, echoing the economic
boom experienced on the Mainland, Hong Kong's economy not only
remained buoyant, it was also boosted by the high influx of visitors
which, according to official figures of the Hong Kong Tourism Board,
rose to a record-high of 41.92 million in 2011, an increase of some
16.4% over the previous year. This drives our commercial and retail
activities as well as our hotel and serviced apartment sector. Coupled
with our strategic planning and effective cost controls, we were able
to achieve satisfactory growth with rental income of HK$1,564 million.

Commercial and Retail

With a total of approximately 28.10 million tourists arriving from the
Mainland in 2011, an increase of 23.9% over the previous year, the
boost in retail sales, particularly in favored merchandise areas such as
gold and jewelry, watches, skin care and cosmetics, as well as luxury
fashion items, benefited our properties in the primary shopping areas
of Mongkok and Causeway Bay and tourist locations such as The Peak
Galleria. With this rising demand boosting rental levels, our commerecial
and retail sector enjoyed an occupancy level of 94%, bringing in rental
income growth of 7%.

Our other leasing areas also performed well. Hong Kong's Central
District experienced strong demand for retail space as new organizations
and international retail brands sought to establish their businesses in
the territory. Properties at Duddell Street in the heart of Central thus
benefited from this move. With local consumption also remaining
stable, we saw fair sales and rental performances in our regional malls
such as Amoy Plaza and Kornhill Plaza.

Enhancing the Hang Lung Brand

Maximizing traffic flows and offering the best possible shopping
experience to customers, we carried out brand enhancement exercises
at our core commercial properties while our tenant mix continues to be
refined.

Versatile marketing at The Peak Galleria has helped to establish this
busy tourist destination and shopping complex as a Hong Kong icon and
cultural hub for key events in the city. The development, which reflects
the local style and culture, was the venue for our mega promotional
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“The Peak of Love Wedding 11.11.11" organized by The Peak Galleria
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event, “The Peak of Love Wedding 11.11.117 when 11 couples tied the
knot on our Green Terrace at The Peak Galleria on the auspicious 11t
day of the 11" month of 2011. The event generated massive interest
and media coverage, reinforcing the mall's image as a unique and
memorable venue for weddings and other important functions.

The Peak Galleria is also fine-tuning its tenant mix to balance the needs
and requirements of both local residents and visitors. Thus, in addition
to offering more popular tourist brands within the complex, we are also
planning to improve our entertainment and leisure facilities to appeal to
locals and tourists alike.

Fashion Walk in Hong Kong's busy and bustling Causeway Bay
continued to enhance its branding as a primary fashion and leisure
hub with a full range of the world's most well-known brands together
with top quality dining facilities. Contributing to the area’s vibrancy, we
organized a number of carnival type occasions including “Oktoberfest”
celebrations as well as a “Crystal Christmas” event, which drew strong
interest of the public as well as heavy crowds to the area.

37



BIBEZ & wmk o MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THWEME
Hong Kong Property Leasing

NRBEBER NG ENRIED « #
BEEERAEZERHKBRARD @
BHA - KR EEAEHNREESE
EMERBBER —F - AR ZE
WEN BMBERTZERZFENE
&) B FE R % 2 %8 & ] A0 [ Crystal
Christmas] BFLESE - ST ARE
BRI - W AR RERAM

BREFLIFR-F-——F\ARITT 2

BERADBBE M RR - —8
MY EYERLTARS  BAR

38

[ Crystal Christmas | 25
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“Crystal Christmas” event

Fashion Walk in Hong Kong's busy and bustling Causeway Bay
continued to enhance its branding as a primary fashion and leisure
hub with a full range of the world’s most well-known brands together
with top-quality dining facilities. Contributing to the area’s vibrancy, we
organized a number of carnival-type occasions including “Oktoberfest”
celebrations as well as the “Crystal Christmas” event, which drew
strong interest from the public as well as heavy crowds to the area.

Hang Lung Centre also provided the venue for Hong Kong's first-ever
ultra sensory 3D outdoor projection event in August 2011, mesmerizing
the thousands of passers-by who were fascinated by the stunning visual
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Themed Leasing Strategies

Similar programs were carried out at our other rental developments.
Kornhill Plaza has introduced new food-and-beverage themed areas
to its mezzanine and third floors. This move grew monthly rents
significantly. The diversity of cuisines has also increased patronage and
attracted additional customers to the venue.

Building on the successful dining promotion offered in conjunction
with Groupon Hong Kong and six of our shopping malls earlier in 2011,
we launched our “Come and Dine at Hang Lung” website at
Openrice.com for The Peak Galleria, Hang Lung Centre, Fashion Walk,
Kornhill Plaza, Gala Place and Amoy Plaza. Our aim is not only to raise
public awareness but also to generate interest in the many diverse
food and beverage outlets available in our various properties.

ARES

Amoy Plaza
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BITIRITRE
Standard Chartered Bank Building

While the uncertainties in the global economy will have some effect
on our leasing operations, we see the situation drive demand for
necessities and greater mass consumption, which will benefit our
regional shopping malls such as Amoy Plaza, Laguna Plaza and Kornhill
Plaza. We also expect to raise rental incomes with large-scale tenant
reorganization at Amoy Plaza as well as a major change in the tenant
mix, planned for 2012, at One Grand Tower.

Office and Industrial/Office

As the economic turmoils experienced in light of the Eurozone crisis
took hold, a number of international organizations take a cautious
business outlook for 2012. Hong Kong therefore entered a correction
phase in rental levels for office space. Demand for Grade A office in
Central has softened since the third quarter of 2011. However, demand
from local servicing trades has been relatively stable as evidenced by
the high occupancy rate of our well-managed diversified office portfolio
located at various districts of Hong Kong. Our specially designed
“themed floor” strategy in our office buildings in Causeway Bay, Tsim
Sha Tsui and Mongkok, such as Hang Lung Centre, Grand Centre, One
and Two Grand Towers, and Park-In Commercial Centre, as well as
our Kornhill Plaza - - Office Tower in Quarry Bay, benefited from this
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market, to achieve higher unit rentals. Our office and industrial/office
sector thus brought in an increase of 4% in total rental income, based
on an occupancy rate of 93%.

Looking forward, we will further diversify the trade sectors and
broaden the tenant and trade mix in our office properties to increase
rental yields and create greater risk resistance to possible fluctuations
in the market.

Residential and Serviced Apartment

With the high inflow of visitors, our residential and serviced apartment
sector performed strongly, achieving a total rental turnover of HK$204
million, a growth of 17% over the previous reporting period. Maintaining
and enhancing these levels, we will broaden our marketing activities,
targeting not only corporate accounts, expatriates and overseas visitors
but also to local businesses and households.
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Our residential properties consist of The Summit as well as Burnside
Villa in scenic South Bay. The former is located in the fashionable
Mid-Levels district of Hong Kong Island with sweeping views both of
Hong Kong and the Kowloon Peninsula, while the latter is located by
the beach in the suburban south side of Hong Kong. With a number
of leases being renewed in the early part of the year at higher rental
levels, the second half of the year continued to see a positive effect on
rental incomes. In the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, the
two developments achieved a rental income of HK$79 million.

Looking forward, we are regarding the future with caution. Average
rentals from the luxury residential market are expected to undergo
some downward adjustment as multinationals cut back on their
expenses. Together with the slower inflow of expatriate staff, in
banking and finance sector for example, there has been a slowdown
in leasing demand and the impact on occupancy rates in the high-end
residential leasing market has become visible. While a number of
developers have begun to lower their asking rents, we are countering
this negative picture with large-scale renovations, upgrading our vacant
units to enhance their value and competitiveness, and thus their rental
value. We are also diversifying our tenant profiles to minimize any
impact caused by the economic downturn on our rental income.

1z AL HEE Bl =B

The Summit enjoys panoramic views
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Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

BEEE" (FF5K)

Gross Floor Area® (‘000 sg. m.)

R=Z——F R_T—%F
+=A=+—H ~NA=1H
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011

BE Hong Kong Island
HRREE Central and Admiralty 58 58
) $78 e N7 T Causeway Bay and Wan Chai 112 112
BRI K 820 Kornhill and Quarry Bay 165 165
ITE R L= The Peak and Mid-Levels 47 47
BEER Hong Kong South 12 12

NEE Kowloon

I /& Mongkok 140 140
EQULEYSTiEpN: Tsim Sha Tsui and West Kowloon 89 89
IR A RBE Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 98 03
R E KR Cheung Sha Wan and Kwai Chung 166 166
5t Total 887 387

* BIEEEIZZIEE®EM Including gross floor area of car parks

ERRENEZREDN
Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties
HE+-A=+—HIEMEA For the six-month period ended December 31

BEEE(TFELR) HERACEEEET) HHEE(ADL)

Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)

201 2010 201 2010 201 2010
EESE Commercial and Retail 287 287 777 724 94 97
WABRTE #iAtg  Office and Industrial/Office 291 291 521 501 93 94
FEEREFT Residential and Apartment 99 99 204 177 82 82
(=57 Car Park 210 210 62 56 N/A N/A
5T Total 887 887 1,564 1,458 91 98
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BIEEER — R
High-end residential complex - - The Long Beach

The booming residential sales market in the first half of 2011 witnessed
consolidation in the second half of the year as tightening measures
brought in by the Hong Kong government took hold. The economic
uncertainties and weak financial markets also took their toll as buyers
adopted a more cautious wait-and-see attitude. These factors however
had little effect on our property development and sales activities in the
past six months in Hong Kong. It is our strategy to develop top-quality
residential projects in prime locations with strong upside potential,
supported by a highly-disciplined sales approach which will catch the
best opportunity to optimize value and returns, both for shareholders
and the end-users. During the sixmonth period, two units at The
HarbourSide were sold at an average unit price of approximately
HK$44,000 per square foot, to record a profit of HK$150 million.

The Long Beach

This high-end residential complex is located in southwestern Kowloon.
Its unigue wave-like design echoes its superb location and spectacular
sea views. Consisting of 1,829 residential units in eight residential
towers, the development also includes a fourstory clubhouse with
luxury facilities and superior recreational services.
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The HarbourSide towers majestically in southwestern Kowloon
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The HarbourSide

Soaring above Kowloon Station in southwestern Kowloon, The
HarbourSide consists of three connected residential towers offering
1,122 residential units. Its outstanding location in the green and open
West Kowloon area by the sea provides residents with outstanding
180-degree views of Victoria Harbour. The stunning views, its unique
design and contemporary lifestyle facilities, all come together to
create a landmark in Hong Kong while also making The HarbourSide
one of the most elegant and prestigious residential addresses in
Hong Kong.

Blue Pool Road

The luxury development being built on the 7850 square-meter site on
Blue Pool Road in Happy Valley is proceeding as scheduled and is due
for completion in 2013. Though the property is as yet unfinished, it
became the world's first project to be registered under the Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Homes' International
Pilot Scheme launched by the U.S. Green Building Council at the end
of 2010.
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Based on our “Hang Lung Model’ our strategy in mainland China is to
build world-class commmercial developments in leading cities for long-
term investment. Starting with two properties, Grand Gateway 66
and Plaza 66, in Shanghai in the early 1990s, followed by Palace 66
which opened in Shenyang in June 2010, and Parc 66 in Jinan in August
2011, this model has proven to be highly successful. Not only has it
cemented our prestigious Hang Lung “66" brand into the Mainland
consciousness, the brand has also become synonymous with a luxury
lifestyle. In the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, our
Mainland property leasing sector thus achieved a total rental turnover
of HK$1,604 million, up 21%.

A major highlight during this period was the grand opening of Parc 66,
which provided dual causes for celebration. Broadening our activities
on the Mainland and giving us a national presence, the development
was fully leased when it opened its doors for business in August,
making a contribution of HK$123 million to rental revenues during the
reporting period.

Looking forward, we expect our rental figures to escalate yet again
as Phase 1 of Forum 66, the shopping complex, opens in Shenyang
in the fourth quarter of 2012. The second of our world-class shopping
complexes to open in the city, Forum 66 will create synergy with Palace
66 to highlight our “66" brand and cement our foothold in the city.

Our horizons will be expanding even further as projects currently under
development come on stream. In addition to our existing projects under
development, we also acquired a new site, extending our footprint into
the core region of southwestern China for the first time. The prime
56,042 square-meter site, with a development potential of 401,300
square meters, was acquired in September 2011. One of the key
cities in southwestern China, Kunming is not only the political, cultural
and economic capital of Yunnan Province, but also acts as a technical
and transportation hub in the region. Located in the very heart of the
business and commercial center of Kunming, the value of this key site
is set to rise as links to the mass transit railway are completed.
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Plaza 66, Shanghai

One of China's most successful commercial developments and an
admired landmark in Shanghai, our Plaza 66 shopping mall achieved a
rental turnover increase of 14%, over the sixmonth period, based on
an occupancy rate of 99%. With tenants ranging from Louis Vuitton
and Hermés to Chanel, Dior and Prada, to name just a few, the complex
has earned a well-deserved reputation as one of the most luxurious
shopping centers in Shanghai. With a tenant list that reads like a who's
who of the world’s top brands, the opening of a number of flagship
stores of anchor tenants in the coming year, as well as the continuing
refinement of our tenant mix, we continue to see increasing tenant
interest from the high-end luxury market. Cementing Plaza 66's role
as a leading leisure and lifestyle center in Shanghai, a delicious and
diverse range of fine dining options is also available to customers.
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Plaza 66 in Shanghai is renowned for its collection of the world's top brands
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The two office towers within the Plaza 66 complex continue to attract
leading local and international business tenants. The quality of the
development coupled with excellent office management services
that we offer have resulted in a high level of rental renewals, taking
us almost back to the high rental levels achieved before the outbreak
of the financial turmoils of 2008. We also benefited from the healthier
environment that has seen the absorption of the city’s plentiful supply
of Grade A office premises, leading to an increase of 8% in the rental
turnover of the two office towers. Maintaining our competitive edge in
this positive environment, we will continue to upgrade our facilities and
tenant profile in the year to come.

Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai

With an occupancy rate of 99%, the shopping mall at Grand Gateway
66 in Shanghai experienced double-digit rental income growth of 15%.
Grand Gateway 66's performance ranks above any of the shopping
centers in Xujiahui and is among the top performers in Shanghai.

Previously known as The Grand Gateway, the development was unified
under our powerful and successful “66" brand to become Grand
Gateway 66 in March 2011. The brand, synonymous with international
luxury goods and high-end lifestyle across the Mainland, not only drives
awareness of the Hang Lung name, it also reinforces our image as a
long-term investor who is committed to driving a quality lifestyle in the
country.
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Grand Gateway 66 brings unique lifestyle to consumers in Shanghai
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Highlighting the Grand Gateway 66 image, we carried out a number of
initiatives and improvements throughout the complex. In line with our
themed leasing strategy, Level 1 within the mall has been repositioned
as a “"World-Class Brand Zone" leading to an upgrade in the tenant mix
with a plethora of new luxury names. From internationally renowned
fashion brands such as Dunhill, Chloé, Escada and Vivienne Westwood,
as well as a Loewe concept store which opened in December, to
luxury cosmetics retailers such as Dior and Givenchy, Grand Gateway
66 continues to lead its way - - both with the sale of luxuries and the
most well-known international brands as well as the provision of quality
dining and leisure facilities. The opening of top quality restaurants such
as the DinTai Fung Restaurant and the Jade Garden Restaurant not only
enhanced the shopping experience for customers, but also brought in
interested diners while growing our rental sales. Contributing to this
dynamic picture, the Yonghua CinemaWorld box office, Shanghai's best-
known cinema, was also upgraded with the inclusion of a 4D-movie
theater.
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Increasing our edge in this highly competitive market, Grand Gateway
66's prime location above Shanghai’s largest and busiest metro station
in the Xujiahui commercial district with the intersection of metro lines
1 and 9, as well as the opening of metro line 11, which is due for
completion at the end of 2012, brings in high customer flows. At the
same time, we are planning ahead, riding on market trends to bring in
more luxury and up-to-the-minute brands while also focusing on top
names and relocating existing tenants to create an efficient brand mix
and a top-of-the-line luxury shopping experience for customers. With
these competitive strategies, which will help to differentiate us and
outperform our competitors, we expect to continue our double-digit
growth in the future.

TEAMEERAZERSE
Mainland China Rental Revenue by
Business Segment
BE—_T——&+_A=+—HILEE

For the year ended December 31, 2011
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Palace 66, Shenyang

During the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011, the rental
turnover at Palace 66 in Shenyang reached HK$85 million, up 15%
compared to the same period last year. Located at Zhongjie Lu in the
busy Shenhe District, the commercial and cultural heart of Shenyang,
Palace 66 commenced operations in June 2010 with an inviting mix of
international and local brands, encompassing fashion and accessories,
beauty and cosmetics, and gourmet and quality cuisine. With a host
of special lifestyle events, the shopping mall has also brought added
vitality to the area. A Street Dance Competition attracted a number
of young and trendy shoppers while interactive games using the
city’s largest LED screen at grand atrium of Palace 66, have proven
to be highly popular. Our Christmas initiative, for example, enabling
customers to display their SMS messages to their loved ones on
Palace 66's huge LED screen, drew significant pedestrian traffic - - on
Christmas Eve alone, over 2,000 SMS messages were received for
display, to the delight of the recipients.
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Despite keen competition in the area, we believe that with our
constant efforts to refine services and tenant mix to position Palace
66 as a young and trendy destination which brings quality lifestyle,
hand-in-hand with our world-class design and state-of-the-art facilities,
Hang Lung's powerful “66" brand, as well as our popular promotional
initiatives, we will continue to attract a strong inflow of customers with
high purchasing power to the complex. Reflecting the vision and care
that have gone into the development of Palace 66, in November 2011 it
won the Silver Award in the 2011 Asia Pacific Shopping Center Awards
in the category of “Innovative Design and Development of a New
Retail Project” Presented by the International Council of Shopping
Centers (ICSC) to recognize standards of excellence in the Asian retail
real estate industry, these coveted awards honor industry practitioners
for outstanding design, development and marketing of retail properties
in terms of vision, innovation and creativity.
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Grand opening of Parc 66 in Jinan

Parc 66, Jinan

Bringing a new dimension to life in Jinan, Parc 66 celebrated its grand
opening on August 26, 2011, emerging as Jinan's latest landmark as
well as the largest shopping center in the city. Providing a gross floor
area of 171,000 square meters over seven stories, the shopping center
offers comprehensive facilities from premium dining and superlative
shopping to the latest leisure, entertainment and lifestyle services.
Reflecting this unique quality environment, Parc 66 secured an 100%
occupancy rate upon operational, with close to 350 tenants, more than
half of whom being international brand names. Many of these brands,
from Bang & Olufsen to Coach, Escada, Furla, IWC, Muji, UNIQLO and
Versace Jeans, are being seen for the first time in Jinan. In view of this
new lifestyle experience, there has been a strong inflow of customer
traffic both from the city and the surrounding neighborhood. In the four
months since the mall's opening, its rental turnover reached HK$123
million.

ru

Located on Quancheng Lu, the city's “Golden Avenue” and its political,
cultural and commercial hub since the Ming Dynasty, the shopping
mall has attracted considerable attention both locally and throughout
the country. In September, almost immediately after its opening, Parc
66 won the “Mall China Golden Mall Awards 2011 - - City Advancement
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Award’ in addition to the “MIPIM Architectural Review Future Project
Awards 2009 - - Retail & Leisure” Commended Certificate and “Asia
Pacific Commercial Property Awards 2009 - - The Architecture Award
(Five Star)” received in the past.

Forum 66, Shenyang

Fuelling the momentum of our leasing activities in mainland China even
further, Phase 1 of Forum 66 in Shenyang, consisting of a high-end
shopping complex featuring over 150 shops and more than 2,000 car
parking spaces, is scheduled for completion in the fourth quarter of
2012. Benefiting from our prestigious “66" brand and our close tenant
partnerships, a number of luxury brands have chosen Forum 66 as
the home for their first store in Shenyang while others will be locating
their flagship stores, both for the city and for northeastern China, in the
development. Together with its premium entertainment, supermarket
and quality restaurant facilities, Forum 66 will blend shopping, luxury
entertainment and enjoyment to create a new lifestyle experience for
the city’s most well-off consumers.
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TEAERENE ZREDN
Segmental Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties
HE+-A=+—HI1L/<MAA For six-month period ended December 31

@
wEEmE (TR HeWA(BBESET) HAHEE(EAL)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
(000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
&% R Commercial and Retail 454 283 1,017 782 98 97
EN Office 227 227 477 450 929 98
FEREA Residential and Apartment 83 83 88 77 97 97
(=== Car Park 263 176 22 19 N/A N/A
wat Total 1,027 769 1,604 1,328 98 98
@
¥ BRIEME RME 2 EEEE
Including gross floor area above and below ground
TERMRENERBZRPRENEZ R DT
Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties and Investment Properties Under Development
R=—Z——F+=H=+—H At December 31, 2011
@
MEEmE (FEHXK)
Total Gross Floor Area* ('000 sg. m.)
REYE Investment Properties
L& Shanghai
RIER Xuhui District 315
@ Jing'an District 273
b Shenyang
A (R AT ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 181
B Jinan 258
BRRDPIREYE Investment Properties Under Development
&5 Shenyang
R (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie) 855
5 Wuxi
SrE(ARFE) Chong'an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 264
Sl (R Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113
KE Tianjin 153
KE Dalian 222
)1z Kunming 401
Bt Total 3,035
@

* EIEHE R E 2 EEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Forum 66, Shenyang

Forum 66, our second project in Shenyang, is coming on stream in the
fourth quarter of 2012. Being the largest of our current projects under
construction, this prime landmark complex, consisting of 855,100
square meters of space and rising 350 meters high, will include
premium shopping facilities, offices, hotels and serviced apartments.

Forum 66 is ideally located on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor”
which runs through the city center. It is also sited among Shenyang's
most well-known landmarks, the Liaoning Grand Theater, the Liaoning
Provincial Museum, the Municipal Government Building, as well as
City Plaza. Boosting traffic flows even further, not only is a new metro
line currently being built along the “Golden Corridor”, it will also provide
direct internal access from the station to our development. Forum 66
will complement the facilities and service provided by Palace 66 while
the synergy and awareness generated will also strengthen the prestige
of our well-known “66" brand.
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Center 66 - - Phase 1, Wuxi

Located on Renmin Zhong Lu in Chong'an District, Center 66 enjoys a
prime location in the very heart of Wuxi's central business district. In
addition to the heavy pedestrian flows in the area, Center 66 will also
benefit from the busy traffic that the metro lines 1 and 2, currently
under construction, will bring. Due for completion from 2013 onwards,
Phase 1 of Center 66 will consist of 263,800 square meters of premium
shopping space and Grade A office towers. Attesting to the quality
of the development as well as the many environmental initiatives that
have been included in its design, the shopping mall and Phase 1 office
facilities obtained their "Precertification under Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development - -
Gold Level” from the U.S. Green Building Council in July 2009.

Center 66 - - Phase 2, Wuxi

Phase 2 of Center 66 will consist of commercial and office facilities as
well as hotel and serviced apartments. When completed, it will bring
the total gross floor area of Center 66, Phases 1 and 2 to an impressive
376,800 square meters, making it the largest retail and commercial
landmark in the central business district of VWuxi. The Phase 2 site is
situated at the intersection of Jiankang Lu and Hou Xixi, adjacent to
and immediately to the south of Renmin Zhong Lu where Phase 1 is
located.
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Riverside 66, Tianjin

Located in the heart of Tianjin on a prime site in Heping Lu, one of
the “Ten Most Famous Commercial Streets in China’’ Riverside 66 will
not only provide 152,800 square meters of world-class commercial and
retail facilities, it will also create an iconic landmark for the city as one
of the longest shopping malls in China. Specially designed to integrate
both Riverside 66's internal elements and its external surroundings,
the development boasts a unigue glass shell design, which enables
an external view into the shops and activities within the mall. This
innovative design has won Riverside 66 a host of awards including
the prestigious “2010 AIA New York Chapter’s Design Awards, Unbuilt
Category” from the American Institute of Architects (AIA) New York
Chapter. We are probably the first Hong Kong developer operating
on the Mainland to receive this well-known award. It also won the
“MIPIM Architectural Review Future Project Awards 2007 - - Retail
and Leisure” In 2009, Riverside 66 received its “Precertification under
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and
Shell Development - - Gold Level”, which is issued by the U.S. Green
Building Council. The project is due for completion in 2014,
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Olympia 66, Dalian

Upon its completion, expected in 2015, Olympia 66 will offer a new
leisure and lifestyle center in Dalian with 221,900 square meters of
prime shopping, dining and entertainment space. Centrally located at
Wusi Lu, one of the city’s leading commercial avenues and adjacent
to Olympic Square, Olympia 66's grand indoor plaza will connect the
complex’s vibrant atrium spaces, bringing them all together under a
crystalline skylight. Attesting to the innovation and sophistication
of this design, Olympia 66 won the highly coveted “Best Retail
Architecture in Asia Pacific” and the “Five-star Best Retail Architecture
in China” titles in the distinctive International Property Awards 2011.
Even more significantly, our project outperformed top projects from
across the world to bring home the ultimate “Best International
Retail Architecture 2011" Award. In view of its environmental and
sustainability features, Olympia 66 also received its “Precertification
under Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core
and Shell Development - - Gold level” from the U.S. Green Building
Council in August 2011.

Spring City 66, Kunming

In September 2011, we acquired a prime site on Dongfeng Lu of
Panlong District in Kunming. The land plot will be developed into world
class shopping center, office towers and serviced apartments with total
gross floor area of 401,300 square meters for long term investment.
The project is due for completion in phases from 2017
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Major Properties Under Development
RZT——F+=A=+—H At December 31, 2011

LIZEEE SEEGER TERTERK
AR (FEFHAK) (BAotk) HH
(FHK) Total Gross Group’s e TR ER Expected
Site Area FERE Floor Area Attributable Stage of Completion
h 2h Location (sg. m.) Main Usage (sg. m.) Interest (%) Completion Date
&HE HONG KONG
BRI Blue Pool Road, 7,850 R 8,005 50.7 BEEE 2013
AHLER 5747 5% IL 5747 Superstructure
&% SHENYANG
MITEEES Forum 66, 92,065 C/H/O/S 855,100 50.7 BELE 2012
SEKE Qingnian Da Jie, Superstructure #E
28T & Shenhe District onwards
|5 WUXI
B E% (—H) »  Center 66 (Phase 1), 37,324 C/O 263,800 50.7 A b= 2013
ARHE - Renmin Zhong Lu, Superstructure e
By Chong'an District onwards
B ES (ZH3) - Center 66 (Phase 2), 16,767 C/H/O/S 113,000 50.7 FTElF
R Jiankang Lu, Planning
SERE Chong'an District
X TIANJIN
1ERES Riverside 66, 42,697 © 152,800 50.7 HE T2 2014
FNFEE Heping Lu, Foundation
FF @ Heping District
X DALIAN
B ES - Olympia 66, 63,400 © 221,900 50.7 HE T2 2015
)= Wusi Lu, Foundation
[ric] Xigang District
EB KUNMING
BEES Spring City 66, 56,042 C/O/S 401,300 50.7 FTEIH 2017
HEE Dongfeng Lu, Planning *E
BREElR Panlong District onwards
C: B Commercial
H: B/ Hotel
0: W Office
R: {F=E Residential
S REAEFT Serviced Apartment
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CEHEGEENE
Properties Completed for Sale
H=ZFT——F+=A=+—H At December 31, 2011

wEEEE SEEGER REH REH

(SFFHK) (Botk) F=EBMHAE BHE

Total Gross Group’s  No. of Unsold No. of Unsold

FERBE Floor Area Attributable Residential Carparking

Location Main Usage (sg. m.) Interest (%) Unit Space

&HE HONG KONG

BERRT - The HarbourSide,
L mErE 15k 1 Austin Road West,
JLEEAIHIER 11080 5% KIL 11080

IREE The Long Beach,
SIEE 8 8 Hoi Fai Road,
JUEEAIHIER 11152 5% KIL 11152

ZFEX - AquaMarine,

RERFE 85 8 Sham Shing Road,
FNBENMEL 633857  NKIL 6338

Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill,
MR 95 - 9 Carmel Village Street,
JUEEAHIER 11122 5% KIL 11122

=

F=E Residential

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Major Investment Properties
MRZZT——F+=-A=+—H AtDecember 31, 2011

C

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
MRER )
T /WAE  FERBHR  BuHE
. 5 M Office and Residential No. of
WEEMFSH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
& HONG KONG
FEBRKEE CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
ENRmI{T - Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 - -
EHE=FE65 6 Duddell Street,
A ER 339 5% IL 339
EEZ AR5 1 Duddell Street, 2848 2,340 6,616 = =
AHEER 7310 5% IL 7310
24R01T Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 = =
ERRAT 225 22 Ice House Street,
A0 ER 644 5% IL 644
BITHRITAE - Standard Chartered 2854 4,814 " 23,730 ° = 16
=B 4-4A5 Bank Building,
YEEHER 103 5% 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AE R BE Sections A&B of ML 103
SER Queensway Plaza, 2012 7303 - - -
e B8 93 5% 93 Queensway
HhSRE K BT CAUSEWAY BAY AND WAN CHAI
BRI Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,777 22,131 — 126
BB 2-205% - 2-20 Paterson Street,
AHES 524557 & 74957 1L 524 & IL 749
ZIED Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 - 7935 -
BiENE - E@E - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
AR - Great George Street,
g mEtEd Cleveland Street, Kingston Street,
£+4T38 - BEMER  Gloucester Road,
23158 K 5255 ML 231 & ML 52,
AHEES 46955% & 47057 1L 469 & IL 470
BRE Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 - - 250
HWEET5 1 King's Road,
A ER 8560 57 IL 8560
WD Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
156 228 1& - 15/F-28/F,
BB 685 6-8 Harbour Road,
A ER 8633 5% IL 8633
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)

M=ZZ——F+=F=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR
T PAE FEREFR BEUEA
\ Bk Office and Residential No. of
WREHFLH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b 24 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
&HE#) HONG KONG (Continued)
J==ITD 53 h=:Rr] KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
FEI8ES Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
BELLE 1-2 5% - 1-2 Kornhill Road,
A ER 8566 5t IL 8566
EBE Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * - - 35,275 -
BRILE 25 2 Kornhill Road,
b E% 8566 5t IL 8566
BRI Stanhope House, 2082 1,424 26,411 = 70
HEET7345 734 King's Road,
A3 R 3507 5% IL 3507
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
IITERE - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,446 - = 493
LITBZE 11855 - 118 Peak Road, RBL 3
T XBHEER 3 5%
TEtEZ Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 = = 558 25
2-35RE R Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
ELTREBA - IL 896 & IL 2850
A HbER 896 5% &
2850 5%
filz - The Summit, 2047 - - 15,225 54
AIEHRIEA1CHE 41C Stubbs Road,
A E: 8870 57 IL 8870
BEEE HONG KONG SOUTH
B=E - FEE9YE - Burnside Villa, 2072 = - 9,212 89

TP ER 994 5%

9 South Bay Road, RBL 994

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
WZZT——F+=A=+—HF AtDecember 31, 2011

C

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
AR .
% N FERSZHR  BUEA
i By dEk Office and Residential No. of
HRERFR  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
&HE &) HONG KONG (Continued)
EA MONGKOK
FFAhNE—H Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 114 - - =
B 68855 - 688 Nathan Road,
JUBEAHEER 1262 5% KIL 1262
MR —H] - One Grand Tower, 2060 19,276 22,637 = 40
BB 627-641A5%% © 627-641A Nathan Road,
JUBEAHEER 10246 57 KIL 10246
RGO 8 Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 - =
T8 62557 625 Nathan Road,
BEAMIEL 1023457  KIL 10234
[EFERN Hang Tung Building, 2045 * = = - 1,000
EEE1112-11205% ©  1112-1120 Canton Road,
TBEAHEER 9708 5% KIL 9708
ETAHEL VN Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 7,454 30,205 - 478
R4y - Gala Place,
BT 1565 56 Dundas Street,
BEAIHBER 9590 5% KIL 9590
(EESETSE N Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,139 17,941 - =
BHE6105% 610 Nathan Road,
JBEAHBER 11024 5% KIL 11024
Eirl Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 - - 11
MM - 9 Carmel Village Street,
BEAHIER 1112257 KIL 11122
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)

M=ZZ——F+=F=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
T/ HAE  FEREM E=tive 4=
. % Rt Officeand  Residential No. of
_ WREHFH  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 24 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
&HE#) HONG KONG (Continued)
KWIBERAIE TSIM SHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
BER L Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7,198 - =
HERMITESIR - 8 Humphreys Avenue,
NEEAMEL 77255k &%  KIL7725 &
8026 5% KIL 8026
(Bt e Hanford Fashion, 2037 1,444 4,891 - -
B 221B-E 5 221B-E Nathan Road,
BERHDER 1061957 &% KIL 10619 &
81325} KIL 8132
BGEX - AquaMarine, 2050 22,350 = = 516
TRBRBE 8% 8 Sham Shing Road,
FTLBERHBER 6338 5% NKIL 6338
IR The Long Beach, 2050 20,174 - - 390
YGIBIE 85 8 Hoi Fai Road,
JLEEAMIER 11152 5% KIL 11152
SEARBIE NGAU TAU KOK AND KWUN TONG
VNG Amoy Plaza, 2047 49,006 - - 620
FEEAE T 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
HFTBEARHBER 5355 NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
1482 5% ~ 2660 5% & NKIL 2660 &
3947 5% NKIL 3947
EATERD Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 - 8,589 - -
SHAE 75 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
AL 174458 NKIL 1744
BAmME Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,162 = = 165
RR&EE - Cha Kwo Ling Road,
HBEAMEL60555%  NKIL 6055

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
R-ZT——F+_-F=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
JABEE
T¥/HAE  FERBR  BUuHE
. % Rt Officeand  Residential No. of
WRERFH  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
&HE#) HONG KONG (Continued)
RYE - BFkEE CHEUNG SHAWAN, KWAI CHUNG ANDTSUEN WAN
BEEEHL Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 - -
H1LE 4765 476 Castle Peak Road,
FABEAMEL 176158  NKIL 1761
B AEe225k 822 Lai Chi Kok Road, 2047 = 9,004 - 73
FTBEAIER 55685%  NKIL 5568
XEEE 95 - 9 Wing Hong Street, 2047 = 35,223 - 95
MNBEAMEL 622957  NKIL 6229
#EEE Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 - - 172
2B 1A1 - 1A2 ~ Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A 6A K& 6BSEE4H ©  BA, 6A & 6B,
BIEA5 455 Lai King Hill Road,
HbEZ 3336 9% Lot 3336 of SD 4
ALAFLS Star Centre, 2047 = 28,512 = 27
1138 443-451 5% - 443-451 Castle Peak Road,
S84 4455HER  Section A of Lot 690
690 5% A Bt in DD 445
STRE - The Bay Bridge, 2047 - - 20,096 179
SHFHEEE LA 123 Castle Peak Road,
12357 » ZEMME  Yau KomTau,
356 9% WTL 356
ERIEE - Bayview Garden, 2047 4,959 = - 52
251138 633 5% - 633 Castle Peak Road,
ZETHEL 329 5% Tsuen Wan, TWTL 329
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)

R-ZFT——F+=A=+—H At December 31, 2011

BEEE (F73K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)

MAER
T /AE  EERER BB
% Rt Officeand  Residential No. of
WREHFH  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 24 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space

& @) HONG KONG (Continued)
P9 TUEN MUN

AEEE - Tai Hing Gardens,
HFAEZR115EN 11 Tsun Wen Road and
SATEAT 1058 A - 10A Ho Hing Circuit,
HFImIER 3125% Tuen Mun, TMTL 312
BEEHL Luen Cheong Can Centre,
HPIERERK SR - 8Yip Wong Road,

T 2D 131 954 Tuen Mun,

116955 Lot 1169 in DD 131

AESRL+RF
With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

SEREFEE_B-_T AT FIoRRAEZASEA - BRI YRR EN - - —FXmEH -

The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entittement in the remaining area will revert to the Group in 2012.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Major Group Properties

C ITEREME )

Major Investment Properties (Continued)
WZZT——%F+=F=+—H AtDecember 31, 2011

wEEmE(EAXK)
Gross Floor Area® (sg. m.)
T/ HAE  FEREM E=tive 4=
. % Rt Office and  Residential No. of
WRERFH  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartment Space
Ltis SHANGHAI
BEERE —H R Grand Gateway 66 Gardens 2063 = - 64,900 _
E_H - 1&2,
#1138 211855 - 2118 Hua Shan Lu,
TIE R Xuhui District
HEERES Grand Gateway 66, 2043 120,000 67,200 18,300 835
HTAEBE 1 55% 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
HRIE R Xuhui District
BEES - Plaza 66, 2044 53,700 159,600 - 804
R PR 1266 5% - 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
LR Jing'an District
] SHENYANG
SREREES Palace 66, 2057 109,300 = = 871
FRATEE 12858 - 128 Zhongiie Lu,
B Shenhe District
e} JINAN
1ERES Parc 66, 2059 171,000 - - 785
SRYKEE 188 5% - 188 Quancheng Lu,
N Lixia District
¥ BENERLE AR
Including gross floor area above and below ground
68 BEEREEBERAR —T——FFRF
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Financial Review

—EE]
Turnover
BE+_A=+—HLFE

For the years ended December 31

RAAREMEZATFESHNEEGR
Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
of Investment Properties

BHETZA=+—BIFE

For the years ended December 31

BB ET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
12,000 8,000
7,000
10,000
6,000
8,000
5,000
6,000 4,000
$2,653
$3,361 3,000 million
4,000 million
2,000
2,000
1,000
0 0
TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
o EEMEHEE o MEME o FEMEHE ® YIEHE
Hong Kong leasing Property sales Hong Kong leasing Property sales
o HEAMYEEE o FERNMYERE
Mainland China leasing Mainland China leasing
—AZEXA +tAE+=A —AZEXA +tAE+=A
il ‘ Jan to Jun 2H| Julto Dec TH ‘ Jan to Jun 2H | Julto Dec

BE-_E——F+-A=+—HL
BB B E B S XA B R
BEWE RS - +— EEK=
+ZEAT-—EBET - WEEGEEARL
Fl - BN BN FEMBEEF
MEBFD Y BB

SEEBATENPEANLYERSIE
BIZLER  EHEEHEDHFEH T
THEEVEREEBNAS KA RLE
ERAMDBERESPZTHEEES ZT
CEBE=F BT N\BETKE
M-+ HEZT=HET -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Review of Financial Results for Six-month Period
Ended December 31, 2011

Total turnover increased by 21% to HK$3,361 million and underlying
net profit attributable to shareholders, being profit after taxation
without taking into account the net revaluation gain, increased by 27%
to HK$1,000 million.

Property leasing in Hong Kong and mainland China remains our core
business. Boosted by strong leasing activities, rental turnover and
operating profit for property leasing increased by 14% and 11% in
the second half of the year to HK$3,168 million and HK$2,503 million,
respectively.
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REWMEZAFEEM MEWARZH
Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties Interest Income and Expenses
HE+ZA=+—BLFE HET-A=1T—RHILFE
For the years ended December 31 For the years ended December 31
BB ET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
8,000 250
7,000 $198
million
200
6,000
$149
million
5,000 -
4,000
3,000 120
2,000
$578 50
1,000 I million
0 I— 0
TH 2H TH 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 201 2007 2008 2009 2010 201
o FIBWA o FEXi
—BZ=XA +A&=+—8 Interest income Interest expenses
TH Jan to Jun ® 2H Jul to Dec 1H —AZAA o +AZ+—8

Jan to Jun Jul to Dec

REEBREMENHSWARLLHE Rental income and operating profit generated from Hong Kong
FMAOREEESZERBEDZ/\ " &  investment properties grew by 7% and 8% to HK$1,564 million and
B+ARBANTHAEETLBE =N HK$1,290 million, respectively.

41—

FET-

RE A Y B R A EE K - 2®  Mainland China properties continued to deliver impressive growth
WA B EER DR EAEDZ —+—  as rental income and operating profit increased by 21% and 14% to
MEAZTN EFE+TNESHEE HK$1,604 milion and HK$1,213 million, respectively. The shopping
TRABE+_E—T=887x° /B8 malls at Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66 in Shanghai recorded a
B EIGMBEEREEE - EEYRYS  double-digit growth. In August 2011, Parc 66 in Jinan was opened with
BREMUEBFRE - BEMERESE  100% occupancy rate.

RZZE——FN\ARE HEEXEBRS

Z—He
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HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

We sold two flats at The HarbourSide at an average unit price of
HK$44,000 per square foot, generating a profit before tax of HK$150
million.

The increase in fair value of investment properties recorded for the
period amounted to HK$953 million which was lower than HK$2,357
million of the corresponding period last year.

As a smaller net revaluation gain was recognized, operating profit after
change in fair value of investment properties decreased by 19% to
HK$3,525 million.

The Group held significant cash balances which mainly included
Renminbi deposits matching with construction payments on the
Mainland. Benefiting from the higher interest rates of Renminbi than
Hong Kong dollars, a net interest income of HK$49 million recorded
for the period, more than doubled that of HK$15 million in the
corresponding period.

Taxation charges increased by 5% in this period to HK$580 million, in
line with the higher rental profit.

With a much lower net revaluation gain on investment properties, the
net profit attributable to shareholders fell by 17% to HK$1,578 million.
The earnings per share decreased from HK$1.41 to HK$1.17 The Board
has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.38 per share.
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FERAN BREEFE
Profit for the Year Net Assets per Share
HE+ZA=+—BLFE R+=A=+—8
For the years ended December 31 At December 31
BB ET il
HK$ million HK$
25,000 100
89.9
90 $
20,000
80
15,000 70
60
10,000
50
$3,038
e million 40
I | 0 2
1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H 1H 2H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 20
10
o EAREF o EIZARRER
Underlying profit Non-controlling interests 0
o MEEM[MUHREERERIFZERER 2 HE
Effects of revaluation, net of defgrred tax?and non-controlling interests 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—AZERA +AZ+=A
TH ‘ Jan to jun 2H| Julto Dec
—E——FHBHRREE Review of 2011 Financial Position

NEFBBERBEEEAN - HEBEFTWH  The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet with sufficient
PHERMEBEINEMEAENIESAE  financial resources and liquidity to meet all obligations as they fall due.
LAER B ER BT S IHER o

SFAZE——F N\ ARENEENERE  Investment properties rose by 8% to HK$101,833 million due to
EBARTEEMEMRESBMOEMYZE  inclusion of Parc 66 upon its completion in August 2011 and moderate
% IREWMELINAS 2 N \EBEE—T  gains on revaluation of the leasing portfolio.

T+ )\E=F=E&T-
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HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

In September 2011, we successfully acquired a prime site in Kunming at
a price of RMB3,497 million. With a site area of 56,042 square meters,
the plot of land will be developed into a world class shopping mall,
office towers and serviced apartments for long term investment. The
properties will cover a total gross floor area of 401,300 square meters
upon completion. The land price of the Kunming project has been fully
paid as at December 31, 2011.

With the land acquisition in Kunming and construction progress of
other mainland projects, properties under development increased from
HK$21,524 million to HK$23,613 million, after transferring out the Parc
66 to completed investment properties.

As at December 31, 2011, the Group had capital commitments
amounting to HK$34,015 million not provided for in the financial
statements. Those commitments are predominantly related to the
property development projects in mainland China to be completed over
the next few years.

The Group continued to position itself with a prudent level of liquid funds
and banking facilities to meet future commitments. As at December
31, 2011, the Group had cash and bank deposits of HK$26,149 million
to meet the stipulated equity injection requirements of various projects
on the Mainland and their construction payment schedules in addition to
other working capital requirements. After netting off total borrowings,
all unsecured, of HK$27694 million, the Group had a low gearing ratio
of 1% as at December 31, 2011.
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RENME  BRIREVERGENE
Investment Properties, Investment Properties
Under Development and Properties for Sale
R+=—A=+—AH

At December 31

B EET
HK$ million

140,000 $131,591

million

120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000

20,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

o LEME o FEME

Investment properties Properties for sale

o BRPREME
Investment properties
under development

BBERREREE
Financing Resources and
Capital Commitment
W+=—A=+—H

At December 31

BEBET
HKS$ million
60,000

$49,029
50,000 million

40,000
30,000
20,000

10,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

o RITTER o BAGESE

Bank deposits Capital commitment
o HARIOEERFHRERTE

Undrawn credit facilities and

MTN issuing capacity

BEBEMRIEIR SR I NFTMBETE  With robust cash generation capability and ample financial resources,
R REBRETESAEHEMNER we are well-equipped to tackle unexpected market turbulence or
HHISBERIPERBERFARMILERESE capture attractive investment opportunities that fit our growth strategy.

&I ARSI IR ERE o
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development

The Group's long-term expansion strategy is to build up a land bank
for property development. Before any development project or land
acquisition goes ahead, a thorough evaluation of the related risks and
returns, including consideration and assessment of relevant government
policies, the level of local government support, various economic
data as well as the adequacy of the infrastructure development in the
surrounding area, is carried out. If the conditions satisfy our overall
requirements, Board approval is then required before the purchase or
project can proceed.

Short-term market fluctuations and government policies have minimal
impact on our development strategies as our investment projects in
mainland China are planned for the long-term with ongoing commercial
usage.

Each project is carefully managed and monitored. A steering committee
monitors the progress of each scheme, evaluating and approving any
important changes in the design and construction process. Management
are also closely involved - - projects are actively supervised with regular
progressive reviews so that they have a clear picture of the situation
and decisions can be made promptly. The designated team of skilled
and experienced professionals, who are responsible for the project, is
also charged with keeping the steering committee and the Board fully
informed of developments through regular and comprehensive status
reports.

Internal Control Environment

Clear guidelines and a well-established control environment set the tone
for good internal controls. Our simple yet effective control mechanisms
include such fundamentals as close and regular management reviews,
the segregation of duties, budgetary controls, clear, well defined
and specific limits for the various levels of authority, whistle blowing
mechanisms, codes of conduct for both our staff and trading partners, as
well as the provision of appropriate training for staff development.
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Treasury Risk

The scale and scope of the Group's activities expose us to a variety of
treasury risks. Every effort has been made to minimize these risks,
which are managed in accordance with the Group's treasury policies and
approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most borrowings
are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are thus closely monitored
and, as and when appropriate, the Group may adopt relevant measures
to manage associated risks, including but not limited to the issuance of
fixed interest bonds. The maturity of monetary assets and liabilities is
also planned and managed with care to minimize any mismatch and/or
repricing risk. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group'’s investments
on the Mainland are prudently managed to provide maximum protection
under China’s existing currency regime. In Hong Kong, as Hong Kong
dollars are pegged to United States dollars, exchange rate risks relating
to United States dollar deposits are not considered significant.

(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's funding requirements are managed and controlled at the
corporate level, which optimizes borrowing terms and facilitates financial
risk management. All ready cash is also pooled and centrally managed.
This move achieves both economies of scale and ensures that sufficient
funds and banking facilities are always available and in place to meet
obligations well before they fall due. Bank facility maturity dates are
distributed evenly to minimize repayment or refinancing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from rents receivable,
installments receivable relating to property sales, and deposits placed
with banks. The credit risks with regard to rents receivable are managed
through credit assessments of the prospective tenants, the payment of
rental deposits as well as close monitoring of any outstanding rental.
Receivables related to property sales are protected with collateral on the
properties in question. Bank deposits of surplus funds have assigned
exposure limits to mitigate concentration risks and are only made with
reputable banks that have sound credit ratings.
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(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

We follow market trends and business environments closely to make
sure that our properties continue to maintain both the highest market
standards and their competitive edge. Maintenance and renovation
are carried out regularly to upgrade the facilities and uphold the safety
and quality of our properties while adequate insurance measures are
in place to protect our properties against accidental losses and/or other
hazards. Established internal control systems also safeguard our assets
and protect the Group from potential malpractices, if any.

An independent internal audit team carries out frequent reviews
and tests to ensure that all internal control systems and policies are
adequate, cost effective and fully adhered to. As part of the Group’s
business continuity plan, proper back-up procedures have also been put
into place to safeguard against any potential loss - - our computer data
for example. A separate back-up site for our computer systems has thus
been established.

We continue to upgrade our environmental conservation measures,
aiming not only to act responsibly as a global citizen but also to meet and
stay ahead of market expectations.

People Risk

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee works to ensure that
remuneration levels for Group directors and senior management are
competitive. Employee remuneration packages are also evaluated
and monitored against market trends to make sure we not only attract,
but retain, a professional and able team. Maximizing potential and
encouraging staff to improve their knowledge and skills, we provide
financial support to further their training with relevant and recognized
professional programs. Maintaining a dialogue with staff, we provide
clear channels of communication together with an accessible grievance
reporting system for staff of all levels. Exitinterviews are also conducted
to gather relevant information for future improvement.
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8 0 I &=
HANG LUNG
PRCPERTIES

As a top-tier and expanding property developer in Hong Kong and
mainland China, Hang Lung is committed to showing exceptional
leadership in the areas of sustainability and corporate social
responsibility. In order to ensure that all our activities are sustainable
economically, socially and environmentally, our strategies for sustainable
development specifically address to our environment, our community
and our people. They aim to:

construct environmentally friendly and sustainable buildings that
add significant and tangible values to the communities we serve;
promote a green environment wherever we work and in our
operational practices;

maintain our role as “the employer of choice” by ensuring a
respectful, harmonious and safe work environment, providing
necessary training and career development opportunities for our
people; and

acknowledge the immense support we receive from the
communities we serve by making meaningful contributions to
them through participation in, and sponsorship of, a broad spectrum
of social and charitable initiatives.
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On the basis of our ongoing and long-standing commitment to
promoting sustainability by enhancing our environment, our community
and our people, the Group was listed on the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index and the Hang Seng (Mainland and Hong Kong)
Corporate Sustainability Index for the second consecutive year. We
also joined the new Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark
Index. The index series is the first of its kind in Hong Kong and will be
a vital reference tool for the investment community and the general
public as a benchmark for socially responsible investments and for
tracking the stock price performance of constituent companies.

Business Sustainability

The drive for sustainability is an essential part of all our business
operations. In order to deliver long-term value and sustainable
growth to our customers, employees, communities and all other
stakeholders, Hang Lung is committed to the highest standards of
business management, accountability and transparency throughout
our operations. \We believe that good corporate governance starts
at the top with the Board of Directors. Our Board is proactive, with
Directors that are highly diligent in their guidance and monitoring. The
Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Group.
Chairman, Directors and management actively participate in and guide
the formulation and detailed application of our sustainability strategy
and practices. Further details of our proactive corporate governance
policies are set out in the Corporate Governance section of this report.

Risk Vigilance and Business Continuity
Our focus on risk vigilance and ensuring business continuity is another
vital element of our business sustainability strategy.

During the period under review, we enhanced our crisis management
plan with new measures to protect customers, tenants and staff while
making sure that business continuity is maintained and that the impact
of any damage or loss to our business is mitigated should a crisis or
emergency occur.

In order to heighten overall awareness and staff readiness in the event

of an unfolding crisis, we carried out special drills and emergency
exercises, both in Hong Kong and on the Mainland.
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Simple and clearcommunication: enhanced
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between management and staff
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The Group also established a Crisis Management Team at our
headquarters in Hong Kong and set up sub-teams in Mainland cities. In
addition to carrying out a desktop drill in Hong Kong, Crisis Management
Team members from Shanghai, Shenyang and Jinan linked together
to exchange views on the different approaches of crisis management
strategies in Hong Kong and on the Mainland.

Corporate Values and Code of Conduct

Our core values of Simplicity, Authority, Integrity and Loyalty (SAIL) are
strongly promoted throughout the Hang Lung family. We use a variety
of platforms to communicate and diffuse our culture while reinforcing
the values of sincerity, honesty and solidarity as part of the Hang Lung
family.

FEIE Authority

e RETFET : THFEERFEHLENEN
HRE

Staff empowerment: work ownership
together with necessary and effective
decisions

B H Loyalty

e RER: BRGURIABER AKEF
B R &=

e Sense of belonging: teamwork and
shared goals to work in the best
interests of the Group

iy
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Our enhanced Code of Conduct further supports these values,
establishing firm guidelines and rules regarding the professional and
ethical behavior of our people in Hong Kong and mainland China. In
April 2011, we launched a Secondment Policy to ensure that staff
seconded to different locations with the Group would be provided with
clear policies and procedures.

Reinforcement via Different Channels

In order to uphold and strengthen these core values within the Group,
we have developed a variety of relevant staff training and engagement
programs. As a means of underlining the value of integrity, for example,
we publicize practices and news related to integrity through our internal
newsletter Connections and e-learning platform “Learning Zone" on our
Intranet. We also conducted a series of seminars in Hong Kong together
with the Independent Commission Against Corruption to educate our
staff about the high standards of ethics expected of them and to upgrade
their knowledge of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. Similarly, year
round anti-corruption training sessions have been developed for our
Mainland offices using specially tailored training modules.

Our Environment

The Group strongly believes in our responsibility to help create a
better environment for future generations. Hang Lung has long been
an industry leader in the design and building of sustainable property
developments both in Hong Kong and on the Mainland. As a pioneer
in this field, the concept of sustainability is deeply ingrained in all our
business operations as we move forward into an era of robust growth.

That is why we promote green education among our staff, tenants and
customers and support green organizations on various fronts.
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Building for Sustainability

\We believe that sustainable building development has a clear business
rationale as well as broader implications for the preservation of global
resources and for the protection of the environment. Simply put,
sustainability as a component of building helps to support the value
of our properties while lessening energy and other operational costs.

Our environmental performance is benchmarked against the highest
international standards, in particular the gold rating certification under
the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core
and Shell Development issued by the U.S. Green Building Council.

For commerecial projects under development on the Mainland, we have
set high environmental saving targets:

37 P- RE
1B/ Ei5 B &5 1Bk B
Center 66 Riverside 66 Olympia 66
Wauxi Tianjin Dalian

HEERIE 4% (Retail): &% (Retalil): ZOESECl o OE=R o
. s s A 14% ) 14%
Reduction of Energy i 18 21% B 8 14% Saving over Saving over
Consumption Saving over Saving over
A (Office): HHAE (Office):
BEE 1759 BEE 0,
Saving over Saving over
FEKERE %35 (Retail): %5 (Retail): fiEm o Ryl o
i P PN . 40% A 40%
Reduction of Water EigE 30% JiE=p 40% Saving over Saving over
Consumption Saving over Saving over
PEAHE (Office): PN 1E (Office):
BEE 40, BEE 49,
Saving over Saving over
BEEEEEYIEIK il il il il
. 75% 75% 75% 75%
Construction Waste Over ? Over ° Over ° Over ’
Recycling
LEED Bz e e e ik
Target Gold Gold Gold Gold
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All our projects on the Mainland have been planned, designed,
constructed and operated with the LEED gold rating as the ultimate
target. Our developments on the Mainland often surpass international
building requirements, incorporating a number of innovative features:
renewable energy products such as geothermal ground source heat
pumps and solar panels; high performance building envelopes that
save cooling and heating loads, and hence energy used; and extensive
recycling and reuse of waste materials.

The benefits of this proactive sustainability program continue to be
recognized in a number of LEED awards. In November 2011, Parc 66
in Jinan achieved “Certification Under the Leadership in Energy and
Environment Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development, Gold
Level! the second Hang Lung property to obtain such a recognition
following the gold level award to Palace 66 in Shenyang in 2010. Palace
66 was the first shopping mall on the Mainland to achieve such gold
status. In August 2011, Olympia 66 in Dalian gained “Precertification
under the Leadership in Energy and Environment Design (LEED) for
Core and Shell Development, Gold Level” LEED pre-certification
applications for Plaza 66 and Grand Gateway 66 in Shanghai are in
progress.
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In Hong Kong, our new residential development on Blue Pool Road
became the first project in the world to be registered under the LEED
for Homes' International Pilot Scheme, which was launched by the
U.S. Green Building Council at the end of 2010. As a reflection of the
sustainability of our Hong Kong projects, we also continue to aspire to
BEAM plus (Building Environment Assessment Method) certification.
This scheme aims to enhance the life performance of structures
through upgraded performance, careful assessment of the building,
award of certification and recognizable labeling. Hang Lung has also
become a Patron Platinum Member of the Hong Kong Green Building
Council since September 2011.

Environmental Project Team

The preservation of the environment is a holistic undertaking that
goes beyond design initiatives and integrates sustainable concepts
in building development into a wide range of energy saving, recycling
and eco-education initiatives. VWe have established an Environmental
Project Team that includes representatives from different departments
in Hong Kong and on the Mainland with the aim of reaching out to all
levels of the Group with appropriate and practicable green initiatives
that can be integrated into our daily lives.

In addition, the responsibility for making these and similar efforts at the
operational level has been allocated to 17 Environmental Ambassadors
who have completed an environmental training course at the
Environmental Protection Department of the HKSAR government.
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Energy and Water Saving on the Mainland

Our development at Parc 66 in Jinan is a prime example of the
innovative sustainability features, which the Group now includes in
the planning, design and construction of our properties. Sustainability
building features at Parc 66 include:

Energy Saving

Renewable Energy -- Photovoltaic (PV) panels, total area
equivalent to 11 standard basketball courts, generate 363,000
kWh of electricity a year, enough to light a 4,150-square-meter
car park with 650 spaces.

Energy-efficient Lighting — Lighting control systems are installed
with preset time-management devices, in addition to energy
efficient LED lighting as well as T8 and T5 fluorescent tubes.

High Performance Building Envelopes - - Double deck and low
emissivity glazing facades, efficient solar reflecting roofs and
4,000 square meters of “greening” roofs create shielding
from extreme heat and cold, thus reducing demand for air
conditioning and heating.

Variable-frequency Chiller Systems -- Three watercooled
machines work towards saving a significant amount of
electricity (saving around 400,000 kWh of electricity per year).

Heat Recovery Systems -- Heat recovered from airside
systems is used to pre-cool or pre-heat fresh air entering
through the mall's airconditioning systems.

Automatic Fresh Air Systems -- Carbon dioxide monitors
adjust fresh air flow based on the actual volume of people
in the mall, maintaining a pleasant environment while also
saving energy.

Water Saving

Water Saving Features - - Include dual-flushing toilet cisterns,
low discharge faucets and showers, and automatic faucet
sensors, etc.

Grey Water Treatment Systems - - Collect and treat 36 cubic

meters of recycled water every day for irrigation and non-
drinking purposes, sufficient to flush 6,000 pedestal toilets.
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In Shanghai, committed sustainability management continued to be
a significant feature of our Hang Lung signature properties, Grand
Gateway 66 and Plaza 66. As a renowned leader in the field of energy-
saving, Grand Gateway 66 has been named as a “Model Enterprise in
Energy Saving” for five consecutive years by the Xuhui District People's
Government and has received incentive awards totaling RMB4 million
from the authorities to develop its environmental programs. Recently
the water pumps in Phase 3 of the shopping mall were replaced,
thereby reducing electricity consumption by some 50%. In recognition
of its efforts in water saving, Grand Gateway 66 was awarded the title
of “Water Balance Enterprise” by the Shanghai \Water Authority.

Ever since it signed the Shanghai Energy Saving Improvement
Measures Management Agreement with the Shanghai Energy Saving
Services Center in 2008, Plaza 66 has carried out a series of energy-
reduction measures. In 2011, Plaza 66 has been recognized as the
“Model Project in Shanghai on Energy Savings” by the Shanghai
government and received RMB2.1 million incentive award from the
municipal and district governments. During the period under review,
the airconditioning system of the office tower was revamped and the
lighting system in the car park and public areas was replaced by a high
energy-efficiency model. In addition, continuous training is provided to
staff on the new technologies involved in energy saving, so that they
can further implement related measures at Plaza 66.
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Green Measures in Hong Kong

A number of the Group's properties in Hong Kong received recognition
in 2011 for their energy saving and waste reduction measures. Nearly
all of our major investment sites in Hong Kong were awarded the
Wastewi$e Label “Class of Excellence” by the Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence (HKAEE) in September 2011. The
Peak Galleria, Stanhope House, The Summit and Burnside Villa were
awarded the Energywi$e Label “Class of Excellence” by HKAEE while
Park-in Commmercial Centre, Gala Place, Printing House and Baskerville
House obtained a “Class of Good" distinction. The Peak Galleria and 1
Duddell Street achieved an IQAwi$e Label “Class of Good" award, as
well as a "“Quality Water Recognition Scheme for Buildings Certificate”
presented by the \Water Supplies Department.

Recycling Measures

Recycling of all kinds remains one of our top environmental priorities.
During the period under review, One Grand Tower continued to
participate in Yan Qi Tong's “Oil for Charity” program, in which Yan Oi
Tong collects waste oil from participating tenants at a scheduled time

each week and converts the oil into biodiesel.

\We adopted a new image and uniform for frontline colleagues in Hong
Kong last year. Old uniforms were donated to suitable non-profit-making
organizations. The first batch of clothing was donated to the Salvation
Army, which distributed the uniforms to people in need or sold them at
discounted prices at their Family Stores to raise funds for community
projects in Hong Kong and mainland China.

In October 2011, to protect the environment and reduce computer
dumping, the Hong Kong office donated about 200 computers to

EEEEERAFA —T— —F4RH



FERIS EHRHEMSBEREEM
TR BRABHE - WEBAER
BIRSamIAR AR XA AERAA
TIRHATAENER  THREBRER -
WEBRGAEEN LA THEAXE
BERACEREBR  mEHERBLEEE
FATFTTFROESE  WEEEES
EAL -

RERHBNER

LIEES [ RIRIKE | 2k

[RRRR | 2 IkBEEHBRILTAES G
% RPN ENESEFE KB EHIR
MEEERMEZERE - [RERER] 2K
BREAZET - ENRESN  TRBFAR
AR TRIRRANE - PIEIARRREE AR -
N - KRR SS © BIMIRT
Y BRESBMABRAMBEE - B
—E—F1+ Ak [RERR|ZKE
BEERAT2N BB TIERNE- B
“ETAFHELAK - [RERR] 2KE
WEE—TFT—BAZM -

to Caritas-HK Computer Workshop. Donated computers were
refurbished, upgraded and sold to the deprived at cost, thereby not
only preventing pollution by prolonging the computers’ lifecycle but
also bridging digital barriers by producing computers that are affordable
for those less fortunate. 750 sets of old cathode-ray-tube televisions
from our serviced apartments were also recycled and The Summit
donated disused furniture to the Crossroads Foundation, which was
given to those in need.

Green Education and Promotion

Eco-Discovery Tour at The Peak Galleria

An Eco-Discovery Tour sets out at The Peak Galleria every Sunday
with the aim of encouraging the younger generation to treasure the
planet’s valuable resources and to preserve the environment. Children
aged 6-12 are invited to join the tour to explore the environmentally
friendly facilities such as solar panel system, wind turbine and rainwater
collection system. Workshops are also organized to teach the children
how to make their own eco-cars powered by solar panels. Since
December 2011, the Tour has been open to the general public and
positive feedback has been received. Since its launch in 2009, the Tour
has attracted a total of around 1,200 participants.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Promoting the Use of Electric Vehicles

In the same spirit of energy conservation, the Group promotes the
use of Electrical Vehicles (EVs) in Hong Kong and continues to set up
charging facilities for EVs at its carparks. In September 2011, new EV
chargers were installed at carparks in Kornhill Plaza and Amoy Plaza.

An offer entitled “The First Ever Environment Friendly Car Parking
Privilege” was launched by a number of the Group’s properties to
encourage eco-driving. Under the scheme, car owners with vehicles
approved by the Environmental Protection Department, or with a valid
Environment Friendly Private Car Certificate issued by the Department,
can enjoy parking privileges for 12 months.

LOHAS Museum@2030

From December 1, 2011 to February 14, 2012, The Peak Galleria
partnered with Kadoorie Farm and Botanic Garden to hold an exhibition
entitled “LOHAS Museum@2030" along with a series of low-carbon
DIY workshops with the objective of encouraging Hong Kong people to
lead a more environmentally friendly life. The exhibition and workshops
allow the general public to have a better understanding of the impact of
restricted oil supplies in Hong Kong and how a sustainable production
model can be created to partially replace our overdependence on oil
with other forms of energy generation.

Take a “Brake” Low Carbon Action

Hong Kong and Shanghai colleagues have taken action to fight against
climate change by pledging to reduce their use of motor vehicles.
The Hong Kong office has joined the Take a “Brake” Low Carbon
Action - - Corporate Green Driving Award Scheme launched by Friends
of the Earth, which aims to reduce exhaust emissions by company
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and employee vehicles. The Group has attained Gold Tier in the Fuel
Efficiency Improvement category. Meanwhile, the CSR Group of Plaza
66 made a similar pledge on carbon reduction in August 2011.

Our Community

As a good corporate citizen, Hang Lung is proud of the commitment
shown by management and employees to a broad range of charitable
and volunteering programs that support the well-being of the
disadvantaged and needy in society.

In reaffirmation of our dedication to nurturing our community, our
employees and their families and our environment, once again the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service named us a “Caring Company” in
2011. This recognition is given to those in the business sector that have
shown high standards of corporate citizenship and social responsibility.

Staff Volunteering

In return for the tremendous support we receive from our customers
and the community, we encourage our staff to engage in commmunity
service. This dedication to corporate citizenship has led to the formation
of a staff-initiated volunteer team. Between July and December 2011,
the number of volunteering hours of the team was 1,438.

93



LRSS & 9% &0
Sustainability Report

EXNBDBRERZHERE  EITHE
RINRFEECEE_T——FLENE
BEEABREIRI - EBREREMLN
FoNES  RRESRBRREREN
AR - & TR %R B 27
Bt BIRARDZE o

EHERE

FEEX - ERBEHEFEMEIIK
ENEEL  BFEATRBEEEM
REBEEH TR - & PRKREXE
R IETEEE A o

BB o

SEEEHHECE  WEDHAETE
AL - BZFT——FX AE  BRMER
EEENBHRERERGTEARTY
GERERE) ERGRIFLNEE B
BEATIRES RIS REMBEIIR -

BRAT

AT RERZEENEE L&KM
BN ZA e BITAFFREE - ZEBW
KA BRTS - HEBEEMAIERE - KAEC
EEREBRENTE - BEREEEIRA
BERER BEEBRHNBERMELEE @
RARBRSFHOEMEN  BESES
WAA - BMEBNERSHEEE [EE
— D EBRKEES o & E A F
BEABNITERRA - RIRGELEME
T AJENNET R IEE S B INE B TEAT -
ESMITRAB IR R HAEER R
BB R-_TE——F+_AK  £H
EBRAEE-FAEBRAT=%8T 81
BEBE—FENTEARA—FNABEAS
TNA BEZT——F+_A=+—
BiE/NEABRE - B THFH AR
BOE—FTNLEET -

94

In order to meet the educational needs of underprivileged children, the
VolunteerTeam joined hands with The ChangingYoung Lives Foundation
to continue with its “360-degree Outdoor Learning Series” in 2011. This
enabled children to learn about environmental care and climate change
through a number of stimulating outdoor activities. Our volunteers also
brought hand-made cookies to share with the youngsters.

Summer Internships

Each year in summer, Hang Lung receives intern students from
universities in Hong Kong and abroad. These internships allow young
people to think beyond the confines of the known and familiar and to
gain valuable working experience, setting them on the right path for
future career development.

Supporting Social Enterprises

The Group is dedicated to assisting people in need through our
support to social enterprises. Since June 2011, we have hired Hong
Chi Association for their lettershop services for our publication
Connections. Hong Chi Association is a non-profit organization
providing special education services and work training for those with
intellectual disabilities.

Our People

Our people are the most precious asset of the Hang Lung family and
the key to our success. They drive forward our development through
their commitment, professionalism and caring services. As we extend
our business horizons, we continue to devote significant resources
and energy to developing the expertise and skills of our outstanding
team. At the same time, we are committed to promoting the sense
of belongings and team spirit of “Hang Lung as One"” among our
colleagues. We offer a competitive package of benefits to attract the
best people. In line with our “pay for performance” principles, we
award outperforming employees with additional bonuses in addition to
their regular package while directors and executives also receive share
options as incentives and rewards. At the end of December 2011,
there were a total of 2,953 employees, of which 1,085 are in Hong
Kong and 1,868 on the Mainland. Total remuneration for the sixmonth
period ended December 31, 2011 amounted to HK$419 million.
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Continuous Recognition

The Group aims to create a harmonious and productive work
environment that includes the families of our employees. In November
2011, we were named a “Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer” in
the Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme organized by the Family
Council. This award recognizes our efforts towards fostering a pro-
family culture and environment, and in implementing family-friendly
employment policies and practices. The award scheme cherishes
employers that demonstrate a family-friendly spirit and encourages
them to implement family-friendly measures for their employees with
the aim of raising awareness of the importance of core family values in
the business sector.

On the Mainland, Palace 66 in Shenyang has been named the
“Shenyang Best Employer 2011 in the “China Best Employer Award
20117 an event organized by the Peking University, the TV program
“Zhi Lai Zhi Wang” on China Education Television Channel 1, and the
website Zhilian Zhaopin, in recognition of its staff caring policy.

People Development

In order to sustain a high-performing and steadily expanding
organization, Human Resources teams work closely with each of
our business divisions to understand their work requirements and to
identify training needs with the ultimate aim of growing employees’
talent and building strategic organizational competency. An individual
training and development plan has been launched to assist with the

95



LRSS & 9% &0
Sustainability Report

Wk B8 THHFEEBNMED FAREE
ABIME - KRETTSEEM 8 TEREIE
B NEHHBENHRAZ -E_T—
—FLAE+— AHRE - 2SR EED
BTN BTN -

[ME[E 2 | TTRA EX it &)
MEREZEMEIITTHRABRRAE /TS
MAMREREREABMR  ER T —
—FNABERETLIERN K o 53185
AR BE—RINTBRABEREE -
PIINBERELENERITRARS
SNRIARE) - BERET - ELABINR T
FBMAM R EREAEN - WIBHE T
PIBEERRBERTTNERAH

EHEsE LR E

BEMERARRAAKR A BRKEY
EmsEHBLEERENFEAERASE
EHAKEM A -+ _EANER
B AT EIEE I EEM T RERNE
% MEBEDRIBTBERANHER
BB BEPI A e T - 355 5 Al i
EHEREENRFE - LI MESR
We2mERIR BEIE BARK
NSRS ZEEEFEY  FMMEERA

NAEEER -

HBEEFXAL

BEMNEFHEINEZT XL FA
BB AR R 8 B T lat
2| - WA EAREFIA &6 LT A TR
B  BEREHLREHBTEHRHED
FE HEHIBRETPRE =TT
Rt  BEZE2RER BHERE - A
BREGRRD  BHERE  BEFE R

1R - EXMBR AL -

ZE——F+— A BEREHN
[Learn@Lunch] FEHEE RS - BHEF
TEENZEEATREES T HZHMH
MEEFR - IEFRAR EAEHFARARIE -

96

building of a continuous learning culture throughout the organization
and to encourage staff ownership of their ongoing learning and sharing.
Every employee is encouraged to make good use of company training
sponsorships to help them attain their learning and development
objectives. A total of 42,874 hours of training were conducted from
July to December 2011.

Executive Exchange Program

The first Executive Exchange Program for managerial staff from our
Hong Kong and Mainland offices was held in September 2011. The
five-day program included a series of executive development activities
such as meeting the Managing Director and senior executives, an
Outward Bound program, and a project presentation. By participating
in these activities, Hong Kong and Mainland colleagues strengthened
their teamwork spirit and gained practical knowledge of modern
leadership skills.

Management Trainee Program

To meet the needs of our rapid growth, Hang Lung aims at attracting
and nurturing outstanding young talents to be our future leaders.
During our 22 month-long Management Trainee Program, the trainees
gain a thorough understanding of our business and strengthen their
operational knowledge through job attachment to various departments
and functions in our Hong Kong and Mainland offices. In addition, they
are given opportunities to attend leadership training and to participate in
project assignment, monthly review and experience sharing sessions,
in order to provide them with all-round exposure.

Learning Culture

Hang Lung strives to promote a learning culture among staff members.
During the year, structured training programs were organized in Hong
Kong and Mainland offices with a varying focus for staff from different
positions and departments. The theme of each course ranged from
customer service and upgrading work skills to occupational health and
safety, stress management, interpersonal skills, crisis management,
team building, environmental protection, languages and computer
skills within a growing organization.

Since November 2011, Hang Lung has organized a “Learn@Lunch”
series of talks, inviting experts from various sectors to share their
knowledge and experience with Hang Lung staff. The aim is to broaden
staff horizons and stimulate creativity.
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We have revamped our e-learning platform “Learning Zone” on the
Intranet to enrich content and coverage. “Learning Zone” features
detailed highlights and convenient information at the Group level as
well as from each of our Mainland offices.

Work-Life Balance

\We believe that the maintenance and encouragement of a healthy work-
life balance is essential for the well-being and productivity of our staff,
and to support the Group's sustained business momentum. The Hang
Lung Social Club continues to play a crucial role in providing a supportive
working environment for our staff through social and recreational
activities. In July 2011, Club LAVIE was set up at Plaza 66, Shanghai, to
provide a similar series of recreational activities.

Relaxation and Togetherness

The social activities held by the Hang Lung Social Club included Movie
Appreciation, Funky Dance Interest Class, Art Jamming, Bowling Fun
and Jump Day, etc. A Badminton Tournament held for staff at Plaza
66 in Shanghai and Forum 66 in Shenyang also attracted colleagues
from Dalian and Tianjin. The Group highly encourages the participation
of employees’ family members in our social and recreational activities
with the aim of strengthening our employees’ sense of belonging and
providing a family-friendly working environment.

Among various staff competitions was a highly enjoyable and creative
photo competition, to which staff submitted photos of their working life
at Hang Lung. Around 100 photo entries from both our Mainland and
Hong Kong offices were received. The best 12 photos were selected
for the production of a company calendar of 2012.
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In addition, a “Hang Lung's Got Talent” company-wide competition met
with an overwhelmingly enthusiastic response. The performances of the
finalists from Hong Kong and winners from Mainland offices at the Annual
Dinner held in Hong Kong earned several rounds of deserved applause.

To reward colleagues for their hard work, Hong Kong and various
Mainland offices organized annual outings in October and November
2011 and encouraged staff to bring along their family members. For
the Hong Kong and Shanghai offices, the destination was Jinan and
Parc 66 in Jinan was one of the highlights of the trip. Other Mainland
offices also organized their own annual outings for staff, which received
a very positive response.

Staff Volunteering

We strongly encourage and motivate our staff to reach out to the
communities in which we operate. Our Volunteer Team has about 150
members. In July 2011, a volunteer recognition ceremony was held
to acknowledge the contribution of our volunteers to the community.
To further develop our employees’ knowledge and skills in organizing
voluntary services, the Group's Social Club has fully sponsored our
active volunteer and committee members to join the “Training Course
for Corporate Volunteer Teams” organized by the Social Welfare
Department of the HKSAR government.

One day of paid volunteer leave is granted to executives and
administrative employees participating in voluntary activities during
normal working hours, such activities being organized by non-profit
making organizations registered in Hong Kong. This arrangement allows
considerable flexibility for Hang Lung staff to adapt their schedule and
that of their family members to voluntary activities, thereby helping
families to educate themselves about charity work.

EEEEERQAE —T——FFH
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Family Knows Your Workplace

On December 30, 2011, we launched another family-friendly initiative
entitled the “Family Knows Your Workplace” program, encouraging all
staff members from Hong Kong and Mainland offices to invite their
family members to visit their workplace so as to learn more about the
Group and their work. With emphasis on the team spirit of “Hang Lung
as One’ the initiative not only brings harmony to staff and their families,
but also promotes strong bonding between the Group, staff and their
family members, achieving a triple-win situation.

Further relaxation and enjoyment for staff and their families is provided
by the Group’s bungalow, Leyburn Villas, at Cheung Sha beach on
south Lantau Island. Since 2008, proud new Hang Lung fathers are
also given two days of paid paternity leave on the confinement of their
spouse to achieve a better work-life balance and fulfill their domestic
needs.

Staff Communication

The Group is committed to building close connections and fostering
good relationships among different levels of staff through two-way
communication channels such as town hall meetings, departmental
and team meetings, conferences and focus groups. The monthly
staff newsletter, Connections, keeps staff abreast of the latest
developments within the Group and shares experiences between our
Hong Kong and Mainland employees. As a Group devoted to good
corporate governance and strong relations with all our stakeholders,
we hold well-attended staff briefing sessions after all our results
announcements to explain the Group’s performance, prospects for
growth and future development.

99



LRSS & 9% &0
Sustainability Report

SRV ]

BHMEBESR 2EMESNER =
KEFNERIEENEARROBH
BRI

EOEMA - RPNHBERELEES
RARH - —FT——FT-H EEWL
ERBRME T (REEBERMER) T
WO _T——FERPERARED &
B IBERRRERSES — FHRMAB L | 82

Our Stakeholders
We seek to build trust and productive partnerships with our stakeholders
through regular, comprehensive and interactive engagement programs.

During the reporting period, we continued to garner recognitions for
our financial reporting. In December 2011, Hang Lung Properties
was honored with the award of the “Best Reporting (Annual Report
and Online) by a Hong Kong Company” in the Greater China Awards
2011 presented by the prestigious /R Magazine. \We also clinched the
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& BB &

Stakeholder Engagement Programs

Bronze Prize in the General Category of the “2011 Best Annual Reports
Awards"” held by the Hong Kong Management Association.

HE BEEE HYHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
wEE KRR o BRI AL PHIRFEEEALHK o NIMBMWME  REESHERGINEE

Investors and
Shareholders

Information releases, notices, interim and
annual results announcements
o NEEBIEREZRE
Investor Relations mailbox and news
o HEMETEA
Up-to-date electronic information
o FIRRFEIRE
Annual and interim reports

Analyst briefings, investor meetings and
overseas roadshows
AITEREIEREESZTmE

Analyst and institutional conferences and
forums

RERBEREG

Annual general meeting

T *  [AIBTAERAIE R HUE R o T - B RAPREFEBRSHENGE
Government Information notices to relevant government Regular communication and meetings with

bodies local, provincial and national government

o ERBBUMERRNENEE  MlhERRRY bodies

WER

Presenting property developers’

perspectives as a member of Real Estate

Developers’ Association of Hong Kong

(REDA)
R o ERIRIEE(EAREINEPA  HEREE

Business Partners

DEBBREHENEN
As a CCBF patron, working closely with the
business community to share information
on environmental issues

o EABEBMERRHENEE @ HERMhES
ERENER
As a REDA member, helping to represent
the interests of property developers
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(EBEE) REIEEZMERED
Connections serves as an important internal
communication channel

2011 FEEEME

2011 Results Announcement

BHE ERES HHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
BERREP o [MHPBLEFZIENTA EEEMERBEEFPREER
Customers and Online “Tenants Log-on” platform Customer service counters at individual
Tenants o WBRUHEERNMEEBRRAZZED developments
Ensuring effective communication between ERAEBHEBEFHRS
property buyers and the property Regular meetings between management
management company and tenants
RIEPERITREES
Recreational events for residents
@ FOFEBUT 4845 o FIBEMERET - TR « B g R AR YNCIE I
The Community )& Corporate Volunteer Program
and NGOs Close communication with the community

and community organizations about
the design, execution and evaluation of
projects

AERE - ERE

FLEREERFBMIRRE R - BHEFHTABERE

SRR LA BEEMETTER 85

HrEm &R @Al Regular progress meetings with
Contractors, Proactive supplier and contractor program consultants and contractors
Consultants and on our operational and environmental ER{ft FE RS (RIF B R E
Suppliers practices Close contact with vendors
o ZERBEMRE G BRIBBEXFR R e RITEEE)
Preparing contracts clearly to avoid Attending relevant seminars and industry
possible confusion or dispute events
o HIEEMHERNAREETBHEER
Forging partnerships with competent
vendors and contractors
EE o FBEEREEH M LHIES TREHE R R FAERIZIBAFT A B T A BB AR E B sk
Employees Staff well-being programs formulated EREMEREAS
by the Social Club committee through a All employees are entitled to direct access
bottom-up approach to their supervisor or higher levels of
o (EEERE)ANELA T management under our internal Code of
Internal monthly newsletter Connections Conduct
o WEBTHIFIRENER
Feedback on training from staff
HH o FEBHERM - AE AMRHEMEER - FHHE REB NSRBI
Media ERRSER Briefings and media interviews, e.g. on

Proactive media program with provision of
press releases, notices, announcements
and other relevant information

results announcements, etc.
EHGEEE R LB RE

Regular meetings, briefings and interviews
with media
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1 Buan

AMEBE—E——F+-B=+—HIEA~ERBPREz¥E
Results for the six-month period ended
December 31, 2011 announced

—F-=-%—-A+NA
January 19, 2012

4 B apr

Bl-pEROBE
(BHEERRBFAERNAELREMS)

Latest time to lodge transfers (for attending
and voting at Annual General Meeting)

EERERNBFEER
(RHEERRBFAERRELREMS)
Share Register closed (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

RRBFRES

(AEFFSHLRREEN E2RRBEFAEES)
Annual General Meeting

(Details are set out in the Notice of Annual
General Meeting accompanying this Report)

BHIEMERGBE (MARHPREMS)

Latest time to lodge transfers (for final dividend)

EEnERMBFER (RRBREMS)
Share Register closed (for final dividend)

—E-"FWHWAt+=H
THFOUE=1T5
4:30 p.m. on April 13, 2012

—E-—_FHWA+ABE+NA
(BEEMXEREEA)

April 16 to 18, 2012

(both days inclusive)

“E-“HWA+NR
EFT—KIE
11:00 a.m. on April 18, 2012

—E-CZHFWNA=+=H
TFEE=+5
4:30 p.m. on April 23, 2012

—E-—FNA=+mAE
April 24, 2012

5 Amav
IR EZE AR E

Proposed final dividend payable

—E2-—FHANEH
May 8, 2012
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Exceeding Compliance Requirements

As good corporate citizens, we comply fully with, and in many cases
exceed, the Code Provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code”) as stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Our Strong Belief in Governance

Hang Lung firmly believes that strong governance is the foundation
to delivering the corporate objective of maximizing return on a
sustainable basis to its stakeholders over the long term. The core
of the governance structure is an effective and qualified Board of
Directors (the “Board”) which is committed to maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance, sound internal control and
effective risk management to enhance transparency, accountability,
integrity and honesty, in order to earn the confidence from our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

EERRE

Corporate Governance Structure

BRREHMEDE

Shareholders and
Other Stakeholders

#EHBE  Transparency

DER

Nt L] /.

External Auditor

NAWE

Company Secretary

Integrity

RIEM  Accountability
HHE Honesty

EER
Board of
Directors

\ FRERE

A P2 5t AR
Audit Committee Internal Auditor
RENFHEZES

Nomination and

Remuneration
mE A .
HITEREE Committee

Executive Committee

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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A Sound Corporate Culture

As good governance is essential to corporate success, we instill
the core principle of good corporate governance into our corporate
culture through leadership by example, training and effective internal
controls. A sound governance culture starts from the root. Hang
Lung maintains an unparalleled code of conduct (the “Code of
Conduct”) which every staff and supplier would be made aware of
and required to adhere to.

Professional and Responsible Management

The Board comprises professionals from different facets of society
who brought in a wide range of business and financial experience
and expertise to the Board. The Board includes a balanced
composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors so that there
is a strong independent element on the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgment. To improve on the function of the
Board, three committees, namely the Executive Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee had been
set up to take up different responsibilities.

Prudent Risk Management

The Group recognizes the various risk factors it will face in the
operation, and properly deals with them in a manageable manner by
setting a good internal control environment.

EEEEERAR —ZT——FFR



UTAERMOCES AERBM ETmHR  The following are the major aspects in which our corporate

BIMfss &8~ RIS 2 <Al governance practice exceeds the Code Provisions and

NEEBERETHRNEIEHE - Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.

i Exceeds

v BEERRBE_T——F+_HF Five Board Meetings (including four regular Board Meetings) were held
=+ —BENEAME (&8 during the six-month period ended December 31, 2011 (the “Period” ).
B RBITTHAREH EFAK
EEHEE -

v ERNIFFEREFHABIIENR A strong independent element is maintained on the Board as almost half
@%%  EEBBABRAMIBIL  of the Board is represented by Independent Non-Executive Directors.
TE/ = o

v EEEBENLINEEESMAGEL  Management is invited to join the Board Meetings, where appropriate,
REEREH  EESEMEE  to provide appropriate information to enable the Directors to make an
BHEBARMER TIELIRE - informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
WHEBITEERARN AR E SRR
= =
BEREM -

v RERFMEZEEMPMAKEY  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises only
RBIIERNTES - URERIE  Independent Non-Executive Directors to ensure no Executive Director is
FAATEFETSHBFTREFZE  involved in deciding his/her own remuneration package.

BT B A5 o

v BRZBEENMAKEY /AN The Audit Committee comprises only Independent Non-Executive
3'5{%?1%%?  MVRBEEBIIE R Directors, thereby guaranteeing its independence and credibility.
UNEWID

v BRZEERZMEERENIT  The Audit Committee met the external auditor two times during the
ERTFENT - BINEIZEED  Period without presence of the Executive Board members.
BITTMRZE °

v B-ZZ NG QARRAPBE  Since 2008, the Company announced its interim and annual results
i%@: —EAARNAHGEEHMEE  within one month from the end of the accounting period.

g °

v AFIHRARBESE - ZEFIB  Our internal audit department is independent of our operation and
VYRARE 2z HEEERZEE  accounting functions.

%% o

v %%ﬁ%fﬁ i EEREZEZESME  The Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee.

v OONERBE L ERRESEANE External auditor attends annual general meetings (the "AGM”) to
([BFERE]) BEIREAIER ©  answer questions from shareholders.

v REIB-NAAMEEFE KM —E The Company has adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994,
BRRFMBREENEEMNMEIRE  which is applicable to all staff and Directors. The Code of Conduct
SPEER o ZERIBARMIHRIR  contains our whistle blowing policy.

R e

v RREFSENERAE ZFERM - fEA  The Company continuously enhances its corporate website as a means
B EBBRZEE » VAT of communication with stakeholders. Principal corporate governance
FEIEMEEEARRIE - BF]  structures, newsletters and webcast of analyst briefing are available on
T R EEED M EMME - its corporate website.

LA BIEE -

v REHMRT —AFEZERB  The Company has published a separate Sustainability Report contained
T AERN T —F ——FF inAnnual Report 2010/11 and is available on its corporate website.
EW'E%WKQEEE’Mﬁ

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011 105



1 3k IR
Corporate Governance

(—)EER
1. AR INEE
EERRAENLBKE :

s MEHRITESF DA AREEL
£ BREEELE BREEER
MEZESRE

o —HIMTEE BREFRKL:
54

o MBBIUIIFATESE D HlRARH
Bt #EsEt  RERLLT
REHLZRE - REDABEEZ
Bk EXERYEB U BER
BT WAHRSEMRALEIBHE
BRREERIELER

ARTRERUBINESLEREE
B -
EEEE

o MRBBEEEL

s WEFMZERFRE

e MRESMEBRERTNEBNER
REGZHEIT R

o RN AMMEIEFIERES X
BEENEEROERIRE

AERENTEIZEEEZEERBAR
BICEBEE URTE2BEEEAA
REBEAEREBRL - EHRA - EaX
ERAURARB ZERBEMEAZE
T ZESEEREIZTHESEL
BEEMEENEEZTRAEEZE ' I
CESE2ME  ERARBFAEMKIOE
B FTAEEENARNAAREELR
NB AR A ETOBA R EMEKR
HHE o

106

() The Board
1. Composition and Functions
The Board currently comprises nine persons:

e  four Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Mr Philip
N.L. Chen, Mr William PY. Ko and Mr H.C. Ho;

° one Non-Executive Director, Mr Gerald L. Chan; and

e  four Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S. Yin,
Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Simon S.O. Ip. They
possess appropriate academic and professional qualifications
or related financial management expertise and have brought a
wide range of business and financial experience to the Board.

An updated list of Board members together with their biographical
details are maintained on our website.

The Board is responsible for:
° ensuring continuity of leadership;
° development of sound business strategies;

e  availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

e adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and
conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.

To ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and full awareness of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other
regulatory requirements, and especially the governance policies
of the Company, every newly appointed Director will meet with
other fellow Directors and key executives, and will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment. All Directors are required to disclose to the
Company their offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments.
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During the Period, five Board Meetings, including four regular Board
Meetings were held. Two Board Meetings were held outside Hong
Kong during two offsite Board trips. The Board visited Las Vegas for
studying world-class malls, and Jinan for the opening ceremony of
Parc 66.

Details of Directors’ attendance records during the Period are set out
below:

dE/BTeE
Meetings Attended/Held
RER
270 PN
ENZE®  Nomination & Bk
EER Audit  Remuneration BEAR
EE Directors Board Committee Committee 2011 AGM
BIFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BRHE SS.Yin 5/5 TERANA TEANA 17
BhE4 H.K. Cheng 5/5 2/2 11 11
Bréita Laura LY. Chen 3/5 22 7 1
HET Simon S.0. Ip 4f5 2/2 n n
FHTES Non-Executive Director
G Gerald L. Chan 2/5 TEENA TERN/A 01
TEE Executive Directors
BREIR Ronnie C. Chan 5/5 TEBN/A AEAN/A 1”1
B Philip N.L. Chen 5/5 FEANA FEAN/A 10
=iRE William RY. Ko 5/5 AHEAN/A AHEAN/A ”n
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All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board Meetings. Full Board or Committee papers will be sent to
all Directors or Committee members at least three days before
the intended date of a Board Meeting or Committee Meeting
respectively. Management also supplies the Board and its
Committees with adequate information and explanations so as
to enable them to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board and its Committees for
approval. Management is also invited to join Board Meetings where
appropriate.
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All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely information
in relation to our business and make further enquiries where
necessary, and they can have separate and independent access to
management. In addition, all Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board
for ensuring that procedures are followed and that all applicable laws
and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary is also
a source of advice to the Chairman and to the Board on corporate
governance and the implementation of the CG Code. Procedures
have also been agreed by the Board to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Under the Company’s articles of association, a Director shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract or
arrangement in which he/she or any of his/her associates is/are
materially interested.

We have also arranged appropriate insurance cover on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against them arising
from corporate activities.

2. Chairman and Managing Director
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and Managing Director to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive
adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in a
timely manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

° the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities;

° all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

° good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

° appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication

with shareholders and that views of shareholders are
communicated to the Board as a whole.
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He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent Non-
Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being present.
He is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board Meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda,
or delegates such responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company. He facilitates the effective
contributions of Non-Executive Directors and ensures constructive
relations between Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors.

Managing Director
The Managing Director, Mr Philip N.L. Chen, is a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company and is responsible for:

e  operating the business of the Company and implementing
policies and strategies adopted by the Board;

e the Company’s day-to-day management in accordance with the
instructions issued by the Board;

o developing strategic operating plans that reflect the objectives
and priorities established by the Board and maintaining
operational performance; and

e  ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control systems
and the conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws
and regulations.

The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
Company's various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
Board's approval, the management organization and internal rules of
the Company and recommends the appointment and dismissal of
key executives.

3. Independence of Non-Executive Directors

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors a confirmation of his/her independence for the Period
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we consider
the Independent Non-Executive Directors are still independent.
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To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board
for more than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice of the
AGM the reason why we consider the Independent Non-Executive
Director continues to be independent and our recommendation to
shareholders to vote in favor of the re-election of such Independent
Non-Executive Director.

4. Appointment, Re-election and Removal

In accordance with our articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-election
by shareholders at an AGM. In addition, every Director is subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and new
appointments to the Board are subject to re-election by shareholders
at the upcoming general meeting. Names of such Directors eligible
for re-election being accompanied by detailed biographies will be
stated in the notice of the general meeting.

Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors
are appointed for specific terms, which coincide with their expected
dates of retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

() Delegation by the Board

The Executive Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination and
Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999 and 2003
respectively.

1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee of the Board of the Company was formed
in 1989. Its members are all the Executive Directors of the Company,
who meet regularly to establish the strategic direction of the
Company, and to monitor the performance of management. Clear
terms of reference have been adopted by the Board, and guidelines
were also set up for certain issues requiring Board approval. Each
of the Committee members has full understanding on determining
which issues require a decision of the full Board and which are
delegated by the Board to the Committee or management.
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2. Audit Committee

An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999, which
now comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors with
appropriate academic and professional qualifications or related
financial management expertise, namely, Mr Simon S.0O. Ip
(Chairman of the Committee), Dr H.K. Cheng and Ms Laura L.Y.
Chen. Meetings are held at least two times a year for the purpose
of discussing the nature and scope of internal audit work and
assessing the Group’s internal controls. Separate meetings will also
be held with the external auditor (in the absence of management) as
and when required. The Audit Committee held two meetings in the
Period.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included the duties stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference; to seek any information it requires
from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate
with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice; and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise to their meetings
if necessary. Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to
discharge its duty.

During the Period, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia,
the following:

° reviewed and obtained explanation from management and the
external auditor on the results for the Period, including causes
of changes from the previous period, effects on the application
of new accounting policies, compliance with the Listing
Rules and relevant legislation, and any audit issues, before
recommending their adoption by the Board;

° considered and proposed to the Board the re-appointment of
KPMG as the Company's external auditor;

° considered and approved the procedures and guidelines
in employing the external auditor to perform non-audit
assignments for the Company;
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3.

received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the
Internal Auditor;

held meetings with the external auditor in the absence of
management to discuss any audit issues;

held meetings with the Internal Auditor in private to discuss
internal audit issues;

approved the internal audit program for the Period; and

carried out a review of the internal control system of the
Company during the Period including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programs and budget.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003, now
constitutes three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Dr H.K. Cheng (Chairman of the Committee), Ms Laura L.Y. Chen
and Mr Simon S.O. Ip. Regular meetings were held to review
human resources issues, including significant changes in the salary
structure of the Group and terms and conditions affecting Directors
and senior management. The Committee met once in the Period to
review, inter alia, the composition of Board members and Directors’
remuneration.

[ts terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as stipulated in the
Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the Period
included the following:

reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management;

determined the specific remuneration packages of all Executive

Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments; and
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° made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on the
following criteria:

o individual performance;

° skills and knowledge;

° involvement in the Group's affairs;

° achievement of business targets; and

° performance and profitability of the Group.

The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal and external
sources for evaluation of market trends and the competitive levels
of remuneration being offered to Directors and senior management.
Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to discharge its
duty. The Committee may consult the Chairman and the Managing
Director about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
other Executive Directors and have access to professional advice if
considered necessary.

4. Management Functions

Senior management includes Executive Directors of the Company
only. Their duties were explained in the paragraph headed “Executive
Committee” above. Key executives are responsible for the day-to-
day operations and administration function of the Group under the
leadership of the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear
directions to management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Company.
The types of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management
include implementation of the strategy and direction determined
by the Board, operation of the Group's businesses, preparation
of financial statements and operating budgets, and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. These arrangements will be
reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to our
needs.
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(l) Directors’ Securities Transactions and Share
Interests

1. Compliance with Model Code

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions by
Directors under “transactions in the Company’s shares” in our Code
of Conduct, which are on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has made specific
enquiries to all Directors and confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Code
of Conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

2. Share Interests of Directors
Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and our
listed subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited (“HLP"”) as at
December 31, 2011 are as follows:

RAF] 1B it E
The Company HLP

RIZHE RIBHRE
ARBZRE B PAE
RHEHE  No. of Shares BRHBEHE  No. of Shares
EEHE Name of Directors No. of Shares under Option  No. of Shares  under Option
BRRAR Ronnie C. Chan - 11,790,000 - 36,570,000
BRI E S.S.Yin - - _ _
PBREIE Philip N.L. Chen - - - 14,500,000
PREETR Gerald L. Chan - - - -
B;EH H.K. Cheng - - _ _
PREEtE Laura L.Y. Chen - - _ _
2R Simon S.0. Ip - - - _
={RE William PY. Ko 30,000 994,000 - 25,730,000
2= H.C. Ho - - - 5,600,000
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(IV) Accountability and Audit

1. Financial Reporting

Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements on a going concern basis, with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary. The Company’s financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules, Companies
Ordinance and also the accounting principles and practices generally
accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
prudent and reasonable. A statement by the external auditor, KPMG,
about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent
Auditor's Report on the Company’s financial statements.

The Directors endeavor to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

2. Internal Control

We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
The Code of Conduct details the Group's philosophy in running its
business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to monitor
the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its assets against
loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable assurance against
fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in failing to achieve the
Group’s objectives.

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing activities
of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives and senior staff.
Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital and revenue items are
prepared and approved by senior management and key executives
before being adopted. We monitor the business activities closely
and review monthly financial results of operations against budgets.
We also review and update the internal controls to meet upcoming
challenges.

\We take extreme precautionary measures in handling price-sensitive
information. Such information is restricted to a need-to-know basis.
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We maintain an internal audit department which is independent of
our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal Auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit program
based on risk assessment methodology was designed which
has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual basis.
On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his internal
audit reviews and findings with the management and obtains
management's responses on various issues. Internal audit reports
are prepared for the Audit Committee every quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the Internal
Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal audit issues.
During Audit Committee Meetings, the Audit Committee also
enquires on financial and internal control matters with the external
auditor. The Audit Committee has the authority to have direct
discussion with external auditor in the absence of management if
deemed necessary, and they meet at least once annually for this
purpose. One Executive Director is present at the Audit Committee
Meetings to answer enquiries from the Audit Committee and to
report to the Board on matters arising.

The Directors acknowledged that it is their responsibility to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems and to
review them twice a year. The Directors manage risks by strategic
planning, appointing appropriately qualified and experienced
personnel at senior positions, monitoring the Group's performance
regularly, maintaining effective control over capital expenditure and
investments, and setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all
Directors and employees to follow.

The Directors had conducted a review covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
Period, and were satisfied that an effective and adequate internal
control system had been in operation. Considerations are also given
to the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programs and budget. The Directors came to such
a conclusion based on the Company’s clearly set company policies
and procedures, specific limits of authority, budgetary controls,
regular monitoring of performance and the reports from both the
external auditor and the Internal Auditor.
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We identify the risk in land acquisition for future expansion, the
development into world-class outstanding properties that will let us
stay ahead of competitors, maintaining adequate financial resources
for the projects, constantly upgrading the functions and appearance
of our properties to capture the changes in market and trend, using
a centralized treasury function and limiting the exposure to currency
and credit risk, safeguarding our assets, maintaining adequate
insurance coverage, formulating an appropriate disaster plan
including a separate computer back-up site, providing appropriate
training and competitive remuneration packages to retain quality
staff.

The Directors confirm that there have been no major changes in
the nature and extent of significant risks faced by us from the
previous financial year, and the Company has the ability to respond
to any such changes in our business and the external environment.
Furthermore, there were no significant internal control problems
encountered during the Period. We closely monitor our system
of internal control, and received further assurance from the Audit
Committee that the internal audit function has been functioning
effectively. We have complied with the Code Provisions set out in
the CG Code in respect of maintaining an effective internal control
system.

3. Code of Conduct
We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994 which is
updated from time to time.

The Code of Conduct clearly spells out the Company’s stance, the
legal requirements, conflicts of interest, handling of confidential
information and company property, use of information and
communication systems, avenue for whistle blowing, fair trading
with suppliers and contractors, payment procedures, responsibilities
to shareholders and the financial community, relationship
with customers and consumers, employment practices, and
responsibilities to the community. In essence, it details the Group’s
philosophy in running its business and acts as a benchmark for all
staff and suppliers to follow.
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In order to monitor and enforce compliance to the Code of
Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards and
requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result in the
employee being disciplined, including termination of employment.
Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality will be reported
to the Independent Commission Against Corruption or appropriate
authorities. The Executive Directors will also answer directly to any
Board member for impartial and efficient handling of complaints
received from all shareholders and potential shareholders; customers
and consumers; suppliers and contractors and our employees.

Also, all employees who are above a designated level are required
to complete and sign a declaration form annually declaring
their interests, directly or indirectly, with the Company and our
subsidiaries and associated companies, so as to make sure that all
operations are managed in accordance with the highest standards of
practice and corporate governance.

4.  Auditor’s Remuneration

KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditor by shareholders
at the 2011 AGM until the conclusion of the 2012 AGM. They are
primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection with
the annual consolidated financial statements.

ZHAM A - N T INEAZEET RS 2 4B During the Period, the total remuneration in respect of services
(N provided by the external auditor is as follows:
BE-Z——F1+=A HEZ—ZTF+=A
=+—H 1k E BRI =+—HIENEA AR
Six-month period ended Sixmonth period ended
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
BEAET BEEET
HK$M HK$M
ETEZE RS Statutory audit services 5 4
T M E At AR 7% Tax and other services 3 1
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(V) Communication with Stakeholders

1. Shareholders

Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the Board and of
the Committees are normally present to answer queries raised
by shareholders. External auditor also attend the AGM every year.
Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the meeting. Each separate
issue is proposed by a separate resolution by the Chairman. The
meeting enjoys strong participation from shareholders.

On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than 5% of
our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the requisition
carrying the right of voting at our general meetings, our Directors
shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
address or by e-mail to our Company.

Our last AGM was held on October 18, 2011 at our registered office.
The meeting was attended by 170 shareholders present in person
or by proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had demanded a poll on
each of the resolutions submitted for voting, and the shareholders
were provided with detailed procedures for conducting a poll.
All resolutions tabled at the 2011 AGM, inter alia, adoption of the
financial statements, re-election of Directors, re-appointment of
auditor, renewal of general mandates and amendments of articles of
association were voted on by poll, and the results of poll voting were
posted on the websites of our Company and of the Stock Exchange
in the evening on the same day.
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The Board confirms that there are no changes proposed to the
articles of association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to
be held on April 18, 2012. The important shareholders’ dates for
the coming financial year, which include the Board Meetings for
the declaration of interim and final dividends for the year ending
December 31, 2012 and the AGM, are expected to be held at around
late July 2012, late January 2013 and April 2013 respectively.
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2. KEEH 2. Investors
RIE——F+_A=+—HZKEF Details of shareholders by domicile as at December 31, 2011 are as
B BT follows:
. 4
BRER BRE
Shareholders Shareholdings
A8 Bk BROEBE B
FiTIES it Domicile No. %  No. of Shares %
BB Hong Kong 2,194 9786 965,057357 7157
A A b, Mainland China 7 0.31 130,625 0.01
JRFT Macau 4 0.18 116,075 0.01
=y Taiwan 1 0.05 1,874 0.00
BN K P R Australia & New Zealand 5 0.22 28,200 0.00
MERKREEH Canada & USA 16 0.71 110,525 0.01
e South East Asia 2 0.09 34,000 0.00
TR United Kingdom 6 0.27 22,758 0.00
Hit Others 7 0.31 382,939,828 28.40
st TOTAL 2,242 100.00 1,348,441,242 100.00
o
RZE——F+ZA=+—HZKREHF Details of shareholders by holding range as at December 31, 2011
fREAERFBHT : are as follows:
@
AR5 * BHRE*
Shareholders* Shareholdings*
AE Bak BROEBE Btk
EREAR Holding Range No. %  No. of Shares %
1 —1,000/% 1-1,000 shares 423 18.87 245,172 0.02
1,001 — 5,000/% 1,001 — 5,000 shares 770 34.34 2,367425 0.17
5,001 — 10,000/% 5,001 — 10,000 shares 399 17.80 3,331,095 0.25
10,001 — 100,000/% 10,001 — 100,000 shares 597 26.63 16,590,443 1.23
100,000/% A £ Over 100,000 shares 58] 2.36 1,325,907107 98.33
@t TOTAL 2,242 100.00 1,348,441,242 100.00
4

BEZANTN\ELAPRELERIB RN T
T WEEMBZHREMARIA  AEBPRE

HREABRABEEECHAEARLELTA
BATBZERBEERERG
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Nominees Limited

incorporating, in their respective shareholdings range, 248 participants of Central Clearing and
Settlement System holding a total of 779,600,546 shares registered in the name of HKSCC
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at
the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

We are committed to disclosing relevant information on our
activities to our shareholders and investors through regular analysts'
briefings, press conferences and press releases, e-mails and our
website, apart from our annual and interim reports. All enquiries and
proposals received from shareholders, investors, media or the public
are responded to by Executive Directors, Company Secretary or
appropriate key executives.

The Company’'s information, including the terms of reference of
Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee, is
also accessible to all via our website. Hard copies of the terms of
reference of the above-mentioned Committees are also available on
request. Besides providing traditional financial data, our website also
contains the most current information including properties available
for sale and leasing, latest issued capital, updated substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares, newsletters, major corporate
events and frequently asked questions.
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BRECR e 4
Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan
EER

Chairman

Aged 62, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972, becoming Chairman
in 1991. He also serves as Chairman of Hang Lung Properties
Limited, the Group’s major publicly listed subsidiary. Mr Chan is
Vice-President of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong
Kong, Co-Chair of the Asia Society and Chairman of its Hong Kong
Center. He also acts as an advisor to the China Development
Research Foundation in Beijing. Mr Chan sits on the governing
or advisory bodies of several think-tanks and universities,
including the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
the University of Southern California, USA, where he received his
MBA, and Tsinghua University in Beijing. Mr Chan is the brother of
Mr Gerald Chan, a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

ERis B T4
Mr Shang Shing Yin
BIEER (BUFRNTES)

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 80, Mr Yin joined the Group in 1970. Holding various
positions on the Board, including Managing Director between 1986
and 1992, he has been Vice Chairman since 1992. He has over
20 years of experience in the fields of property investment and
development, and is a qualified banker with a Banking Diploma
from The Chartered Institute of Bankers in London, UK. MrYin also
serves as Vice Chairman of Hang Lung Properties Limited.
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PREG#R B

Mr Philip Nan Lok Chen
BEARE

Managing Director

Aged 56, Mr Chen joined the Company and its major listed
subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited, as Managing Director
in July 2010. Mr Chen has more than 30 years of management
experience, mostly in the aviation industry, acquiring a wealth
of experience in Hong Kong, mainland China and beyond. Mr
Chen graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1977 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree and holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the same university.

PR&ER B4
Mr Gerald Lokchung Chan
FRITES

Non-Executive Director

Aged 60, Mr Chan has been a Director of the Company since
1986. As co-founder of Morningside, Mr Chan has been active in
venture capital and private equity investments since 1987 He also
serves on the advisory boards of numerous universities including
the University of California, Los Angeles, Harvard University and
Fudan University. Mr Chan received his undergraduate training
in engineering at the University of California, Los Angeles, and
his Doctor of Science degree from Harvard University. He is the
brother of Mr Ronnie Chan, Chairman of the Group.
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EESE L exp2s  OBE  ATMHTL
Dr Hon Kwan Cheng GBS, OBE, JP
BN IEITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 84, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng obtained
an engineering degree from Tianjin University and a postgraduate
diploma from Imperial College, London, UK, of which he is a Fellow. He
is a past President, Honorary Fellow and Gold Medallist of The Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy
of Engineering Sciences, and past Vice President, Fellow and Gold
Medallist of The Institution of Structural Engineers, Fellow of The
Institution of Civil Engineers, UK, Honorary Fellow of The Institution
of Engineers, Australia, and an Authorized Person and Registered
Structural Engineer in Hong Kong, with a State Class 1 Registered
Structural Engineer qualification. Dr Cheng was a Member of both
the Executive and Legislative Councils and Chairman of the Hong
Kong Housing Authority. Dr Cheng is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited, Agile Property Holdings Limited
andTianjin Development Holdings Limited. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.
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FBR&M L
Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen
BIIERITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Ms Chen joined the Group in 1997 She has been involved
in the banking, real estate, and financial service industries for over
twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in the USA. Since 1993, she
has been a director of the Sterling Group — a private investment
entity managinginvestment portfolios in global capital markets, with
a special interest in emerging markets and high-yield products. In
recent years, her professional career has made the transition into
the development and management of philanthropic programs and
activities, and she is currently the Executive Chair of the Hong Kong
based ZeShan Foundation. She serves on the advisory councils of
the Hopkins-Nanjing Center — a joint program between the Johns
Hopkins and Nanjing Universities, the Asia Society Hong Kong
Center, and numerous nonprofit organizations. Ms Chen holds an
MBA from the George Washington University in Washington, DC,
USA, and a postgraduate certificate in International Banking from
the University of Virginia, USA. Ms Chen is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.

BHTEE cBE - AT#T
Mr Simon Sik On Ip CBE, JP
B FEITEE

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Mr Ip joined the Board in 1998. He is a solicitor and Notary
Public. Mr Ip has a distinguished record of public service. A former
Legislative Councillor, past President of the Law Society of Hong Kong
and a past member of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee, he is
the Founding Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Education, the
Deputy Chairman of the Hong Kong Jockey Club, a member of The
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment of Civil Servants
and he also holds honorary positions in two local universities and
Tsinghua University.
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SAEBXE
Mr William Pak Yau Ko
HITES

Executive Director

Aged 53, Mr Ko was appointed as an Executive Director in
February 2010. Mr Ko joined the Group in 1994 as Senior Project
Manager and was promoted to Assistant Director in 2002. He
was appointed as an Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties
Limited, the Company’s publicly listed subsidiary, in 2005 and is
responsible for project planning both in Hong Kong and mainland
China. Mr Ko holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and a Bachelor of
Architecture degree from the University of Liverpool, UK. He also
has an Executive MBA degree jointly awarded by The Kellogg
School of Management of Northwestern University, USA and The
School of Business and Management of the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. A Member of the Royal Institute of
British Architects and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects, he
is a Registered Architect both in the United Kingdom and Hong
Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ko practiced architecture in
the United Kingdom, United States and Hong Kong.

AZERE
Mr Hau Cheong Ho
WITES

Executive Director

Aged 52, Mr Ho joined the Group in 2008 as Assistant Director
— Finance & Administration. He was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and of its publicly listed subsidiary, Hang
Lung Properties Limited, in September 2010. He possesses over
20 years of financial management experience, having previously
held a range of senior positions with major corporations in the
United Kingdom, Australia and Hong Kong. He holds an MBA
from The University of Melbourne, Australia and a Bachelor
of Commerce degree in Accounting from The University of
Birmingham, United Kingdom. Mr Ho qualified as a chartered
accountant in England in 1986 and Australia in 1987
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Ms Bella Peck Lim Chhoa

Company Secretary, General Counsel and Assistant Director —
Corporate Affairs

Aged 41, Ms Chhoa joined the Group as Company Secretary,
General Counsel and Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs in
2011. She is responsible for overseeing the company secretarial,
legal and human resources and training functions of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, she was head of the legal department
and company secretary of two other companies listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for a number of years.
Ms Chhoa is a solicitor qualified to practice in Hong Kong. She
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
degree in law and holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited Financial Statements for the sixmonth period
from July 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011.

Change of Financial Year End Date

As a result of the recent change of the financial year end date
from June 30 to December 31, the Financial Statements and this
report of the directors now presented cover a sixmonth period
from July 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 (the “Period”).

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
and through its subsidiaries, property development for sales
and leasing, property investment for rental income, and other
investments. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) also operate in car park management
and property management, and through its jointly controlled
entities, are involved in the operation of dry-cleaning.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Group by
operating segments during the Period is set out in Note 3 on the
Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities
A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities,
together with their places of operations and incorporation and
particulars of their issued share capital/registered capital, is set
out in Notes 34 and 35 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the Period, and the state of affairs of
the Company and of the Group at December 31, 2011 are set out
in the Financial Statements on pages 140 to 218.

Ten-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last nine financial years and the Period is set out on
page 219.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK38 cents
per share. The proposed final dividend, if approved by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on April 18, 2012,
will be paid on May 8, 2012 to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on April 24, 2012.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the Period, both the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group's five largest suppliers combined and the
percentage of turnover or sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers combined were less than 30% of the total
purchases and turnover or sales of the Group respectively.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the Period are set out in Note 23 on the Financial
Statements.

Donations

Donations made by the Group during the Period amounted to
HK$1 million (HK$18 million for the year ended June 30, 2011
and HK$11 million for the sixmonth period ended December 31,
2010).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the Period are set
out in Note 11 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at December 31, 2011
are set out in Note 18 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization

Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the Period
amounted to HK$97 million (HK$152 million for the year ended
June 30, 2011 and HK$56 million for the sixmonth period ended
December 31, 2010).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at December 31, 2011
are set out on pages 60 to 68.
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Share Capital

During the Period, the issued and fully paid share capital was
increased by an issue of 123,000 shares (9,112,000 shares for
the year ended June 30, 2011 and 8,862,000 shares for the six
month period ended December 31, 2010) of HK$1.00 each for
total consideration of HK$1,162,350 (HK$132,692,250 for the
year ended June 30, 2011 and HK$129,925,500 for the six-month
period ended December 31, 2010) as a result of the exercise of
share options under the Company's share option scheme.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
Period are set out in Note 22 on the Financial Statements.

Share Capital of the Company’s Listed Subsidiary
During the Period, the Company’s listed subsidiary, Hang Lung
Properties Limited (“HLPL") issued 955,875 shares (18,782,500
shares for the year ended June 30, 2011 and 15,303,000 shares
for the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2010) of HK$1.00
each, fully paid, for total consideration of HK$15,851,750
(HK$335,112,060 for the year ended June 30, 2011 and
HK$282,155,320 for the sixmonth period ended December 31,
2010) as a result of the exercise of share options under HLPLs
share option scheme. As at the date of this report, the total
number of shares of HLPL available for issue under the HLPLUs
share option scheme is 99,819,390 shares, representing 2.23%
of the issued share capital of HLPL. The total number of shares
of HLPL issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
(including both exercised and outstanding) granted to each
participant shall not exceed in any 12-month period 1% of shares
of HLPL in issue.

Directors

The directors of the Company as at the date of this report are
listed on page 220 and their brief biographical details are set out
on pages 123 to 127 Details of their remuneration are set out in
Note 6 on the Financial Statements.
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In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr S.S. Yin, Mr Philip N.L. Chen and
Mr William PY. Ko retire from the Board by rotation at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of non-executive director and independent
non-executive directors are for specific terms (not exceeding 3
years) which coincide with their expected dates of retirement
by rotation in accordance with the provisions of the Company’'s
Articles of Association.

Mr Philip N.L. Chen has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a specific length of service, and which shall
continue until terminated by either party giving prior notice in
writing. Mr Chen will also be entitled to an ex-gratia payment of
less than one year's emoluments if the contract is terminated by
the Company on or before July 31, 2012.

Save as disclosed above, no director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service
contract with the Company, or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a director of the Company was materially interested,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during Period
or at the end of the Period.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at December 31, 2011, the interests or short positions of each
of the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO are as follows:

ANF (HR) EEtERRAR (F2)
The Company (Long Position) Hang Lung Properties Limited (Long Position)
BRI RIEHE BRT RiEHE
BAz TFREZRE BAz WREZRE
Aot (FtzE1) BAL (KtzE2)
REE %of No.ofShares RRBHE % of No. of Shares
Name of No. of Issued under Option No. of Issued under Option
EEnE L) Directors Capacity Shares  Capital (Note 1) Shares  Capital (Note 2)
BRRR BA Ronnie C. Chan  Personal - - 11,790,000 - - 36,570,000
BB - S.S.Yin - - = - - - _
Bt AA Philip N.L. Chen  Personal - - - - - 14,500,000
FEEN = Gerald L. Chan - = = = = = =
BEH - H.K. Cheng = = - - - - _
e - LauraLY. Chen - - - - - _ _
EH% - SmonSO.lp - - - - - - _
Sia fAA William RY. Ko Personal 30,000 - 994,000 - - 25,730,000
CER= BA H.C. Ho Personal - = = - - 5,600,000
B 5E
Notes
1. REXQARZROBEFENDESS
Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company
ﬁﬁ%éﬂﬁﬂﬁ:ﬂ&%{_
No. of Shares under Option SRGER
R A R2011F ZHEARTE R20115F (%) ZEBAH FEmA
(B/B/%) 7818 Exercised 12831 Exercise Price (A /8 /%) (B/B/%)
Date Granted As at during As at per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mmy/dd/yyyy) HE Name Jul 1,2011  the Period  Dec 31, 2011 (HK$)  (mm/dd/yyyy) (mmy/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BRAUR Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.45  05/20/2005: 25%  05/19/2014
=iRE William PY. Ko 494,000 - 494,000 05/20/2006: 25%
05/20/2007: 25%
05/20/2008: 25%
11/20/2006 BREAR Ronnie C. Chan 6,700,000 - 6,700,000 $20.52  11/20/2007: 10%  11/19/2016
=R William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 11/20/2008: 20%

11/20/2009: 30%
11/20/2010: 40%
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2. RBEERLEARQADZRODEAINNESE

Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Properties Limited

RIS 2 BB
No. of Shares under Option SREER
B A W2011E  ZHBERTE H20114 (B¥) SEmAH 28 A
(R/B /%) 7818 Exercised 128318  Exercise Price (A /8B /%) (R/B/%)
Date Granted As at during As at per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mmy/dd/yyyy) e Name Jul 1, 2011 the Period  Dec 31, 2011 (HKS)  (mm/ddfyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BRESR Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.20  05/20/2005: 25% 05/19/2014
ESt(shd William PY. Ko 1,330,000 = 1,330,000 05/20/2006: 25%
05/20/2007: 25%
05/20/2008: 25%
09/01/2005 ={aE William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 $12.35  09/01/2006: 25% 08/31/2015
09/01/2007: 25%
09/01/2008: 25%
09/01/2009: 25%
11/20/2006 RN SR Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $1714  11/20/2007: 10% 11/19/2016
=R William PY. Ko 3,700,000 = 3,700,000 11/20/2008: 20%
11/20/2009: 30%
11/20/2010: 40%
08/21/2007 BRER R Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 = 3,640,000 $25.00  08/21/2008: 10% 08/20/2017
={aE William PY. Ko 2,600,000 - 2,600,000 08/21/2009: 20%
08/21/2010: 30%
08/21/2011: 40%
08/21/2007 RS Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 - 5,600,000 $25.00  08/21/2009: 10% 08/20/2017
={aE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 08/21/2010: 20%
08/21/2011: 30%
08/21/2012: 40%
09/01/2008 OES=] H.C. Ho 300,000 = 300,000 $2420  09/01/2010: 10% 08/31/2018
09/01/2011: 20%
09/01/2012: 30%
09/01/2013: 40%
12/31/2008 PRARSR Ronnie C. Chan 9,240,000 = 9,240,000 $1736  12/31/2010: 10% 12/30/2018
St (shed William PY. Ko 6,600,000 - 6,600,000 12/31/2011: 20%
f[ZE& H.C. Ho 300,000 = 300,000 12/31/2012: 30%
12/31/2013: 40%
02/08/2010 BRES R Ronnie C. Chan 6,500,000 - 6,500,000 $26.46  02/08/2012: 10% 02/07/2020
=HE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 02/08/2013: 20%
02/08/2014: 30%
02/08/2015: 40%
07/29/2010 R e 1 Philip N.L. Chen 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 $33.05  07/29/2012: 10% 07/28/2020
07/29/2013: 20%
07/29/2014: 30%
07/29/2015: 40%
09/29/2010 fAEg H.C. Ho 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $36.90  09/29/2012: 10% 09/28/2020
09/29/2013: 20%
09/29/2014: 30%
09/29/2015: 40%
06/13/2011 RRAR R Ronnie C. Chan 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 $30.79  06/13/2013: 10% 06/12/2021
PREE£% Philip N.L. Chen 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 06/13/2014: 20%
= William PY. Ko 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2015: 30%
CES= H.C. Ho 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2016: 40%
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BRIAEFTIHES > WEARRESERHES Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company
ZEMBMEBANR_ZE——F+-_A=+—or any of their associates had, as at December 31, 2011, any
B AEARRG SREHEEAE 2Kk « 8  interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
AR DS EREE 2 SRR - debentures of the Company or any associated corporations.

B LA ERTutsh - RZEAR AE[AER - 42 Other than as stated above, at no time during the Period was the
AR EEMHEARBEEL TR ZH  Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
FARNBES (BEFRSEZEBEAMT/\  enable the directors of the Company (including their spouses and
B2 FL) AlEEARQRSEMEMEEE  children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of
Z RIS EREE MR © the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any

other body corporate.

FTEREREMATARD EIEE Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
B zERRARE Interests and Short Positions in Shares and

Underlying Shares

BEFEFEHIFE=ZA=1TNEHTETH As at December 31, 2011, details of substantial shareholders’
Fr2ERMATRsE  TERBRKEFES  and other persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests
& B EXVER B EHE L 2 Hi A+ 7 pursuant to Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions in
—ZT——F+-A=1+—H#HEALARQXAZ the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded

A% RABBR Y 2 AR KB 251540 in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO

T are as follows:
FERGSERRNHE
No. of Shares or BRITRAZEDL
Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
i3 (3#%8) (%#) (#8) (%#8)
£8 Name Note (Long Position) (Short Position) (Long Position) (Short Position)
REES Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 498,428,580 - 36.96 -
Cole Enterprises Cole Enterprises Holdings 1 498,428,580 - 36.96 -
Holdings Limited Limited
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 498,428,580 - 36.96 -
Kingswick Investment Limited  Kingswick Investment Limited 2 97965,000 - 127 -
Aberdeen Asset Management  Aberdeen Asset Management 3 188,865,454 - 14.00 -
PlcRHBEAT Plc and its Associates
Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.  Davis Selected Advisers, L.P 3 66,870,000 - 5.01 -
Bt 5
Notes

1.

WERG B —EEESMFE 2RH AR —#YD - FEBES L L AZIELES ZKILA  Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited BiZ{5rtE & 2 XA ©
These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited was
the trustee of the trust.

Merssion LimitedFBUENTNEN+ZENTHRE/\TERES - ERFATEENTER TG BEMH B R EKingswick Investment Limited
BA e

Merssion Limited held 498,428,580 shares, of which 97965,000 shares were held by its subsidiary, Kingswick Investment Limited.

Kingswick Investment LimitedfiF A2 NTtBEA+AERATRBHEBRERE Lt B EEZ %+ Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited
Merssion Limited A 2 MEATFN\ER+—_BNTEAENTRBRHDZHAE A -

The 97965,000 shares held by Kingswick Investment Limited were included in the above-mentioned number of 498,428,580 shares held by Ms Chan Tan
Ching Fen/Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited/Merssion Limited.

UL ER TR B IR S D PTAF A »
These shares were held in the capacity of investment managers.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2011, no other
interest required to be recorded in the register kept under
Section 336 of the SFO has been notified to the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the usual course of business are set out in Note 29 on the
Financial Statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Period.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Corporate Governance
The Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 103 to 122.

Auditor
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of
the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Bella Peck Lim Chhoa
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, January 19, 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Lung Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 140 to 218, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at December 31, 2011, the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the sixmonth period then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. \WWe do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at December 31, 2011 and of the Group's profit and cash flows
for the sixmonth period then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

January 19, 2012
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HE-Z—F+=—A=1+—HIt/~EA For the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011

BZ #HE HE
—E——F —T——F —E-TF
+=H=+—H ~NA=tH | +=A=+—8
1E7<E B H+=fEA LE7~{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
ffsF  December 31, June 30, | December 31,
WA BEBITHE in HK$ million Note 201 2011 2010
gy Turnover 3(a) 3,361 5,714 2,789
Hiplg A Other income 4 219 252 93
BEERANEEER Direct costs and operating expenses (708) (1,138) (528)
THEH Administrative expenses (300) (490) (351)
KT AR EWMEZ A TE Operating profit before change
HHH S EET) in fair value of investment properties 2,572 4,338 2,003
AN Increase in fair value
of investment properties il 953 3,604 2,357
DEtAREME Y, ATE  Operating profit after change
FHMEEET in fair value of investment properties 3,525 7842 4,360
HBER Finance costs 5 (149) (139) (66)
=Nl Share of profits of jointly
controlled entities 13 241 290 88
BRA A& F Profit before taxation 3(@) &5 3,617 7993 4,382
WA Taxation 7(a) (580) (1,117) (552)
RH)EEE T Profit for the period/year 3,037 6,876 3,830
FE(R AR - Attributable to:
FED Shareholders 23 1,578 3,529 1,901
EIS il gra Non-controlling interests 24 1,459 3,347 1,929
3,037 6,876 3,830
EREF Earnings per share 10(a)
E-WiN Basic $1.17 $2.62 $1.41
e Diluted $1.16 $2.60 $1.40

MG RMF DA BI®EK 2 —2H ©  The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
B RS SR B (G AR B EF 5 A BT 79 © Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the profit for the period are set out in note 9.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE-Z—F+=—A=1+—HIt/~EA For the sixmonth period ended December 31, 2011

BE #HE HE
—B——fF 25 2T
+=H=+—H ~NA=+H | +t=ZA=1+—H
1E7RfE A H+=fEA LE7~{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
ffsF  December 31, June 30, | December 31,
WA BEBITHE in HK$ million Note 201 2011 2010
AH S EERR Profit for the period/year 3,037 6,876 3,830
Hip2mEKE Other comprehensive income 7(d)
A4 AR ERER  Decrease of share of capital reserves
i of jointly controlled entities (1) - -
RELERKEES FE Net movement in investment
revaluation reserve (16) (1 2
BREBINIBATIBRIBES  Exchange difference arising from
ZERER translation of overseas subsidiaries 1,825 2,946 1,474
1,808 2,945 1,476
K FER2HEWUEESE  Total comprehensive income for
the period/year 4,845 9,821 5,306
EEEmkmAsE ! Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
FED Shareholders 2,561 4,905 2,658
FEE R RS Non-controlling interests 2,284 4,916 2,748
4,845 9,821 5,306

BB RERWN D AT BHRERZ — 8D
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R=—Z——F+— H=+—H At December 31, 2011

R-ZE——F RIZE—F | RZZT—ITF
+=H=+—H ANA=ZTH | TZA=1+—H
Bizf  December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB EE T E in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
FRBEE Non-current assets
BEEE Fixed assets
BB Investment properties 101,833 94,003 91,903
BRPREDE Investment properties under
development 23,613 21,624 19,056
HiETEE Other fixed assets 226 213 180
1 125,672 115,740 111,139
BENAEE Interest in jointly controlled entities 13 2,152 1,982 1,832
HEm&E Other assets 14 1,697 2,130 2,119
EILFIEEE Deferred tax assets 20(b) 45 45 39
129,566 119,897 115,129
REEE Current assets
e LRI Cash and deposits with banks 15 26,149 28,274 24,903
JE LA B 2 K2 Lt FE L 3R Trade and other receivables 16 779 1,202 380
HipEE Other assets 14 449 _ _
FeEmE Properties for sale 17 6,145 5,994 5,930
33,5622 35,470 31,213
wEaE Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 5,400 7,500 9,100
JERBRT M E b FEAT X Trade and other payables 19 4,134 3,709 3,797
JERITRLIA Taxation payable 20(a) 455 1,231 1,147
9,989 12,440 14,044
RBEEFE Net current assets 23,533 23,030 17169
EEAERREBAERE Total assets less current liabilities 153,099 142,927 132,298
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 22,294 13,401 6,462
REBARIE Finance lease obligations 21 = 35 104
EAEFIERE Deferred tax liabilities 20(b) 9,637 9,294 8,933
31,931 22,730 15,499
EEFE NET ASSETS 121,168 120,197 116,799
EARRHE Capital and reserves
B A Share capital 22 1,348 1,348 1,348
(E Reserves 23 59,162 57624 55,604
e RS Shareholders’ equity 60,510 58,972 56,952
FEiE R Non-controlling interests 24 60,658 61,225 59,847
R TOTAL EQUITY 121,168 120,197 116,799
PR R % Philip N.L. Chen
ERBKE Managing Director
CEA=] H.C. Ho
HITESR Executive Director

AR M T AN Mk 2 —
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

R=—Z——F+— H=+—H At December 31, 2011

R-ZE——F RIZE—F | RZZT—ITF
+=H=+—H ANA=ZTH | TZA=1+—H
Bizf  December 31, June 30, December 31,
A EBITHE in HK$ million Note 2011 2011 2010
FRBEE Non-current assets
MBI Interest in subsidiaries 12 14,721 14,133 12,963
REBEE Current assets
e RIBRITER Cash and deposits with banks = 77 -
REBEE Current liabilities
JER BRI M E TR Trade and other payables 6 7 5
RE (BB EETE Net current (liabilities)/assets (6) 70 (5)
EEAERAREARE Total assets less current liabilities 14,715 14,203 12,958
FREEE Non-current liabilities
eI B R RIZIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 443 323 300
BEEFE NET ASSETS 14,272 13,880 12,658
BEXK Capital and reserves
AR Share capital 22 1,348 1,348 1,348
(A Reserves 23 12,924 12,532 11,310
s TOTAL EQUITY 14,272 13,880 12,658
R 7 4% Philip N.L. Chen
EREKE Managing Director
(CEA=] H.C. Ho
HITEER Executive Director

ISR M T AR BIRER Z — 7D °

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-ZT——F+=-H=+—HIt/"AA For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011

TR Shareholders' equity

, SRS
e Bl REET Non- e
Share Other Retained &% controlling Total
capital TeSErves profits Total interests equity
(Wak22)  (Wskos)  (W3E23) (MzE24)
NAKRELHE in HK$ million Note 22 (Note23)  (Note23) (Note 24)
RZE-2FtA-H At July 1, 2010 1,339 3973 47661 52973 49372 102,345
RERRN Profit for the year - - 3529 3,529 3347 6876
REMERELDTE Net movement in investment
revaluation reserve - (1) - (1) - (1)
BEBNIBLAREEE Exchange difference arising from
ERZE translation of overseas subsidiaries - 1377 - 1377 1,569 2,946
gyl eyt Total comprehensive income for the year - 1376 3,529 4,905 4916 9,82
EERAHRE Final dividends in respect of previous year - - (767) (767) - (767)
REEPERE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - (256) (256) - (256)
Bk Issue of shares 9 124 - 133 - 13
[EEEER Employee share-based payments - (4) 2 2) 115 3
—HNEARRERNDT Change in non-controlling interests
EEFERERE arising from placement of
a subsidiary's shares - 2,067 - 2,067 8829 10,89
AAEEA-FNERFIZRE  Change in non-controling
RO MEEEERERSE) interests arising from
decrease of the Group's
shareholding in a subsidiary - 81) - (81) 70 (1)
B ERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - (1489) (1489)
[EETHERERE Repayment to non-controlling interests - - - - (588) (588)
HoE—FAA=1ER Atdune 30, 201 and Jy 1, 201 1348 85 50169 S92 6125 120197
“E——5tA-H
REEH Profit for the period - - 1578 1578 1459 3,037
il N A YN Decrease of share of capital reserves
ZED of jointly controlled entities - (1) - (1) - (1)
REREREZDTE Net movernent in investment
revaluation reserve - (16) - (16) - (16)
BEBINHBARREES Y Exchange difference arising from
ERZE translation of overseas subsidiaries - 1,000 - 1,000 825 1,825
FHEEYGER Total comprehensive income for the period - 983 1578 2,561 2,284 4,845
EERAHRE Final dividends in respect of previous year - - (769) (769) - (769)
kb Issue of shares - 1 - 1 - 1
[EEWEER Employee share-based payments = 53 4 57 49 106
ARERE—FINBARZRE Change in non-controlling interests
i‘ﬂﬂﬁﬁfkiiﬂ Hﬂ&‘“ arising from increase of the Group's
shareholding in a subsidiary - (312) - (312) (1,696) (2,008)
BRERERRE Dividends paid to non-controling interests - = = = (1191) (1,191)
B PR ERTR Repayment to non-controling interests - - = - (13) (13)
R-B——F+-fA=1+-R At December 31, 2011 1,348 8,180 50,982 60,510 60,658 121,168

B MERME TR B]RER 2 — 87
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE—Z—F+=—A=+—HIt/~EA For the six-month period ended December 31, 2011

HECE—-% HEC D% HE-T-%F
TZA=t—-RHItNEA NA=THIET=(EA +=R=t—RI\EAR
HizE Period ended Year ended Period ended

WAEERETTE in HK$ million Note December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011 December 31, 2010
feEy Operating activities
RELEEH RS Cash generated from operations 25 2,297 5,620 3,661
BIHE Tax paid
BREBHE m Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (1,064) (236) (236)
B AHEATEE China Income Tax paid (176) (479) (189)
RE *“‘%Iﬁﬁziﬁé Net cash generated from
B operating activities 1,057 4,905 3,236
REEH Investing activities
BEETEE Payment for fixed assets (6,960) (6,324) (3,515)
HEETEEMSIUE  Sale proceeds from disposals of
fixed assets 3 1 -
BEEZISARE Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (13) (827) (827)
IS Interest received 188 M 45
BlRAELRRE Dividends received from jointly
controlled entities 21 37 9
BEARER Repayment from jointly
controlled entities 49 75 52
BUGEEMIRETER Dividends received from unlisted
RE investments (| - -
B /(312) Repayment of advance from/(advance to]
FETREET unlisted investments 1 (1) 1
W= AEEHE Decreasef(Increase) in bank deposits
BORERZED/ with maturity greater than
(1) three months 2,81 (7478) (5,850)
BRAREEE2HEFE  Net cash used in investing activities (3,889) (14,306) 10,085)
BEEH Financing activities
FERTERTESE  Proceeds from new bank loans 9,202 13,284 6,270
1 ggRTED Repayment of bank loans (2,500) (3,180) (1,497)
TERDEMERSZUE  Proceeds from exercise of share options 1 133 129
R &E’M*EE i Interest and other borrowing costs paid (218) (306) (17
BNRERNER Finance lease charges paid (5) (17) 9)
BIRS Dividends paid (769) (1,029) (767)
BRI Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,191) (1,489) (1,076)
BRI E **”IE Repayment to non-controlling interests (13) (588) (383)
EYNGE R I (Decrease)/Increase in non-controlling
(R /£ interests in subsidiaries (2,008) (11) 282
HEARRERD Proceeds from placement of shares of
Fiiasg a subsidiary - 10,896 10,896
WERNZ BRI Capital element of finance lease (64) (119) (57)
REREEH Net cash generated from financing
ZEEFE activities 2,435 17580 13,671
Iﬁﬁ&ﬁé%{*% (Decrease)/Increase in cash and
B /g cash equivalents (397) 8,179 6,822
E$§§JZE@ Effect of foreign exchange rate change 904 765 379
RtR-BzBEE Cash and cash equivalents at July 1 20,796 11,852 11,852
RESSEY
BW+=B=+-B/  Cashand cash equivalents at
~AA=TAZES December 31/June 30 15 21,303 20,796 19,053
RESSEY

B MERME TR B]RER 2 — 87

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(LAYS#E A 8517 ) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
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1 CHANGE OF FINANCIALYEAR END DATE

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company
dated November 27 2011, the Company’s financial year end date
has been changed from June 30 to December 31. The change is to
align with the financial year end date of the Company with that of
its subsidiaries established in mainland China, the financial results
of which are consolidated into its consolidated financial statements
each year, and their financial statements are statutorily required to
be closed with the financial year end date of December 31.

As a result of the change in financial year end date, the current
financial period covers a sixmonth period from July 1, 2011 to
December 31, 2011 (the “period ended December 31, 2011"),
and the comparative figures in these financial statements covers
a twelve-month period from July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2011 (the
“year ended June 30, 2011"). As the comparative figures are not
comparable with those of current period, financial information for
the sixmonth period from July 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010 (the
“period ended December 31, 2010"), prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), has been
disclosed for the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of financial position, the statement of financial position, the
consolidated cash flow statement and certain selected notes to
enhance comparability.

2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable HKFRSs, which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the principal
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. These new and revised
HKFRSs have no significant impact on the financial statements of
the Group for the period ended December 31, 2011 and the year
ended June 30, 2011.

The Group has not applied any new standards, amendments or
interpretations that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period (note 32).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the period ended
December 31, 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in
jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that

have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 31.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¢c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

De facto control exists when the Company is able to exert effective
control by holding a substantial minority interest in an entity of
which the other shareholdings are widely dispersed and thus unable
to coalesce to successfully vote against the wishes of the largest
shareholder.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net assets
of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by
the Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the period between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¢c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controller and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the changes
in relative interest, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly
controlled entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses (note 2(j)).

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company and
other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that
the Group or the Company and one or more of the other parties
share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method
and are initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group's share of the jointly controlled
entities’ net assets. The consolidated income statement includes the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly
controlled entities for the period, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the jointly controlled entities’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
jointly controlled entity, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. For this purpose,
the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method together with
the Group's long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment losses
(note 2(j)).

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and
is tested regularly for impairment (note 2(j)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognized immediately in profit or loss as
a gain on a bargain purchase.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased

goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Properties

1. Investment properties and investment properties under
development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or

held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or for capital

appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined

future use and property that is being constructed or developed for

future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the reporting date
and their fair value cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is recognized in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 2(q).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest
is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease, and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 2(g).

2.  Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs
include the acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of development,
borrowing costs capitalized (note 2(0)) and other direct expenses.
Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Properties (Continued)

3. Completed propetrties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total development costs,
including borrowing costs capitalized (note 2(0)), attributable to
unsold properties. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price as determined by reference to management estimates
based on prevailing market conditions, less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

(g) Other fixed assets

1. Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(j)). Gains or
losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
other fixed assets are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item
and are recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

2. Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed
period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance
of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets under
which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases of assets
under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property is classified as
an investment property on a property-by-property basis and is
accounted for as if held under a finance lease; and
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group (Continued)

- land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases,
the amounts representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or
valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it is likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(h). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are written off as an
expense of the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(i) Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Depreciation

1. Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.

2.  Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to write off the cost,
less their estimated residual value, if any, on a straight line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

(i) Financial assets

1. Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the
Group's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognized in the
statement of financial position at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment loss. Any impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired (note 2(j)).

2. Other investments in equity securities

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are recognized in the statement of financial position at
cost less impairment losses (note 2(j)). Other investments in equity
securities are classified as available-forsale equity securities and
are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. At each
reporting date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity, except for impairment losses.
When these investments are derecognized, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognized directly in equity is recognized in profit or
loss.

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets

An assessment is carried out at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that a current or non-current
asset, other than properties carried at revalued amounts, is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-forsale, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost is considered in determining whether the investments
are impaired.

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognized as follows:

- For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the

impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence
of impairment and measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective rate where the effect of discounting is material.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about events that have
an impact on the asset’s estimated future cash flows such as
significant financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent
period the amount of impairment loss decreases, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years.

- For available-for-sale investments, the cumulative loss that

has been recognized in investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative
loss that is recognized in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortization) and current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that asset previously recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment loss recognized in profit or loss in respect of
available-forsale investments is not reversed through profit or
loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets
is recognized in other comprehensive income.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

—  For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognized
as an expense in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of
impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts (note 2(j)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
losses for bad and doubtful debts (note 2(j)).

(I) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between costs and redemption value being recognized in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1. Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary
of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognized as deferred
income within trade and other payables. \Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognized in accordance with the Company's
policies applicable to that category of asset. When no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

1. Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognized as deferred income

is amortized in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as

income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions

are recognized in accordance with note 2(p)(2) if and when (i) it

becomes probable that the holder of guarantee will call upon the

Company under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on

the Company is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in

trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount

initially recognized, less accumulated amortization.

2.  Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. \When the time value of the
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognized in profit or loss as follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon the
later of the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue
of occupation permit by the relevant government authorities, which
is taken to be the point in time when the risks and rewards of
ownership of the property have passed to the buyer.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a straight
line basis over the terms of the respective leases, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognized as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

3. Interest income
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

(r) Taxation

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.

When investment properties and investment properties under
development are carried at their fair value in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(f)(1), the amount of deferred tax
recognized is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognized
is measured based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends

are recognized when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognized.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the entity (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the
Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair values are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the reporting date. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognized.

(t) Related parties
1. A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

2. An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same Group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(vii The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in note 2(t)(1).

(vii) A person identified in note 2(t)(1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the Group’s internal financial reporting to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's various lines
of business and geographical locations. For disclosure purpose,
a reportable segment comprises either one or more operating
segments which can be aggregated together because they share
similar economic characteristics and nature of the regulatory
environment, or single operating segments which are disclosable
separately because they cannot be aggregated or they exceed
quantitative thresholds.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Employee benefits
1. Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-
monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes, including those payables in
mainland China and Hong Kong under relevant legislation, are
accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group.

2. Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is measured at
grant date, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted, and is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period taking into account the probability that the
options will vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
share-based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the period of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognized as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to share
capital and share premium, together with the exercise price. If the
options expire or lapse after the vesting period, the related employee
share-based compensation reserve is transferred directly to retained
profits.
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses according to the nature of
services and products provided. Management has determined three
reportable operating segments for the measurement of performance
and the allocation of resources. The segments are property leasing
in Hong Kong and mainland China and property sales in Hong Kong.

Property leasing segment includes property leasing operation. The
Group’s investment properties portfolio, which mainly consists
of retail, office, residential, serviced apartments and carparks are
primarily located in Hong Kong and mainland China. Property sales
segment includes development and sale of the Group’s trading
properties in Hong Kong.

Management evaluates performance primarily based on profit before
taxation.

Segment assets principally comprise all non-current assets and
current assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of interest in jointly controlled entities, other assets,
deferred tax assets and cash and deposits with banks. The
investment properties of the Group are included in segment assets
at their fair values whilst the change in fair value of investment
properties is not included in segment profits.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
(a) PEEXFERERE (a) Turnover and results by segments
2% Tumover BFATRA| Profit before taxation
Bz ) ) Bz S BE
“g--& 3% —5-%F| ZB--f _5—-F| —%%f
+=A=t-B  ~A=1HB [tZBR=t-RB |+=B=t-B »~A=tH [fZA=1-H
1 ) Iy )3 L7 EA 1 i I i flopy i)
Period ended Yearended | Period ended | Period ended Yearended | Period ended
December 31, June 30, | December 31, | December 31, June 30, | December 31,
WEKBETHE in HKS milion 201 2011 2010 20M 2011 2010
bk Segment
nERE Property leasing
-&% - Hong Kong 1,564 2973 1458 1,290 2438 1,19
—BE R - Mainland China 1,604 2,738 1,328 1213 2,136 1,064
3,168 571 2,786 2503 4574 2,259
NEHE Property sales
-&% - Hong Kong 193 3 3 150 2 2
P Segment total 3,361 5,714 2,789 2,653 4576 2,261
EMA Other income 219 252 %3
THER (FiE) Administrative expenses (Note) (300) (490) (351)
KT ARENEL Operating profit before change in
AT EEHNHLLET fair value of investment properties 2572 4338 2,003
RENFE ATEEN Increase in fair value of investment
properties 953 3504 2,357
-REEZNERE - property leasing in Hong Kong 655 2613 1,881
-RhER ERE ~ property leasing in mainland China 298 891 476
ABER Finance costs (149) (139) (66)
N Share of profits of jointly controlled entities pLi| 290 8
BALRR Profit before taxation 3,617 7993 4382

M : TRERRERERR—EZTREBEL (=%

—%/——FF: —{§-T=ARAT: %
T4 ATLAAT) - RERAAETEAD
B3 SRR BB AT EOBY  ARE
REEUEERSRE -
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Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payments of $106 million (2010/11: $113

million; 2010: $67 million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options granted
to employees over the vesting period and do not involve any cash outflow for the Group.
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(b) DEBEE

(b) Total assets by segments

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

#°& & Total assets

RZBE——8F RZT—F | RZZ—ZF
+=H=1+—H A~NA=ZTH | TZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B EE TR E in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
b Segment
MERE Property leasing
— &% - Hong Kong 56,857 56,165 55,295
— BT — Mainland China 69,554 60,774 56,204
126,411 116,939 111,499
MEHE Property sales
— &% - Hong Kong 6,185 5,997 5,950
DEbLEEE Segment total 132,596 122,936 117449
BENERER Interest in jointly controlled entities 2,152 1,982 1,832
HiEE Other assets 2,146 2,130 2,119
RIEFRIBEE Deferred tax assets 45 45 39
W& MIBTTER Cash and deposits with banks 26,149 28,274 24,903
BEE Total assets 163,088 155,367 146,342
4 HaWA 4 OTHER INCOME
&8 Group
BZE HE HE
—E-——F 25 2T
+=H=+—H ~NA=Z+RA | TZA=+—H
IEAREAR E+=1A 1E75EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B EE TR E in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
SRITHSUA Bank interest income 188 213 78
FEFREEHERIREFSUWA  Interest income from unlisted
held-to-maturity investments 10 il 2
HApFBUA Other interest income = 2 1
FHIREER ZBREHA Dividend income from listed
investments - 3 -
FELEMREBE 2BRBWA Dividend income from unlisted
investments 1" - -
MY (E8),/ W 5aE Net exchange (loss)/gain (2) 21 10
Hit Others 12 2 2
219 252 93
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

£ Group
HE BHE HE
—E——F 25 2T
Sr=JE == ~A=+H |+=A=+—H~
EAEA Et+=1AA 1E7~{EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
EBRETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BT R E M E kR T5I I8 - Profit before taxation is arrived at
after charging:
BRAEFANEEZRITER Interest on bank loans and other

REMBEZFS borrowings repayable within 5 years 152 153 77

BERTEREEZRITERFE  Interest on bank loans repayable

over 5 years 67 69 12
RMEMNER Finance lease charges 5 17 9
HEEMR AR Other borrowing costs 22 52 24
B A Az Total borrowing costs 246 291 122
o EERAERNE (M) Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (97) (152) (56)
HBER Finance costs 149 139 66
EHEMERE Cost of properties sold 16 - _
BINRA  BiEEEREER Staff costs, including employee

—RBEAEEL(ZE—Z/ share-based payments of

—FF:—EB-T=@a&mx:  $106 milion (2010/11: $113 million;

—T-TF XTHEER) 2010: $67 million) 419 773 452
e Depreciation 16 27 11
EEROER RIS Operating lease charges, including

—FT-EEx(Z2—%/ contingent rentals of $12 million

——EE: ZFTREET (2010/11: $25 million;

T —T=RET) 2010: $13 million) 56 113 56
ZEREN & Auditors’ remuneration

— ZERT — audit services 5 10 4

— R E AR — tax and other services 3 3 1

WEEFA and after crediting:
BEWEZHSWALEE - 230 Gross rental income from

BREERIEAESATRAEET investment properties less direct

(=% /—FE: outgoings of $665 million

T—E=FT+BET: (2010/11: $1,137 million;

—E-EF HEZTtEE 2010: $527 million), including

7T) BESAMEE—EET/N contingent rentals of $176 million

BET(-E-T/ (2010/11: $310 million;

——FE:ZE—TE: 2010: $147 million) 2,503 4,574 2,259

—T-FF: —EOTLRE

)

BRAYEZEERFEREFASZ—HN

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

(2-2/——%F: BHZ-H\: %
—BF:BHZ-HE) ZTHRERL -

2010: 1.5%) per annum for properties under development.

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 1.9% (2010/11: 1.8%;
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6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the Directors’ remuneration
packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of Directors
are determined by the scope of responsibility and accountability,
and individual performance of directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and profitability, market practice and
prevailing business conditions.

(a) E=EN<E (a) Directors’ emoluments
SEMEEYINT Details of directors’ emoluments are summarized below:
S Bz
iR REESRK —E--% —E——F%
WABRETHE in HKS million RENFE fitElzfs +=A=t-R AA=TH
Salaries, Group's 15972 5= Ry 3
allowances FEA  contributions Period ended  Year ended
#%  andbenefits  Discretionary  toretirement December 31, June 30,
#4 Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 201 201
HTES Executive Directors
REUR Ronnie C. Chan 04 1.0 45 11 17.0 317
% Philip N.L. Chen 0.3 103 4.0 05 15.1 26.7
minE Wiliam PY. Ko 03 47 20 05 75 141
BE H.C. Ho 03 2.1 12 0.1 37 50
FHTES Non-Executive Director
RER Gerald L. Chan 0.1 - - - 0.1 0.2
BUFHTES Independent
Non-Executive Directors
BRinE SS.Yin 03 - - - 03 04
fadia Laura L.Y. Chen 04 - - - 04 07
e HK. Cheng 05 - - - 05 08
B Simon S.0. Ip 0.2 - - - 0.2 04
BES Ex-Directors
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen
(R=Z—ZFLATIEER)  (Retied on July 14, 2010) - - - - - 08
RIT Terry S. Ng
(R=F-FECA—THRHE)  (Resigned on July 21, 2010) - - - - - 06
BAIR York Liao
(R=Z——%—F—B#T)  (Resigned on January 1, 2011) - - - - - 02
ZE-—%#+ZA=+-H December 31,201 28 28.1 17 22 438 816
“EZ——ERA=TH June 30, 2011 45 535 19.4 42 816
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6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2010/11:
three) are directors of the Company, two (2010/11: one) are directors
of Hang Lung Properties Limited (“HLP") and there is no (2010/11:
one) exdirector of the Company. The emoluments in respect of the
other two (2010/11: one) individuals are as follows:

£ & Group

8= 8=
—F——F —FF
+=A=+-H AA=TAH
L~ {EA Et+=fEA

Period ended Year ended

December 31, June 30,

B B8R E in HK$ million 2011 2011
we Fees 0.2 0.2
e  RURBEYHE Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3.0 5.8
B ETEAL Discretionary bonuses 15 26
REFHRINGETE 2 Group's contributions to retirement scheme 0.3 0.6
5.0 9.2

(c) BRALBISI  ETEEREER
AN T R B R 1 EE Y AR D B RE AT
EERTROEE - ARFIRER
Hh EE I 2 AR 10 HA 4 S 1B R B 5
28(b) B EE o

(d B2=ZFE—F+=-_A=+—8H1
ANEAR=ZZE—FXXA=ZtTAHIE
TZEA - MERLAEERSR
T B X SRIBVE R RER (B 3k
RERSMBAEE -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

(¢) In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors and
employees of the Company and HLP were granted share
options under the share option schemes of the Company and
HLP Details of the share options granted by the Company and
HLP to the individuals are disclosed in note 28(b).

(d) During the period ended December 31, 2011 and the year
ended June 30, 2011, there were no amounts paid to directors
and senior executives above for compensation of loss of office
and inducement for joining the Group.
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(a) HFEBERAZHIES

7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

£ & Group
BZE BHE HE
—B——fF —E——F T
+ZHA=+—H A~A=Z+H | TZA=+—H
LERER IE+=1A 1E75EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
EBRETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
RERIA Current tax
BEFER Hong Kong Profits Tax 191 269 M
BEEERE T 2R Overprovision in prior years (2) (1) (1
189 268 110
BT EE China Income Tax 275 487 271
464 755 381
EERIR Deferred tax
REWE 2N FEES Change in fair value of
investment properties 74 222 120
HibJR A R BRI =5 Other origination and reversal of
temporary differences 42 140 51
A&t (MEE20(0)) Total (Note 20(b)) 116 362 171
IS KAt Total income tax expense 580 1,117 552

BERAMNESHBIERE DIRBARN 2 A5
ERBEFMABDZ T AR (ZT—
T/ ——FE BZ2tTAER: =T
—ZTF:\ADZTAEA)FE - HFH
FISMEBATRECEMEREEDZ
—t+R(ZE—ZT/ ——FE BHHZ
—+RZE—ZTF:BHZ=TH)
TE R ETERAMS R IRE AT X
BB RRRPRAMZINEHRE
THEERNR-_ZTEZENGF—H—HREAE
ZRAMKEZREHBRED ZAK
MTEIRFTISRL

(b) BE-F——F+-A=+—AI
AEAZEEA BATBENES
T(—E-F/——%FE:—TE
BB —F—FF LAET)
EE AR A B ARRFR -
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Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010/11:
16.5%; 2010: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
period/year. China Income Tax mainly represents China Corporate
Income Tax calculated at 25% (2010/11: 25%; 2010: 25%) and China
withholding income tax at the applicable rates. A withholding tax of
5% is levied on the Hong Kong companies in respect of dividend
distributions arising from profits of foreign investment enterprises in
mainland China earned after January 1, 2008.

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the period ended
December 31, 2011 of $9 million (2010/11: $15 million; 2010: $7
million) is included in the share of profits of jointly controlled
entities.
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7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

(c) FEXZH gﬁa BB ADEMGEREI®R  (¢) Reconciliation between actual tax expense and profit before
STEZ A taxation at applicable tax rates:
&8 Group
BZE HE HE
=F——F s —T-TF
+=-A=+-—H ANA=+H | TZA=t+—-H
1E7< 8 A IH+=18A LE7<{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
A BBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
BRA A& F Profit before taxation 3,617 7993 4,382
RSB B AR A B R R E Tax on profit before taxation at
Z I8 applicable rates 742 1,619 893
JEFERFUN A 7 BiTE R & Tax effect of non-taxable income (150) (515) (337)
A B2 Ay 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 19 30 18
REFER 2z BsERREdm] Tax effect of tax losses utilized and
HREHEERE 7 RIBTE other deductible temporary differences (55) (80) (69)
KRR G EIE 2 Fiiag & Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 22 62 47
Hith Others 4 2 1
BAFTERE %R Overprovision in prior years (2) m (1
BRFIAS Actual tax expense 580 1,117 552

(d)

B/ %5RN Eﬁﬁﬂi@ﬂ& NPT (d)

There is no tax effect relating to the components of the other

RHIAB Y ER G E

8 MBERE(LALF

IR AF BIEARR R B REANZ
/Eﬂ‘f’ ﬂ/\:ﬁ%ﬁ(—? ‘F‘E/__
FE:THERATREST)
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comprehensive income for the period/year.

8 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLETO SHAREHOLDERS

Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of $1,160
million (2010/11: $1,455 million) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.
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9 KRE 9 DIVIDENDS
(a) &8 "FERE (a) Dividends attributable to the period/year
@
8Bz BE T
—E2——F —E——F —E—FE
+=A=+-A ANAZ+RH [+=A=1+—~
IE~EA H+=1EA 17~ EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
WEKBETHE in HK$ million 20M 2011 2010
BEMHREIREF RS Interim dividend declared and paid of
& (22T /——FE: $Nil cent (2010/11: 19 cents) per share - 256 256
A1)
REEE ABERAREBRE Final dividend of 38 cents
Fh=FTNl(Z2—F (2010/11: 57 cents) per share
—&F : At+H) proposed after the reporting date 512 769 -
512 1,025 256
O
i %%EH%T%E/)EZEEHW - WM The final dividend proposed after the reporting date has not been
REERZEE recognized as a liability at the reporting date.
(b) BE=ZFT——FA=+THILFE (b) The final dividend of $769 million for the year ended June
ZEEARTAEETREAKRERZ 30, 2011 was approved and paid in financial period ended

T——F+=A=+— R
ERRE (B2 ——FF
CREATLEETR) -
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10 BRAEF 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BREARNESAHFLZATEYE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based
sHE on the following data:
@
HE BZE BE
—E——fF —E——%F —TEF
+=-A=+-—H AA=+H | T=ZA=1—H
IEAREA IF+=18A 1L~ EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
WAEEBETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
PG ESRERREERT Earnings for calculation of basic and
Z 27| (B R G AnF]) diluted earnings per share (net profit
attributable to shareholders) 1,578 3,529 1,901
o
@
R 8E
Number of shares
HE BZE BE
—E——F —T——F —TEF
+=-A=+-—H ~NA=Z+H | TZA=+—H
IEAREA IF+=1f8A e~ EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
NEERE in million 201 2011 2010
RN ESREREF Z B0 Weighted average number of shares used
eS8 in calculating basic earnings per share 1,348 1,346 1,345
BESEREERN 2 Effect of dilutive potential shares
— RN EIRE — share options 9 1 10
PG EEBEERF 2B Weighted average number of shares used
IR & in calculating diluted earnings per share 1,357 1,357 1,355
®
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EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders which
excluded changes in fair value of investment properties net of
related deferred tax and non-controlling interests, is calculated

10 BREF @ 10
(b) BEREEERGEF (TEIEREY (b)
X RNFEES  WHHKRARELER

TH R IEPEfR RS ) 5T BT ¢

as follows:
BZE HE HE
=B % -2
+=ZHB=+—H ANA=+H | TZA=1+—H
1ERE A F+=fEA LE7~{EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB BETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
P ER FE(E AT R Net profit attributable to shareholders 1,578 3,529 1,901
REWEZ N ERE FE Effect of changes in fair value of
investment properties (953) (3,504) (2,357)
HEAREHIE & Effect of corresponding deferred tax 74 222 120
BERANIRENE L NTE Effect of change in fair value of
B e investment properties of
jointly controlled entities (172) (191) (40)
(1,051) (3,473) (2,277)
IR Non-controlling interests 473 1,677 1,166
(578) (1,796) (1,111)
PR B R (i B AR AT R Underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders 1,000 1,733 790

BIERRELHEARGEFFE 2SR EATF] The earnings per share based on underlying net profit attributable to

E shareholders are:
BZE HE HE
- —T——F —T——F
+=-A=+-—H ANA=Z+H | TZA=t+—H
1E7< 18 A F+=f@A LE7<{E A
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
2011 201 2010
EAR Basic $0.74 $1.29 $0.59
e Diluted $0.74 $1.28 $0.58
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11 BEEE - 58

11 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP

EREp
BEYE
Investment
KB properties
Investment under Hith =
A& TTE in HK$ million properties  development Others Total
FXAES(EE Cost or valuation:
N-E—-SF+HA—H At July 1, 2010 88,633 15,326 479 104,438
[ 5, % Exchange adjustment 1,741 750 3 2,494
NE Additions 166 5,407 68 5,641
HeE Disposals - - (2) (2)
NE(ERE AN Increase in fair value 3,463 41 - 3,504
R=ZZT——F,A=1+H At June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 94,003 21,624 548 116,075
kZF——F+H—H
T 5, Exchange adjustment 1,052 494 3 1,549
NE Additions 110 7,310 30 7,450
HE Disposals - - (6) 6)
NFEE Increase in fair value 945 8 - 953
#gA /(E) Transfer 5,723 (5,723) - -
N—E——F+-A=+—H At December 31, 2011 101,833 23,613 575 126,021
REE Accumulated depreciation:
RZE—ZF+H—H At July 1, 2010 - - 309 309
[E 5 A% Exchange adjustment - - 1 1
KEENE Charge for the year - - 27 27
A &R E Written back on disposals - - 2) 2)
RZE——F R A="1H At June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 - - 335 335
k=F——F+A—H
0 5 Exchange adjustment - - 1 1
REE Charge for the period - - 16 16
A HE#E Written back on disposals - - (3) (3)
W=ZB——&+=-A=+—H AtDecember 31, 2011 = - 349 349
RESE : Net book value:
R-—EBE——%+=-A=+—H At December 31, 2011 101,833 23,613 226 125,672
RZE—F R A="1H At June 30, 2011 94,003 21,524 213 115,740
BEEEEKANMESEEWT :  Cost or valuation of the fixed assets
is made up as follows:
—B——H+ZHA=+—H: December 31, 2011:
BB Valuation 101,833 23,613 - 125,446
B ANE Cost = = 575 575
101,833 23,613 575 126,021
—E—FR A=TH: June 30, 2011:
h1E Valuation 94,003 21,524 - 115,527
KAE Cost - - 548 548
94,003 21,524 548 116,075

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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11 EEEE —£8 @ 1 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
VI BREFEITHT - An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
REME KETRANE
Investment properties Investment properties under development
R=B--F WNZF——F| WZ3-3F| R=B-——-F HT—F| WZ%F-%%
TZB=t-8  #~A=FH |TZA=t-H |t=BA=t-B  A~R=fH |TZA=1-H
December 31, June 30, | December 31, | December 31, June 30, | December 31,
NASEETHE in HK$ milion 201 2011 2010 201 2011 200
FEREHE Long leases in Hong Kong 34,417 33,897 33,425 - - -
AREIREE Long leases outside Hong Kong 1,238 1,201 1172 760 3,348 3,118
BEREE Medium term leases in Hong Kong 22,135 21,938 21,554 - - -
e ke Medium term leases outside Hong Kong 44,040 36946 35,710 22,853 18176 15,938
RAREHR Short lease in Hong Kong 3 2 Y - - -
101,833 94,003 91,903 23,613 21,624 19,056
(a) AEBZEEMERBEEFREEY (a) The investment properties and investment properties under
¥R —_E—F+=A=+—H development of the Group were revalued as at December
2 — K& 4 Hr (B & E S R 31, 2011 by Mr. Charles C.K. Chan, Registered Professional
BRARzZFMESAE/ (E Surveyor (General Practice), of Savills Valuation and Professional
AE) REBRHLERMBEEEE Services Limited, on a market value basis.
HEITHE -
B/ FR AEEHESEENE During the period/year, an increase in fair value of investment
RERFIEEYHE 2 A FEE I properties and those under development of $953 million
BREF=Z=gBLT(ZZE—ZF /— (2010/11: $3,504 million; 2010: $2,357 million), includes $8
—FE: Z+TAEZTEENHEE T million (2010/11: $41 million; 2010: $35 million) contributed by
—E-FFE:_FT=EATER properties under development in mainland China, is recorded.
B) EPeERPBE A 2 %
BRAYENEENEET (ZF—
T/ ——FE WF—BEL:
—T—TF:ZFREET) °
REBREMEZREFEABRE The net book value of investment properties of the Group
BERERNFECEE - HRE includes an amount of $5,985 million (June 30, 2011: $5,899
FEAATNENTREET (= million; December 31, 2010: $5,848 million) in respect of an
T——FXA=+H: A+t NEL asset held under a finance lease.
Fha&gr: —E—FTF+=-_A=
+—8: A+ \ENFNABET) °
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11 EEEE - % (&) 1 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
(a) &) (a) (Continued)
REEHMEFTEE REFER The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group included
AR EBARBMEIEE 2 i long leases of $9 million (June 30, 2011: $10 million; December
EEEYNBEET (ZE——FRX 31, 2010: $11 million) in respect of land and building held in
A=+H:—F8rx: —_E—ZF Hong Kong, medium term leases of $8 million (June 30, 2011:
+ZA=+—RA:—F—8B&T) $8 million; December 31, 2010: $9 million) and long leases of
IAREABRINAR M ERE 2 + $32 million (June 30, 2011: $34 million; December 31, 2010: $26
WhEZEYNBETLT (ZE——F million) in respect of land and buildings held outside Hong Kong
ANA=tHA: \BBT: ZE—F respectively.
F+ZA=+—H8: hE8BT) &
R B RFER 2 - REEY =
FZEER (ZE—FXA=+
H:=FHa&r: —T—TF+
—A=+—RH:ZFREBT) -
MERENZBEREWEZAS Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income from
WABRE=T—FE~ATN\EBET investment properties of $3,168 million (2010/11: $5,711 million;
(=22 /——FF B+t 2010: $2,786 million).
—F—88rt: —F—FTF: =+
tENTFREBETL) °
(b) ANEBERBLEMBLOLHERIZEE (b) The Group leases out its properties under operating leases
BHODHEEYE - ZFBL—RA) and subleases under finance lease. Leases typically run for an
PR ERTF  HRPHEEE initial period of two to five years, with some having the option
BEY - [ERNENHEMEGRRK - to renew, at which time all terms are renegotiated. Long term
REBARTE S AEN R R leases contain rent review or adjustment clauses and the
BHEEZIGER  MAKESFHE Group has a regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each
— T HIMBLOEREL - 5 THE year. Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
HBFEXAES - H2RERZIK reference to the revenue of tenants.
AMETE °
REEER  AEEFRIREMERE At the reporting date, the Group’s total future minimum lease
BRHAREYE  REBETAIRE L income under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
FHAZR DR Z RRBERETELN of investment properties and investment properties under
T development were as follows:
okl H ML st
B EETHE in HK$ million Subleases Other leases Total
R=B——%+Z-A=t—H
December 31, 2011
—FR Within 1 year 185 4,763 4,948
—FHRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 856 6,194 7,050
FikE After 5 years 1,401 931 2,332
2,442 11,888 14,330
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11 BEEE -8 ®

1 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)

(b) &) (b) (Continued)
oKl HAAA 45T
BB BSITAE in HK$ million Subleases Other leases Total
R-_E—FA=+H
June 30, 2011
—FA Within 1 year 244 4,114 4,358
—FRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 46 6,826 6,872
TFE After 5 years - 2,512 2,512
290 13,452 13,742
12 fEBARIER 12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
72 7] Company
R=Z——F HT——F RZZ—ZF
+=-A=+—H NA=Z+H | TZA=1+—¢H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B BE T E in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
FE LT © BRAE Unlisted shares, at cost 181 181 181
FEULIH B A B 2B R RS Amounts due from subsidiaries
less provision 14,540 13,952 12,782
14,721 14,133 12,963
FEWB AR ZFHERSHAHIFE3S - Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

FEUH B A RIFR R EER - 2B NE
PREERE - mEEH

& E AN KK

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
no fixed terms of repayment and classified as non-current assets

interest free with

+@EAATEYE - HIEIERSNE as they are not expected to be recoverable within the next twelve
E e months.
13 & QAR 13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
£8 Group /A&] Company
RoB——F WF——F | RZ5-2F | RZB--F RT——-F| RZF-%%
+ZB=t-B  A~A=tH [tZA=t-B |t=A=t-B #~A=tE [t=A=t+-H
December 31, June 30, | December 31, | December 31, June 30, | December 31,
WEKBETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010 201 2011 2010
FLMRE AR Unlisted shares, at cost - - _ 5 5 5
EILEESE Share of net assets 1,504 1285 1112 - - -
1,504 1,285 1,112 5 5 5
JERALNAIZUE Amounts due from jointly controlled entities 655 704 727 2 2 2
ERAELAE Amounts due to jointly controlled entities (7) ) ) 1] 7) )
2,152 1,982 1832 - - -
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13 S8 NaER @
WAL ARREEESNTLEESE T

:T__¢AHZ+E-A$t§%
T —B-BE+-A=+—B: AT
tEEL) BE -BRATEtEETL (=
E——FNA=1+H: ATEtE&ET:

=F-FFT=A=4 8 ATLAE
BT MRIKA %A RFIER TSR

AN () /\M“Trﬂﬁi’]
AERW  REREREERY  mMEA
EHZEFAETENRE T @A WH&Z
|88 WIMEERBEE,BE

TEAERAZHAMERENKIEESS -
AREERAE QA 2 EENEBMEE
Fragaan s -

INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(Continued)

Amounts due from jointly controlled entities included a provision
of $67 million (June 30, 2011: $67 million; December 31, 2010:
$67 million). Except for the amount due from a jointly controlled
entity of $67 million (June 30, 2011: $67 million; December 31,
2010: $67 million) which is interest-bearing at market rate, amounts
due from/(to) jointly controlled entities are unsecured, non-
interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment and classified
as non-current assets/liabilities as they are not expected to be
recoverable/repayable within the next twelve months.

13

Details of principal jointly controlled entities are set out in note 35.
The summary financial information related to the Group’s interest in
jointly controlled entities are as follows:

@
RZE——F RZIZ—F | RZZ—ZF
+=-A=+—H ~NA=+H |+=ZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB BETE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
ERBEE Non-current assets 2,176 2.004 1910
MENEE Current assets 161 144 145
FRBBE Non-current liabilities (768) (804) (892)
nEaE Current liabilities (65) (59) (51)
BETAE Net assets 1,504 1,285 1,12
4
@
BZE BHE HE
—E——F 25 =T
+=-A=+—H ~NA=ZTH | TZA=+—H
IEAREA IF+=1f8A e~ EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB ST E in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
gy Turnover 115 200 93
ANER R Profit for the period/year 241 290 88
®
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14 HtEE

14 OTHER ASSETS

& Group

R-%——% R-%——%| K-% %%
+=-A=+-H ~NA=+H | +=ZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
WAKBETHE in HK$ million 20M 2011 2010
REBZ L HIRE - EHE Listed investments in Hong Kong
at market value 56 74 79
BAFLTRBEIEARE Unlisted held-to-maturity investments
(Fif5E(@) in Hong Kong (Note (a)) 898 863 849
ERTFIELIRE DN AIRBE Advances to unlisted investee
companies less provision 10 1" 9
EBREE (Mi7Eb) Intangible assets (Note (b)) 1,182 1,182 1,182
2,146 2,130 2,119
B BB IR —F2EE Less: Unlisted held-to-maturity
FELTHEIEREE investments in Hong Kong
(Pif3E(a)) with maturity less than one
year (Note (a)) (449) - -
1,697 2,130 2,119

Bt 5 Notes:

(a) R=ZF——F+=-—A=+—8 ' AEEHEEH* @ At December 31, 2011, the Group held investments in unlisted bonds which will mature
EHEFERE  WREBR =T ——FNAZE from September 2012 to December 2013. The effective yield of the bonds ranged from
:g—ii‘?':ﬁi @J,ﬁﬂ ° ﬁt%%‘#ﬁzi—%ﬁ 1.6% to 2.9% (June 30, 2011: 1.6% to 2.9%; December 31, 2010: 1.6% to 2.9%) per
NEEZHAE (= ixx A=+8: annum, payable quarterly or semi-annually.

BRNEE— Eﬁjlr —ZT&+=-A=+
=g ¢ ES/\E;EQ:—EﬁjL,_) 28 Bl as =5t
8 BFEENREFRSE °

(b) EFREERASEN_ZTNFLA—BZAl (b) Intangible assets represent goodwill arising from the Group's additions in equity interests
REMBRAFERMEZRAERMELEZRD in its subsidiary, HLP for transactions before July 1, 2009. As at period end, an impairment
B RFERN  ASEEEEREETED S test was performed by comparing the goodwill with its recoverable amount and no
BEARBERR - WESSRE - impairment was recorded.
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15 BERBITEXK

15 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

& Group

R=%——F R-F——%| R-F-3%
+=-A=+-—~H ~NA=+H | +t=ZA=+—H~
December 31, June 30, December 31,
BB BETE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
EEER Time deposits 22,178 25,848 22,102
BITER Cash at banks 3,971 2,426 2,801

AR RNE S Cash and deposits with banks in

KARITIER the consolidated statement of
financial position 26,149 28,274 24,903

B M=1E R B EERRERTTFER Less: Bank deposits with maturity

greater than three months (4,846) (7,478) (5,850)

RARERERNEER Cash and cash equivalents in the
HEZEY consolidated cash flow statement 21,303 20,796 19,053

REER  AEE RS RBITERE
FHMEREGEFESHLE (DT ——F X
A=+H :Z¥NhE: —T—TF+_
A=Z+—H:ZTZNE) 8 EEK
DU

At the reporting date, the Group’s cash and deposits with banks
were interest-bearing at an average rate of 0.7% (June 30, 2011:
0.9%; December 31, 2010: 0.4%) per annum with currency

denominated in:

R-B——F RZT—F | RZZ=—ZF

+=H=+—H ANA=Z+H | TZA=1+—H

December 31, June 30, December 31,

A BRBITHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
BEEE Hong Kong Dollars equivalent of:

AR Renminbi 21,457 23,731 16,864

B Hong Kong Dollars 3,531 3,075 5,578

Ein United States Dollars 1,161 1,468 2,461

26,149 28,274 24,903

AEBFHFARBRITEXRAENER  The Group holds Renminbi bank deposits to meet its ongoing
payment obligations in relation to its development projects in

PR ERIR R FHENNREE -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

mainland China.
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16 FEUR AR R I H 1 FE WK
(a) EBEFFARKERNHE MR FE
WRRREAERIOMTIAT

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a) Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables
with the following terms:

& Group

R-B——F RZT—F | RAZTZF
+=A=+-—H ANA=tH |+ZA=1+—¢H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
LEERETAE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
WEIR —EAA Current and within 1 month 68 29 39

—Z=1@A 1 -3 months 11
=ER L Over 3 months 3 3 2
75 43 47

RIEREBRBALTEKN - AEBEZE
EHEFHIEEIINMEEI0(C) °

The balance of bad and doubtful debts is insignificant. The details on
the Group's credit policy are set out in note 30(c).

(b) AKBEZHMEWRBEIE=/EZ/\ (b) Included in other receivables of the Group is deposit of land
BET(ZE——FXA=1TH: acquisition in mainland China of $308 million (June 30, 2011:
tEATFNEETL: —E—ZFF+ $798 million; December 31, 2010: $Nil).

ZA=+—H8: &) RPEAME
BEtoHe o
17 SEWHE 17 PROPERTIES FOR SALE
£ &l Group
R-B-——F RIB—F| RZFTFF
t=A=t+-B  AA=tA |+=A=t-H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B RETHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
FERREMYE - EHMR Properties under development for sale
—long leases
- &8 - Hong Kong 987 905 844
FEDERYE — R Completed properties for sale
— medium term leases
— &% - Hong Kong 5,154 5,085 5,082
— BB - QOutside Hong Kong 4 4 4
5,158 5,089 5,086
6,145 5,994 5,930

FEERTYVEXBHE -—FRE

IH o
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The properties under development for sale are expected to be
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18 RITER

18 BANK LOANS

NEER - IR ITER ZEZE At the reporting date, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as
T follows:
& Group
R-B——F RT—F| RZ-IZTF
+=A=+-H ANA=tH |TZA=1+—8~

December 31, June 30, December 31,

BB BETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
—FRNZLEIEA Within 1 year or on demand 5,400 7,500 9,100
—FREZFRN After 1 year but within 2 years 1,363 - 4,000
MFEZERFA After 2 years but within 5 years 18,997 11,838 1,396
AFAE Over 5 years 2,035 1,671 1,130
22,395 13,509 6,526

B KB MBER Less: unamortized front end fees (101) (108) (64)
22,294 13,401 6,462
27,694 20,901 15,562

HAR - rERITERGREEAEE+
BRHE(ZE— 2/——¢E P B
BEREANE —E—ZF: BEF=F

ERECE) FMEEFER -

AEBzETEERINMBEZORS -

% F R IR B SRR BRI 2
HEAREEFRENSER REEEER
/\ﬁﬁ/éE@EZttTTﬁ%ﬁA%ﬁn&K

F o #R AREEE2UTRERY
CEE
R=F——4+-A=+-8 &%

E#Et+—EBN T8 L (ZE—F
ANAZTHE: —EAE—+tAEETHEES
T —_E—ZEFF+-_A=+—H:—§8
E+ERATLEERL) ABANETE
HIEE

tEoh - ERME —H2EEEHNHEB
NABT—ABE-_tEETITHE
BEral (M5t8)) R ——&F+=
A=Z+—8 ANEEXREE T
TERZE(ZE—FA=1+H8:
) o

AR

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.5% to
75% (2010/11: 0.3% to 6.6%; 2010: 0.3% to 6.2%) per annum
during the period.

Certain of the Group’s borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group's consolidated
tangible net worth is not less than and the ratio of borrowings to
consolidated tangible net worth is not more than certain required
levels. During the period, all these covenants have been complied
with by the Group.

At December 31, 2011, the Group had $7280 million (June 30, 2011:
$11,944 million; December 31, 2010: $15,057 million) committed
undrawn banking facilities.

In addition, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HLP has a US$2 billion
Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”). At December
31, 2011, the Group has not issued any note under the Programme
(June 30, 2011: $Nil).

183



W B % W Rk

Notes to the Financial Statements

19 BENRIRHEAEARK 19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

& Group

R=B——F RZT—F | RNZZ-ITF

+=-A=+-H AA=+H | TZA=1+—H

December 31, June 30, December 31,

WAKBETHE in HK$ million 20M 2011 2010
R E B (M) Creditors and accrued expenses (Note (a)) 2,608 2,339 2,524
BUiRE (FIsEb) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,526 1,370 1,273
4,134 3,709 3,797

B 5E Notes:

(a) ERZEEFEREEBERN—FATSERN @ Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $266 million (June 30,
ZRBFREEASATAEELT (Z2E——FX 2011: $237 million; December 31, 2010: $550 million) which is not expected to be settled
A=+H: —B=FtBE&8L: —_E—ZF+ within one year.

—A=+—R8: AERATER) -

(b) BEREENETLtEELT (22 —F A= (b) Deposits received of $3907 million (June 30, 2011: $798 million; December 31, 2010: $736

+HB:tEBATNEEBT(ZE—ZF+_A million) are not expected to be settled within one year.

=t—B:tB=FTAREER) BHR—FA
PEER -

DEtABEMBEZ N EMEMNZZEREE  Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the
HEBRRSTAT : following aging analysis:

£ & Group

R=Z——F RT—F | RZZ-—ITF

+=-A=+—H ANA=+H | TZA=1+—H

December 31, June 30, December 31,

A EEITE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010
— & AREIE Due within 1 month 1,759 1,467 1,243
={@R%E3E Due after 3 months 287 250 557
2,046 1,717 1,800
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20 REFEEMBIRRER L 2B

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

(a) AEHIE (a) Current taxation
& Group
R=B——F RZ—F | RZZT-ZF
+=A=+-H AA=+HE | TZA=1—8H

December 31, June 30, December 31,
EBRETHE in HK$ million 2011 2011 2010
ERFET B Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 191 269 111
REIPTIS T EE Provision for China Income Tax 223 124 198

IAEEE Y EREERIER Hong Kong Profits Tax payable
relating to prior years 41 838 838
455 1,231 1,147

(b) EFERIE (b) Deferred taxation
£ & Group

R-Z——F RZE—%F RZZ—ZF
+=-A=+-H ~NA=+H | +t=ZA=+—H
December 31, June 30, December 31,
WAEEBETHE in HK$ million 20M 2011 2010
ELERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 9,637 9,294 8,933
RIEF B & B Deferred tax assets (45) (45) (39)
EEHIEEEFRE Net deferred tax liabilities 9,592 9,249 8,894

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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20 RZEMBMRRREZBIE
(#)

(b) EFERIE ()

REAHBERAR LR ZELEHRER

& CEE) WEAKKEE FRZ&

W

20 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred taxation (Continued)

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized in the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the period/year are as follows:

ERIE
gl
NS EELHE in HK$ million e ARBER
Depreciation EEZ
allowances WEE( RS
inexcess  Revaluation Future
of related of benefit of Ht &
ERTIEEER Deferred tax arising from: depreciation properties tax losses Others Total
RZZ-ZEt+A—-H At July 1, 2010 1,145 7,321 (40) 69 8,495
RIE S BRI Charged to exchange reserve 39 353 - - 392
RBRNIR /(BA) Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss (Note 7(al) 124 222 (5) 21 362
(M3t70)
WZB——F7A=THK  AtJune 30,2011 and July 1, 2011 1,308 7,89 (45) 90 9,249
“T—F+A-A
RE R REEATR Charged to exchange reserve 2 203 - - 227
BRI (F3E7E) Charged to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) 33 74 - 9 116
WZZE——F+=H=+—H AtDecember 31,2011 1,365 8,173 (45) 99 9,592

(c) RERZELEREEE

REBEHAGRE THBAREERREL
EHW=+REBN\TEtEET (ZE—%F
ANA=Zt+H: ZtThAE=ZFTHREE&T
—T-TFE+-A=+—8: Zt+E
—TRBET) MEEBREENIRT
MBEEELER BAR-T——F
+ZA=+—8  AREREEHEEE
WABERREFDIEE - LEBE
BB BEENBE R EAR LI K
By - i A B P b SE S 9 B RS IS 1R B R
S LR AFERE -

186

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses of $3,087 million (June 30, 2011: $2,925 million; December
31, 2010: $2,616 million) sustained in the operations of certain
subsidiaries as the availability of future taxable profits against which
the assets can be utilized is not probable at December 31, 2011. The
tax losses arising from Hong Kong operations do not expire under
current tax legislation. The tax losses arising from the operations in
mainland China expire five years after the relevant accounting year
end date.

EEEEERAF —T— —F4H



21 BMEHEOEIE 21 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
MEMYZLEN2HEBFENLEIRE  Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their

L X J

(X

wn present values are as follows:
£ & Group
RO
o AR RO
ZEE FEFTA i
Present ZHE pok]
value of Interest Total
minimum expenses minimum
lease relating to lease
payments future periods payments
R=Z——F+=HA=+—H
BB ETHE in HK$ million December 31, 2011
BN a5 Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 104 3 107
RZT—FA=1+H
AT ST E in HK$ million June 30, 2011
BN S Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 133 8 141
—FRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 35 - 35
168 8 176
W-2—FF+-A=+—H
AT ETTAE in HK$ million December 31, 2010
B¢ Amounts payable
—EN Within 1 year 126 12 138
—FHRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 104 3 107
230 15 245

BMEBNEREZERFFEALE (= The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is 7%
T——FRA=1+H: EE: ZF—F (June 30, 2011: 7%; December 31, 2010: 7%) per annum.
F+ZA=+—H:tE)-
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22 B 22 SHARE CAPITAL
R=F—-%F RZZ2——F i i3
t=A=t+-H ~A=TA +ZR=+-H
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011 December 31, 2010
Eo#E  RAeE  ROEE  REE| ROEE  REEE
Number of  Amountof ~ Numberof ~ Amountof [ Numberof  Amount of
shares share capital shares  share capital shares  share capital
(RER) (BBR) (B8R) (BA8n)| (ABR) (BB
(Million)  ($Million) (Million) ($Million) (Million) ($Million)
ETE Authorized
BREE—T Shares of $1 each 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
BRETRAR Issued and fully paid
WtA—R At July 1 1,348 1,348 1,339 1,339 1,339 1,339
RERHBEE Shares issued under
Ri12Mdn share option scheme - - 9 9 9 9
W=A=t-H/ At December 31/June 30 1,348 1,348 1348 1348 1348 1,348
~A=TH
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23 f#fE

23

RESERVES

(a) % (a) The Group
A5 Other resenves
Efh
RERTZ
HAGR
Share of EERR
capital BA R iRk
TESENVES EORE E Employee -t}
fhiniafE of jointy Capital ~ Investment EifE  chaebased  EERES AR REEA Gk
Share conrolled  redemption  revaluation Bxchange  compensation General ~ Other capital &5t Retained Total
Ak EETHE in HK$ milion premium entities esenve esenve esenve resene resene resene Total profits Tesenves
RoE-ZELA-A AtJduy 1,200 2275 1 26 15 1126 20 275 (25) 3973 47661 51,634
KERAH Profit for the year - - - - - _ _ _ _ 359 35
THEERTEZES  Decrease infai vaue of
listed investments - - - Kl - - - - §] - <]
REENENER Impaimment losses on lsted
LAEER nvestments reclassflied to
profit orloss - - - 2 - - - - i _ 9
FESNHBLAEE  Exchange difference arising from
ErERER translation of overseas subsidaries - - - - 1377 - - R 1377 - 1377
TERRANREE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 1) 1377 - - - 1376 359 4,905
EERRERS Finaldiidends inrespect of previous year - - - - - - - - - (761) (761)
TEERERS Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - - - - - - - (296) (296)
Elkb Issue of shares 124 - - - - - - . 124 - 121
EElEER Employee share-based payments 3% - - - - (39) - - (1] 2 ]
~FEMBATRERAT  Changein noncontroling interests
EEREREY aising from placement of
a subsidiary's shares - - - - - - - 2,067 2,067 - 2,067
RASEE-FNE Change in non-controling nterests
RAZREAST aising from decrease of
B ER the Group’s shareholding in @ subsicary - - - - - - - B Bl - 81
T——FRAZTER  Atdune 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 2434 1 2 14 2503 m 275 1961 7455 50,169 57,64
I
K5t Profit or the perod - - - - - - - - - 1578 1578
BEASATZEREE  Decrease of share of capital eserves of
2B jointly controlled entities - (1) - - - - - - 1 - il
IIRERTEZED Decrease in fai valug of lsted
Investments - - - (16) - - - - (16) - (16)
BEFHHBATEE  Echange difference arising from
BE/EREE translaton of overseas subsidiaries - - - - 1,000 - - - 1000 - 1000
TERERGEE Total comprehensive income for
the period - () - (16) 1,000 - - - 983 1578 2,561
EEERARS Final diidends inrespect ofprevious year - - - - - - - - - (769 (769
kb Issue of shares 1 - - - - - _ _ 1 B 1
[ERNERR Employee share-based payments - - - - - 5 . _ 53 4 5
RAsEE—RNE Change in non-controlling interests
DFEZREE aising from ncrease of
ELHRESEY the Group's shareholding in a subsidiary - - - - - - - 312 312 - 312
R=Z-—E+=A=1-H AtDecember31, 2011 2435 - 26 (2) 3,503 294 275 1,649 8,180 50,982 59,162
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23 @B @

23 RESERVES (Continued)

(b) AF (b) The Company
@
245 Other reserves
EERR
A HiERHE
BERE  Employee L

RAEE Capital  share-based E1-6 REBEF B

Share  redemption compensation General & Retained Total

IEBBEETHE in HK$ million premium feserve reserve fesenve Total profits feserves
RZE-ZF+A-H AtJuly 1, 2010 2275 26 85 862 3248 8726 11974
KEEENR2ANELE Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 1,455 1,455
LERRERE Final dividends in respect of previous year - - - - - (767) (767)
KEEREKE Interim dividends in respect of current year - - - - - (256) (256)
BkA Issue of shares 124 - - - 124 - 124
EERIEER Employee share-hased payments % - (33) - 2 - 2
WE——F A=1H At June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2011 2434 26 52 862 3374 9,158 12,532

k=E—F+A—H
REEHREARGEES Profit and total comprehensive income for the period - - - - - 1,160 1,160
LEERERE Final dlividends in respect of previous year - - - - - (769) (769)
G Issue of shares 1 - - - 1 - 1
WZE--FE+ZA=1-H At December 31,2011 2,435 26 52 862 3375 9,549 12,924
o

AEBR - ZE——F+-_A=+—HH
REBENBE—RFE-_TET(ZT——
FRAZ+H: ATFTEEERL) HEH
N B A R 2 BERATE ©

Befn s Bk R B AR L HE 2 Mz o 5l
XEBLRBHED) FOTNLIGRKRE
M+NFEFREE - REEGERERER
RERMFAHBERES R FEZRF
BEEE WREMFE20QZEFHK
REE - EAREERLESINNER
MR ELE ZENZMHE - B
2vFrit - REBRDHEREEREEE
HAB W R AT Z B Bt 2 R 1(E -
ERFRSKRARERN  Hal#En
& o i ERFEEREEFERERRE
A—RBEEMBARZEEE - FIER
BOAEE BIRBEEZREIFELZ
EH o

RZB——F+ZA=+—H " A2F
ARDERTRRZBEEHESRER—BE
E—FT—BEBT(ZF——&FX A=
+A: —BEE-T&T)
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The retained profits for the Group at December 31, 2011 included
$120 million (June 30, 2011: $97 million) in respect of statutory
reserves of the subsidiaries in mainland China.

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section 49H of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The investment
revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net change on the
fair value of available-forsale securities held at the reporting date
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies in note
2(i)(2). The exchange reserve represents the exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries. The employee share-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to
be exercised, as explained in note 2(v). The general reserve was
derived from retained profits and is distributable. The other capital
reserve represents any difference between the cost of the additional
investment and the carrying amount of the net assets acquired at
the date of exchange when acquiring an additional non-controlling
interest in a existing subsidiary.

The aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves available for

distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at December 31,
2011 was $10,411 million (June 30, 2011: $10,020 million).

EEEEERAF —T— —F4H



23 f#E @

(b) AT @)

BEXREE
AEEMNEAEERRZEZBIEAR
BAEBRFESE  UAREIRMED
BEAHMBFHOERERZD RS
EKARGEE °

AEEERE SR RERRE AL
1 AT BT 5 K T A A A
50795 A 3R 2190 S0 5 B AN P A R ) B
RARKE 2 RAER/G T8 - W RAEALE Y
EHAA REHRE Y BOHE LS
et -

AEBEBRRNTABEXRRRERENT
K WE BRI E KRR TSRS REER
HENGEE - AEREFEREEREMN
FER L] o FERERITER MR
BREKAGE  BIRE RIRITHERK © I
BRI R MR A o

R-TB——F+-_A=1t—H x&E
ZEBEXRANZ—RRZFT——FX
A=1H  "EEZERFREKF - K
NEHEAEFHBARLEZBIEE
EEARFTRZRR

24 FEERRER

RS ASEMBRERAER (A +
—A=+—H) ¥2BERHNBAF
) PR 7S 25 % B i P SRS 1B o FEHEAR
BREHHEINGARREDHE -
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23 RESERVES (continued)

(b) The Company (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders, and to secure access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders’
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light of changes in
the Group's business portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing ratio
and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future financial
obligations and commitments. The gearing ratio represents the
proportion of net debt to equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with
banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling
interests.

The gearing ratio as at December 31, 2011 is 1% while the Group
has a net cash position as at June 30, 2011. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

24 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests represent the equity interests and the
share of profit or loss attributable to other shareholders in respect
of its various subsidiaries that were not wholly-owned by the Group
as at December 31. Details of movement of non-controlling interests
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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25 REKEEKZRD

25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

& Group
BZE BHE HE
—E-——F —T——% ke S -3
+=A=+-8  XA=+A8 |+-A=+-H
EREA E+=1@A8 LR EA
Period ended Year ended Period ended
December 31, June 30, December 31,
B RETHE in HK$ million 20m 2011 2010
B AR T Profit before taxation 3,617 7,993 4,382
FEE Adjustments for:
SRITHIBUA Bank interest income (188) 213) (78)
SELTEEREBERERSMWA  Interest income from unlisted
held-to-maturity investments (10) (11) (2)
HbFBUA Other interest income - () (1)
FELTIIRETAR IR EMA Dividend income from unlisted
investments (11) - -
B ER Finance costs 149 139 66
e Depreciation 16 27 1"
ERREZREBE Impairment losses on listed
investments 2 2 -
L E N =gl Increase in fair value of investment
properties (953) (3,504) (2,357)
[E(EEE DT & Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities (241) (290) (88)
EEREEZR Employee share-based payments 106 113 67
FEMEZEMN Increase in properties for sale (120) (147) (39)
BEBER R Decrease in mortgage loans = 1 _
FEUER SR R E A R R 2 (Increase)/Decrease in trade and
(g, Fid other receivables (55) 1,142 1,188
ENZREAER (i), (Decreasel/ncrease in creditors and
20 accrued expenses (153) 253 475
BUiRE 2 m Increase in deposits received 138 117 37
RELEEB L RE Cash generated from operations 2,297 5,620 3,661
192 EREEERAR —T——FF®




26 HARERE
REEAZKARBEWT

26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the reporting date, contingent liabilities were as follows:

A @] Company

RZB——F RIZ——F

+=A=+—H NA=1H

December 31, June 30,

BB BETE in HK$ million 201 2011
HWBARIFTESZERITEE Guarantees given to banks to secure credit

etz &R facilities drawn by subsidiaries 7,001 4,201

AABLERMBRAT ZEE R HE AR
TEERMH Y ERERTMEZERA
HZEEERBITEEZAFEEEA
SEHFTERERRE (ZE——F XA
=tH: &)

27 &
(a) REZAMARMBRERBSE
AAEMT -

The Company has not recognized any deferred income for the
guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank facilities
for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and
their transaction price was $Nil (June 30, 2011: $Nil).

27 COMMITMENTS
(a) At the reporting date, capital commitments not provided for in
the financial statements were as follows:

£ & Group
RZE——F RIZ—F
+=ZB=t+—H ~A=1H
December 31, June 30,
WA BBITHE in HK$ million 2011 2011
2449 Contracted for 6,441 3,276
BRIEBHAREL Authorized but not contracted for 27,574 32,201
34,015 35,477

BiAEFERERARERFTEAM
ZEBRTERIREVEREEZ L
PR SR SEAR AR -

(b) ANEKERE+FAER A REH
EEMOERETYE - HTHLO
BR2EMERAMERE 2HAHE
T NEER - RERZKDENZHE

The above commitments include mainly the land costs and
construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the Group's
development of its investment properties in various cities in
mainland China.

(b) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
include contingent rentals calculated with reference to revenue
from the properties. At the reporting date, total future minimum

SREMT lease payments were as follows:
& Group
R=—BE——F RHZT—F
+=HA=t—H ~NA=1H
December 31, June 30,
BB BETHE in HK$ million 201 2011
—FR Within 1 year 18 46
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28 EERA

(a) EAKEF

AEED REEERILAEHRIERARE
e ZAETcEER —MBILZ
NAIXFAARZE  THEXESKEE
B mAREE s EENFRERE

BEINEEOREEZEAFHFE2ET
B LK BRA D LIRRBFEEM
BFRTR - ERENA2BESASKHE
AR B A8 HER W 2 HRTY
BMAFTEIES ZHER - AEE AR T
ERAKFMERZAARBKEEES
ZiEEBRAEEKERP - AEE A
R TR DB - BRAARKE
I B AL 77 SRR R - REBR A
ZHFRER—TET(ZF—F —
—FE:-TET) MBEARGEERZ
RN EReRERAN BT (T —
T,/ ——FEF:RNt8L) °

—IREXEFERHIEATEREE ([587E
E&TE]) B - IR B ARG
BER BINEESHZEEZEA
BERBA(LRA-8X) 2ADZH
EHRHMEHRK - AEB 2 HRE2H
EAEEBREEZRFPILIIAEERE
BNz RERER c AEERHAEL
ZEBEHFBER—_AET (ZF—
T/ ——FE:=ZBETT) -

BMRARE ZRAKSFE N —REHRR
Ro8IE & R PIRBL R R IRETE] ([BRE
Katdll) - BRI Eaiae st E
ZREBEERER - M EER —RIEE
B2 HEB RGBS RE S -

ARBETFEAMEEXBG 2HEBER
B HEBNPEEMHRTMERZ
RARAE M ET B (T BRIKAE M 3D
ZAKE o %% 5 BB A 7 AT R A
EzW—BE DREEZXFEHELZ
XEBE DL - AR BRKER G EEL
HRAERERARBHES - MAPBEEH
MRFRAEZETEALHE AT 2
P B R M SR IR 2 (B B 2 IR R A& 7
B - ZFHEABHE R RRARE
HeHFBER—T AT (ZT—
2/ ——FE:—T/N\BA&ET)-
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme
for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group by an independent corporate trustee and
managed by professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the employees at
a certain percentage of employees’ basic salaries, the percentage
varying with their length of service. When an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his or her interest in the Group’s contributions being
fully vested, forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the
fund. Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct
the trustee to credit dividends to members' accounts out of the
reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be reduced by
the forfeited contributions, but there was no such reduction of the
Group’s contributions during the period. Total contributions made
by the Group for the period amounted to $10 million (2010/11: $20
million) and forfeited sums credited to reserves amounted to $0.4
million (2010/11: $0.6 million).

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income, up
to a limit of $20,000. The Group’s contributions will be fully and
immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as their accrued
benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions made by the Group
for the period amounted to $2 million (2010/11: $3 million).

As the Group’s provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”), eligibility
for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is identical. New
employees are offered a one-off option to join either the ORSO or
the MPF scheme.

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in mainland China
are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “Mainland RB
Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government in mainland
China. The only obligation of the subsidiaries in mainland China
is to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to Mainland
RB Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in mainland China undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of subsidiaries in mainland China. Total contributions made by the
subsidiaries in mainland China for the period amounted to $11 million
(2010/11: $18 million).

EEEEERAF —T— —F4H
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(b) BOBHERF

FA/AYT|
RARIR_ZEZEZTF+—HAZTHEAK
MR HARERT & o ILETEIREAR R AE
ER(TEZER)) MEHEALT (BEFEX
EERAEAARZEERES) BTR
MEERBEARR 2R - (EAREY
REEBER BB RE - R BT
FEREERNETROBERRE
WHBEEBROHEE RETFTEARGZ
WnmEBEREER TR AMAL¥A 2 TFY
WMEB=BAFPZRE(E Al EMEEZ
HEREEN2HIE  HBH - 17EH
MEOHERIRBROZBEEHES
BB T ZERRE o L EIRE R M B
MRt +TFRER YER-_Z—ZF
+—RA=+=HEm -

1BEMERRA A
RRRIMBARIERMER_ST=F
+—AZ+ZBEMA D ERRERTE] o 1t
FEEEERMEESRAMEREALT
(BREEEMHESEANERAARZES
NEZ)BETRNMHAERBERME 2
B EARSHERMESBERZ
BEIRERE - RIHHAEITEERERD
EEETRNETRMBERATE - WM
BRBROHEME RETERARG WM
EREERTAAMEEERD ZFHKT
B=FPz&aE - AlZEMEE S BHE
REEMZHE -  BEBH -  1EHEE
DEREA RER D BB R ERILE
EERNBETZRIATE - hat 8RN EK
MBERATFEAER  UHER =T —
—F+—A=-+—HE® -
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on November 24, 2000, whereby the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company is authorized to grant options to selected
participants, including employees and directors of any company in
the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group. The exercise price
of the options is determined by the Board at the time of grant, and
shall be the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing
price of the shares at the date of grant and the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant. The period open for acceptance of the option and
amount payable thereon, the vesting period, the exercisable period
and the number of shares subject to each option are determined by
the Board at the time of grant. The scheme has remained in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and has
expired on November 23, 2010.

Hang Lung Properties Limited

The Company’'s subsidiary, HLP has a share option scheme which
was adopted on November 22, 2002, whereby the Board of HLP
is authorized to grant options to selected participants, including
employees and directors of any company in the HLP group, to
subscribe for shares of HLP as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to HLP group. The exercise price of the options is
determined by the Board of HLP at the time of grant, and shall be
the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price of
the shares at the date of grant and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant. The period open for acceptance of the option and amount
payable thereon, the vesting period, the exercisable period and the
number of shares subject to each option are determined by the
Board of HLP at the time of grant. The scheme remains in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and will expire
on November 21, 2012.
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28 EBERTH @ 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BMEEER @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
1. HAARRRRMHEEZESHMT 1. The movements of share options of the Company during the

period are as follows:

RinEiES B
Number of share options
R=F—-%F

RZZ—%F +=A=t-H 16
+A-AH BRl/ e ARATE Rin g 1765 H (75%)
AT E4%  Outstanding on Period during  Exercise
KBS Outstanding on BRI B Forfeited/  December 31, which options price
Date granted July 1, 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 201 are exercisable (HK$)
“EENERA-TH 6,150,000 - (123,000) - 6,027,000 “TERFERA-THE 9.45

May 20, 2004 “Z-EERATAA

May 20, 2005 to

May 19, 2014

ZEERET-AZTA 7,200,000 - - 7200000 —ETLET-A-+HEZ 2052
November 20, 2006 —E-F+-AtAA
November 20, 2007 to
November 19, 2016

5t Total 13,350,000 - (123,000) - 13,227,000
L Er A IRt BRRE AT A HR B R AR All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
FERFREE  WAREREA grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
B+ fEmERTIT6E - 1B EA the date of grant, after which they will lapse. No options were
RS RN o BRAE B AR (0 BRRE A cancelled during the period.
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28 EERA = 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) BMEEER @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

() MRWEITEZARERMDEH ()  Movements in the number of share options of the
EHE REEBEMNEFEST Company outstanding and their related weighted average
FEEZEBOT : exercise prices are as follows:

Bz-E2—-% Bz 2——F
T=A=T-Hi~EAR AA=TRIET=fEA
Period ended Year ended
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011
IET IS
e (8
(%) (%)
Weighted &in Weighted fin
average oA average MRS
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
(HKS) options (HK9) options
REA—REABRITE Qutstanding at July 1 15.42 13,350,000 16.07 22,462,000
BT Exercised 9.45 (123,000) 14,56 9,112,000)
W+ZA=+-B/ Outstanding at December 31/June 30 15.48 13,227,000 15.42 13,350,000
NAZTRERETE
R+=A=+-B/ Exercisable at December 31/June 30 15.48 13,227,000 15.42 13,350,000

RNAZTRATIE

RH/ FREBITEZKRG The weighted average closing prices of the shares
HREEEEETEAR immediately before the dates of exercise by the
AR MEFHRTmER=T employees during the period was $39.35 (2010/11:
NT=AaRWL(ZE—F $46.44). No directors exercised their options during
——FE W+ ATHAN the period/year of their employment as directors of the
i) e RRREEEHHAE Company.

=8 FHALREITER
0 HARE -

RERANTTE 2 IR 1D BARETT (2 The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise
ERBZMEFHARERMN T for share options during the period was $41.00 (2010/11:
—n(ZE2E—-—ZFT /——#F $46.34).

B R =Anil) »

(i) REFEBERETEZRD (i) The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
2 METFHFERE A H outstanding at the reporting date was 3.8 years (June 30,
REBNE (ZE——F A 2011: 4.2 years).
=+H: mEZF)-
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28 EEEH 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BMEEER @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
2. HRERMWERMOHZEZESHM 2. The movements of share options of HLP during the period are
N as follows:
frt EHERn B
Number of share options
R-B—-%
RZZ——F TZA=t-H o4
tA—H BB/ e RARAT in SRRE 2 1A (%)
MR 2% Outstanding on Period during Exercise
Bt AE QOutstanding on B& BiTfF Forfeited/  December 31, which options price
Date granted July 1,201 Granted Exercised Lapsed 201 are exercisable (HKS)
S 7601,500 - (169,875) - 7431625 —TTRERA-TREE 9.20
May 20, 2004 —Z-MERATIE
May 20, 2005 to
May 19, 2014
“EZRENA-AZ 500,000 - - - 500,000 T ENA-AE 1140-1235
“ZTERF+-FA—H I o e =
September 1, 2005 to September 1, 2006 to
November 1, 2005 October 31, 2015
L ET-ATHAZE 11,084,000 - (550,000) - 10534000 —TE+F+—A+MEE  16.75-2260
“22+F-A1NH “Z—tE=A+/\A
November 14, 2006 to November 14, 2007 to
March 19, 2007 March 18, 2017
“ZE+ELAZHE 61,620,000 - (236,000) (1,476,000) 59,908,000 “ZF\E+A=HZ 1736 - 2790
“EE\E+-A=1-H ZZ-\E+ZA=1H
July 3, 2007 to July 3,2008 to
December 31, 2008 December 30, 2018
“EEAST-A=THEE 21,450,000 - - - 21450000 —T—FF+—F=THE 2646-2888
—Z-Z£,A-H “E-FERAZ1-H
November 30, 2009 to November 30, 2011 to
June 1, 2010 May 31, 2020
“E-ERLACTARE 47190000 - - (540,000} 46650000 —F-—F£LF-+AAE  3079-36.90
“F—%xA+=ZH “E-FXAtZH
July 29, 2010 to July 29, 2012 to
June 13, 2011 June 12, 2021
—T——%+tZAtH - 1,350,000 - - 1350000 —F-=F+-A+AZ 2410
December 7 2011 —E--#+ZA5AH
December 7, 2013 to
December 6, 2021
5t Total 149,445,500 1,350,000 (955,875) (2,016,000) 147,823,625
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28 EEEA @ 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) ROABERN @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
Ll Fr A IR B R AR I B B AR All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
SA—EAFRBE - YAIRELA grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
B+ FfEmEARTIT6E - SRR HA the date of grant, after which they will lapse. No options were
MG AN - BRI EE AR (9 BRRE A cancelled during the period.
A8 o

(i)  FEARWITEZIEREMWERD (i

)  Movements in the number of share options of HLP

WS E REBRMNEFS

outstanding and their related weighted average exercise

TFEEZZFHMT - prices are as follows:
HE 2% Hz 2%
TZA=t+-HL~ER NA=THIE=fEA
Period ended Year ended
December 31, 2011 June 30, 2011
Mg HE IEESEE
(B%) &in (%) &
Weighted average HIESE  Weighted average oS
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
(HKS) options (HKS) options
WEA—BEARITHE Qutstanding at July 1 24.28 149,445,500 15.84 138,665,000
[ Granted 24.10 1,350,000 3159 47330,000
[REBLEE Exercised 1658 (955,875) 1784 (18,782,500)
BRM/ BAH Forfeited/Lapsed 2353 (2,016,000) 2183 (17,767,000)
RtZA=+—-B/ QOutstanding at December 31/June 30 24.34 147,823,625 24.28 149,445,500
NASTRERETE

R+=—A=+-B/ Exercisable at December 31/June 30 19.60 42,042,225 18.05 33,472,500

AA=ZTRAFAR

18 F 1 22 A 10 2 B2 % B IR
A Z AT RTENF =
T=ThARM (ZF——F
NA=+RH: =+x—A%8
WE=FTATNARI)

R/ FAXRAREER
HEFEEHHELRATE
1858 ih B 2 AR 17 H3 4 - X8
NESTEZBRNPEER
ZHETE R R AT IEE
WEMEFHRHERS =+
ANENARNU(ZE—F
——FE: =tHAThA=
fil) e

REAATTE 2 B 1D BRETT (&
A2 ERMEINEF R
BA-t+ A ATHAZIN (==
T/ ——FF: =+HWEx
NALA) -
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The closing price of the shares of HLP immediately before
the date of grant is $23.95 (June 30, 2011: $30.15 to
$35.65).

No share options of HLP were exercised by the directors
in the period of their employment as directors of the
Company during the period/year. The weighted average
closing prices of the shares of HLP immediately before
the dates of exercise by the employees during the period
was $26.96 (2010/11: $34.93).

The weighted average share price of HLP at the dates of
exercise for share options during the period was $26.52
(2010/11: $34.87).
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28 EEEA @ 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) ROABERN @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

2. (i) PEEEHMAWITEZRD 2. (i) The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
HAKE 7 N L R84 & 40 2B outstanding at the reporting date was 7.3 years (June 30,
RTEEH=ZF (ZT—F <A 2011: 7.7 years).
=+H: tHEF)-

(i) HARIRHE 2 IR HERE L (i) The weighted average value per share option granted
AHAERA (A —4FT R HT] during the period estimated at the date of grant using a
EEERN  KERE LD HE Black-Scholes pricing model taking into account the terms
ZERRGHEmMEET2EH0 and conditions upon which the options were granted was
RiDERRE 2 METFHEER $733. The weighted average assumptions used are as
t=A=l- FEAZm follows:

BEEHREBLT

BB RE Share price at grant date $24.10

1T{E(E Exercise price $24.10

45 [ | R Risk-free interest rate 0.7%

EEH AR (4F) Expected life (in years) 6

8 Volatility 0.4

TEEAG IR Expected dividend per share $0.71
HEBARERNR R EEZE The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
s EE DEREERTEB expected share price returns is based on statistical
BRI —F NS AREZHET analysis of daily share prices over the one year
ATALE - BHERKRET immediately preceding the grant date. Expected dividend
BREBETKREMETE - B per share is based on historical dividend. Changes in the
B ATEBRBREAHAFERG input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
ST EATE - estimate.

3. BMARATREERMERTAATRE 3. Inrespect of share options of the Company and HLP granted

200

2020k SRTIE & PO e
7 - BN 2V QR B2 AR E
EHEGE I RRE-F——F
T A=t — AL BRI
sit /() 0T

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRRER=EE: —T/NA\B=T

BER(-2—%,/ %
¥ =THER) :

MEHEL: —FARST
ER(-T-—F/ &
g —FEEEHET)

Biames: —F—a=+
g —E-2,/——f&
B —FATATER)

to the directors and an exdirector of the Company and HLP
the related charge/(credit) recognized for the period ended
December 31, 2011, estimated in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy in note 2(v)(2) was as follows:

(@) Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $18.3 million (2010/11: $30.0 million);

(b)

Mr. Philip N.L. Chen, $19.2 million (2010/11: $25.5 million);

(c)  Mr. William RY. Ko, $11.3 million (2010/11: $19.9 million);

EEEEERAF —T— —F4H



28 EEEA @
(b) BROFHERF @

d FAXE%E: LtE—+8T
—2-%/ 5K E@
ATBIT BEREEELE
ARREZECERAART

4+ —

ST

) SEFESEE: +EN+ET
—T-%T,/——%F: 8@
NHE7) ERREAEE
B8 :

1 EfgRsEE: —FoE—+
BR(=®2—%,/——%
g —FAELTET &
EERMAHEAATNES
BE-EATEL) R

@ Rxtrkat: B(CF—
2/ ——FF: EBHE-_TN
BATET BREHEER
U B R 57 8 1O B 1 HI AR O 5
BE-TENT+ETRE#HE
RIFE——FELHEART
EEZ7ERA-_A-1T&RT)

29 BEALIRS
RRECRUBERREMHEORE IR
P RAERIN - BN AEEREATEE
BBRETFCALATHEALRS

(a) AEB—HEEQRSEBBHEK
BERARRBILE —HMEERET
g AEEBEZEEARIBENZ
“TREE RZE——F+ZH=
+—0B ' AEBERZEERTE
HEFARE=FT—BETL(=ZT—
—FEXA=Z+H: NELT=ZEE
TL) e FTERFHAEER - 28
K f[E T (EARE -

(b) EERTEETEEMSENHE6
N 28(b) I EE -
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
(d  Mr. H.C. Ho, $7.1 million (2010/11: $5.6 million, including
the charge of $5.5 million in relation to his employment as
director of the Company);

(e) Mr. Henry TY. Yiu, $74 million (2010/11: $78 million) in
relation to his employment as employee of the Group;

(f)  Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $12.1 million (2010/11: $28.7
million, including the charge of $1.6 million in relation to
his employment as director of the Company); and

(@ Mr Terry S. Ng, $Nil (2010/11: ($28.6) million, including
adjustment to reverse amounts of $30.8 million in relation
to unvested share options which are forfeited and a charge
of $2.2 million in 2011, in relation to his employment as
director of the Company).

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for the transactions and balances already disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into the
following related party transactions during the period in its ordinary
course of business:

(a) The Group has a 20% interest in a jointly controlled entity
which participated in the development of Package One of the
MTRC Tung Chung Station Development Project. At December
31, 2011, the Group advanced to this jointly controlled entity a
total of $631 million (June 30, 2011: $673 million). All advances
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

(b) Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in notes 6 and 28(b).
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30 MBEMREEEEREE

ME - RBEAS  FEREBERKAE
AEBMZERER  AEEHUTLE
EREHAZBERTAAERZEMA

G o
A

(a) FEmER

AEB 2z MERARKBRITERIER
B8 AEEENERMEES UK
EAﬁ%IJ 1,\%AXEWH‘I (ﬁuﬂﬁﬁ) J//UFE
RITMEBRFERREER - 1IN AKHE
& —fER R BT S A SR E N E
ZEE  BREELHHEEEENEX
[ELp o

AAEMBEERBBEIMERMEIS

518821 FLAIREE o

REBHRETERRITERLE %ZTE
B WA RMEERERTE
15 RE *EiﬁﬁHZﬂTi'JJH*EM
HE 2R ERBDANEE 2 bR B& 5 A
LR —TEtAET (ZE—F
——EF‘% P RN SR B 2 BR 1R 08 Bl K
BEDS—TABEET —T—FF
7JIJ$’$IZ BREL RS R KBS T =

i —

BETT) °

DMDIRBREBEAMET ARE
ﬁf?\i SN ERRDEFRE - Bt P
PR RAERFOG F KB RZ TR - E
MREA TSR :

— WHENEE(EFEFIEERMTE

FMERITREZMBIRARHE + &

- FEBEHEMMBEENBEH#FTT

g .

202

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group's business. The Group has policies

and practices approved by management as described below in

managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits with
banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest rate trend
and movements are closely monitored and, if appropriate, existing
borrowings will be replaced with new bank facilities when favorable
pricing opportunities arise. In addition, the Group established the
Programme which provides fixed interest rate facilities to the Group
and assists the Group to manage its interest rate risk.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in notes 14, 15, 18 and 21.

Based on the simulations performed at period end in relation to the
Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated that the
impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest rates from the
rates applicable at the period end date, with all other variables held
constant, would decrease the Group's profit after taxation and total
equity by approximately $17 million (2010/11: increase the Group's
profit after taxation and total equity by $16 million; 2010: increase
the Group's profit after taxation and total equity by $43 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not be
considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The analysis
assumes the following:

—  changes in market interest rates affect the interest income and
interest expenses of floating rate financial instruments and

bank borrowings; and

- all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.

EEEEERAF —T— —F4H



30 MIKEREEEEZEREEK @

(b) RBEZEMR
AEBESEERSTEREARRRE
MEBARZBHBREMRBE SRR
HEEREER TR LIRS RIBE R
THE  UENEE2HMESZHEL - K
KSEEBTRARRZRECFERERE
EERERDIE  NEZERERR2HKS
KFIE o

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity risk of
the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level. The objective
is to ensure that an adequate amount of cash and committed bank
facilities are available to meet all funding requirements. Significant
flexibility is maintained through diverse sources of committed credit
lines to respond to unforeseeable opportunities and events.

@
£ Group
BOATRREE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—ZMEA  —ZRHFA

ERE —FR Between Between AEMNE

Carrying FEE Within Tand2 2and 5 Over

B R TtE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year years years 5 years

RITER Bank loans 27694 30,075 5,884 1,828 19,888 2,475

FEN BRI B R RR Trade and other payables 4,134 4137 2,964 700 421 52

R-—ZE——F+-H=1—H AtDecember 31,2011 31,828 34,212 8,848 2,528 20,309 2,527
®
@

ANFIBEERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—ZWERN  ZERER

EHE —ER Between Between AEMNE

Carrying @it Within Tand?2 2and5 Over

NEERETtE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year years years 5 years

RITER Bank loans 20,901 22,686 7,834 299 12,481 2,072

FEmEREROAE Non-current finance lease obligations 35 35 - 35 - -

[EFIRT RN Trade and other payables 3,709 3,717 2,682 585 400 50

R-E——FXA=1H At June 30, 2011 24,645 26,438 10,516 919 12,881 2,122
o
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30 BIEREEEEREE @

(c) EERM
AEEZEERBREE K EEKERE
TREBRIGMRITREBEE 2 TR
K f&E% o

AEBETHEZEERK - EFRE
HHEHFPZBEEEFHRHEERS
MIXMHE - REVEXHEENREEE
DR BEBEHHENIGREE - HERM
HERSIINFEEGEEEEYENA
e AEEEHERRYFARMIELT
RE  UWEIEEERBREERE - &
AEBABRIMERHEESIN  AEEL
B FEESBEAERR - N&E
TEHIR B E UK - WRRAR B R - #EIA
RAEIERE 2 EERBBE&E o

AEEYEETEATETARS - &
HRALIREBEEEFRMEMEARME
RZBBAFHNRBERGF ZRITNER
#HE - LS EERRRERE -

BR AR BIFTIE th 2 A5 R AR SN (ANBfY aE
26fT ) - NSRBI R A H AR AR T
BYAEEH AR AEERMEANEE
[\ o

AEEYESAEFEERR

HBEERRZAE ERAGEAMBAR
RANBVBEELZRAE -

(d) E¥ER
HERRBEEKRBBAREESBIEH
RAMEEE AN 2 EETIE - BE
TERRR - AKEAETETRTE
P ERE—EOThAEEXERT (=%
——FRA=tHE: —BAThEEE
To) c ERBWEITHE - ZFFX
FralBz E¥ERLE AERX -
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables

and deposits and bonds held with reputable banks and financial

institutions.

[t maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the
terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to the
payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay monthly
rents in respect of leased properties in advance. Except for sale of
properties developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral
over the receivables. Receivables are regularly reviewed and closely
monitored to minimize any associated credit risk.

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions. Surplus
cash is placed with reputable banks and financial institutions in
accordance with pre-determined limits based on credit ratings and
other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company as set out
in note 26, the Group does not provide any other guarantee which
would expose the Group or the Company to material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
Group's entities to which they related. The Group maintains certain
bank deposits denominated in United States dollars amounting to
US$149 million (June 30, 2011: US$189 million). Given that Hong
Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars, the resulting
currency risk on such deposits is considered insignificant.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The Group also engaged in property development and investments
in mainland China through its local subsidiaries whose net assets
are exposed to foreign currency risk. In addition, the Group holds
Renminbi deposits and bonds to meet its ongoing payment
obligations in relation to its development projects in mainland China
which is denominated in Renminbi. Where appropriate, the Group
seeks to minimize its exposure to currency risk in mainland China
through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group's profit after taxation and the Group's equity
attributable to shareholders would be increased/decreased by $362
million (2010/11: $310 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting date and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

(e) Fair value

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
financial instruments which are categorized as level 1 defined in
accordance with HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures. During
the period/year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between levels.

The fair values of held-to-maturity instruments, unlisted investments,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, cash and
deposits with banks, bank loans and finance lease obligations are
considered approximate to their carrying amounts at the reporting
date.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28(b) contains information about the assumptions and their risk

relating to fair value of share options granted. Other key sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development

The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued at reporting date by
independent professionally qualified valuers on a market value
basis. For the completed investment properties, the valuers have
valued such properties with reference to market evidence taking
into account the rental income of the properties. The assumptions
adopted are based on the market conditions existing at the reporting
date, with reference to current market sale prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition and the appropriate
capitalization rate. For the investment properties under development,
the valuers have valued such properties as if they were completed
in accordance with the relevant development plan allowing for any
future construction and other relevant costs required for completion
of the development, and where appropriate, by reference to the
comparable market sale and purchase transactions.

(b) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold properties
based on estimation of future selling price less costs to be incurred
in relation to the sale, with reference to the prevailing market data
and market survey reports available from independent property
valuers.

(c) Impairment of assets

The Group tests regularly whether goodwill and other assets
that have indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment.
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined using fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use
calculations as appropriate. These calculations require the use of
estimates.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(d) Income taxes

There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business
and judgment is required in determining the provision for income
taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.

(e) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The amount of the deferred tax assets included in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group is recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilized. The recognition of deferred tax assets requires the Group
to make judgments or based on the assessment of future financial
performance, the amount of future taxable profits and the timing of
when these will be realized.
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32 B BERZAREE 32 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AEBWEIZESHABHEEBETEMAE  The Group has not early applied the following amendments, new

WM R AR ZIEET ~ AR R standards or interpretations which have been issued by the HKICPA

2 o SEAL T ER] - ERISREI TS but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following amendments

HAEEZ ST HERBRERES) o or standards will not result in substantial changes to the Group's
accounting policies.

LA B EAsk bAT& R 45

Z &t B A AR

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKAS 1 ({&7] ) I HmEN 2] —T——_F+H—H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements July 1, 2012
HKAS 19 (& &3]) ‘&= —E-=%—H—H

HKAS 19 (Revised) Employee Benefits January 1, 2013
—F=F—-A—H
January 1, 2013

HKAS 27 (2011) EERVAp S E
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements

—E-=%—-HA—H
January 1, 2013

HKAS 28 (2011) il /N] NG NN ey
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

HKFRS 10 e BmE —T—=%—H—H
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements January 1, 2013
HKFRS 11 B e ek —T—=%—H—H
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements January 1, 2013
HKFRS 12 H b ARG e B B —T—=F—H—H
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities January 1, 2013
HKFRS 13 NHEZEE —ET—=F—H—H
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement January 1, 2013
HKFRS 9 ERITAR —ET-hF—-H—H
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1, 2015

33 ZEMKHRK 33 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEPR T ——F— A+ AB%EW The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
SRR FIZE B SRR o the Board of Directors on January 19, 2012.
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34 FEMBEAA
R-_ZE——%+-_A=+—H

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
At December 31, 2011

BRARE il
o) REAE S Adm B
ssued  EmADE  may Place of
A Share Capital % Held by % Held by £75 Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
Akihiro Company Limited 2 100 100 NELRRNAE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Antonis Limited* 10,000 50.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 50.7 - NERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 50.7 - NEERIEE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
AP Properties Limited MEERKMEE 90
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
[A] IR 34 50.7 -
A shares
[B] & 6 50.7 -
‘B’ shares
AP Star Limited* 2 50.7 - ERRE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 50.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 50.7 - MERE 0
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 50.7 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 50.7 - MEER BE
Property development Hong Kong
Bayliner Investment Ltd. * 0 100 100 PR E EBHBRES
US$1 Investment holding  British Virgin Islands
Believecity Limited* 2 100 - BERRERESEE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong

& securities trading

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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34 FEMELT &)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEARE Gl

() KBS AR BB

Issued RaEAL EEEAL Place of

A Share Capital % Held by % Held by Ey Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations

Bonna Estates Company Limited 1,000,000 50.7 - b E i N

Property leasing Hong Kong

HEEGEBRAT 4,000,000 50.7 - NEHEE BE

Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

RE2ERAAN 2 50.7 - nEEE BE

Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

Cititop Limited 2 50.7 - NEERIEE BE

Property development Hong Kong

& leasing

Cokage Limited* 2 100 100 IR E Hi

Investment holding Hong Kong

BHARRBRAR R E B%

Country Bond Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] % 990 50.6 -

A shares
[B] & 1 50.7 -
‘B share

BErEARAT 2 100 - BRI E B%

Country First Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

I L FYNG] 5,000,000 565.5 - ERRIRE BE

Country Link Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

Crest Incorporated* 2ETT 100 - PR E HBEMRES

Us$2 Investment holding  British Virgin Islands

Curicao Company Limited* 2 100 - R E B

Investment holding Hong Kong

Dokay Limited* 2 50.7 - mERE BE

Property leasing Hong Kong

Dynamia Company Limited 2 100 100 NEBRREE N

Property development Hong Kong

& leasing
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34 FEMELT &)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEARE Gl
a)  REPE A BRI
ssued  EBAAH  jmrmay Place of
A Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
RAEEBRAT iR E BE
Ease Smart Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[Al & 1 100 -
A share
[B] & 1 50.7 -
‘B share
RECEERAT 2 50.7 - ERIE BE
Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BERERRAR 2 100 100 R E BE
Ever Brilliant Investment Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Folabs Limited* 2 100 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 50.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
EXARAA 2 50.7 - BEREE BB
Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
BREZARAF® 2 100 100 MERE &%
Glory View Properties Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Gowily Limited 2 50.7 - MERE N0
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Centre Limited 4 50.7 - WMERE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 50.7 - BEATELERER BE
Apartment operating Hong Kong
& management
KREBEEEERAR BRIRE BB
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] % 62,163,123 50.7 -
A shares
[B] Bk 6,000,000 50.7 -
‘B’ shares

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements

34 FEMELT &)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEARE Gl
ew)  FEAR Amgs B
ssued  EBEDH  gemay Place of

A Share Capital % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations

EEHRERAF 2 100 100 NERER B

Great Cheer Development Limited Property development Hong Kong

Hang Chui Company Limited 2 50.7 - MERE 0

Property leasing Hong Kong

Hang Far Company Limited* 2 50.7 - PRI E 0

Investment holding Hong Kong

BRER LA 200 50.7 - NEME &%

Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 50.7 - MERE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 50.7 - nEEE BE

Property leasing Hong Kong

186 (1780 BRAR 10,000 50.7 - ERRY BE

Hang Lung (Administration) Limited Management services Hong Kong

1B (PEl) BRAR 2 100 100 ERIRE BE

Hang Lung (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

16l (KiE) BRAF 1 50.7 - AR E BE

Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

EREXBRAR 2 100 100 PRIz & BE

Hang Lung Enterprises Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong

ERHEERERAR 2 100 100 Bt B

Hang Lung Financial Services Limited Financial services Hong Kong

EEREBRAR* 2 100 100 PRRE Bh

Hang Lung Investments Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong

k& (1%) BRAR 1 50.7 - BRI E BE

Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

16k (&m) BRAR 1 50.7 - PRIz BE

Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

&M% (R8) BRAA 1 50.7 - ERIE BA

Hang Lung (Kunming) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

B (B%) BRAR 1 50.7 - PRRIRE BE

Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
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34 FEMELT &)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEARE Gl
ew)  FEAR Amgs B
ssued  EBEDH  gemay Place of

A Share Capital % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations

Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 50.7 - MERE Bk

Property leasing Hong Kong

BEIRRABRAR 10,000 50.7 - TiREREE BB

Hang Lung Project Management Project management Hong Kong

Limited*

EEMEBRAR 4,472,770,045 50.7 - IR E 5%

Hang Lung Properties Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

BENEERARAR 100,000 50.7 - WEER BE

Hang Lung Property Management Property management Hong Kong

Limited*

BEmEREARAR 2 507 - MERE BE

Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Limited* Property agencies Hong Kong

18lz (&F5) BRAF 2 50.7 - ERIE BE

Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

18l& (K#) BRDA] 2 50.7 - BERIRE BE

Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

EEEERERRAF 2 100 100 Bt BE

Hang Lung Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong

1B6i% (&8H) BRAF 1 50.7 - BRRE BE

Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

1Bl& (AR) BRAA] 1 507 - ERIE BE

Hang Lung (Xian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

Hang Wise Company Limited* 200 100 100 MERE BE

Property leasing Hong Kong

Hantak Limited 2 100 100 PRI E B

Investment holding Hong Kong

Hebo Limited 2 100 100 MEER BE
Property development Hong Kong

HL Enterprises Limited* 2 100 100 PR E N
Investment holding Hong Kong

BlERE (BLE) BRAR* 2 100 100 i BE
HL Mortgage (HTG) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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34 TEMEATE ) 34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

4
BEARE Gl
a)  REPE A R
ssued  EBAAH  jmrmay Place of
A Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
[BIEZIE (2igE) BRAA* 2 100 100 i BE
HL Mortgage (NH) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BlE%E (RERE) BRAR* 2 100 100 B &R
HL Mortgage (NP) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BEME (FE) FRAF 2 50.7 - ERRE Bk
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Finance Limited? 1% 50.7 - 8% RERARES
US$1 Financial services  British Virgin Islands
BEMEMBERARAR ARB1T 50.7 - B BE
HLP Financial Services Limited RMB1 Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 50.7 - NEER BB
Property development Hong Kong
BEmERERRAR 2 50.7 - i BE
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services Limited* 2 50.7 - IR A Hi
Investment holding Hong Kong
Hoi Sang Limited* 2 50.7 - ERRE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong
Kindstock Limited* 2 100 - BRERE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong
SHERAR 1,000,002 50.7 - MEER B
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
EEREBRAA 10,000 100 - BRRE BE
Luckyson Investments Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
RS (FM5E) BRAR 20 89.7 - Bt BE
Lungsun Mortgage (PV) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
Magic Modern International Limited* 1 50.7 - EBE Hi
Advertising Hong Kong
Mansita Limited* 2 50.7 - NEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Modalton Limited 2 50.7 - YEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

<
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34 FEMELT &)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEARE Gl
ew)  FEAR Amgs B
ssued  EBEDH  gemay Place of

A Share Capital % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations

Monafat Limited* 2 50.7 - MERE Bk

Property leasing Hong Kong

NRERAF 2 100 - WEME BE

Nikco Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

BEREBR AR 10,000 100 - NEEE BE

Ocean Time Investments Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

Ottringham Limited* 20 50.7 - NEHEE BB

Property leasing Hong Kong

Palex Limited* 2 50.7 - MERE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Paradot Limited* 2 100 100 NEER BE
Property development Hong Kong

Pocaliton Limited 2 50.7 - nEHE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Promax Limited 2 89.7 - MERR B
Property development Hong Kong

BEARAR 1,560,000 100 100 BERRE B

Prosperland Housing Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

Purotat Limited* 2 100 100 PRI A BE

Investment holding Hong Kong

Rago Star Limited 2 50.7 - WERE BE

Property leasing Hong Kong

Rioloy Limited 2 50.7 - nERE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong

Ronhero Limited* 2 507 - MEEE B
Property leasing Hong Kong

Scotat Limited 2 89.7 - ERIRE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong

HHNEEARAT 20 100 100 NEERRIEE BE
Stanman Properties Limited Property development Hong Kong

& leasing

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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34 TEMEAT = 34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEARE Gl
ew)  FEAR Amgs B
ssued  EBEDH  gemay Place of
A Share Capital % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
Stooket Limited 2 50.7 - MERE Bk
Property leasing Hong Kong
Style Giant Limited 2 89.7 - MEER B
Property development Hong Kong
BRERBB LR 2 100 100 NERER BE
Success Cosmos Development Limited* Property development Hong Kong
Tegraton Limited 2 50.7 - NEEE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Topnic Limited 2 100 100 MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Velan Limited* 2 100 100 EE &%
Property development Hong Kong
EMEZXAERAF® 100,000 50.7 - NERE BE
Wai Luen Investment Company, Property leasing Hong Kong

Limited*

Wililoy Limited* 2 50.7 - MERE B%
Property leasing Hong Kong
Yangli Limited* 2 50.7 - NEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
WREEBRAR* 1,000 100 100 BRRERESER BE
Yee Fly Investment Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong

& securities trading

Zarat Limited* 2 50.7 - nEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
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34 FEMELT &)

R-F——F+-H=1—H

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

At December 31, 2011

- @
FETAR
B N liess REFHE
HERINERE LR HtEA EmaAl E=AAL Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises Registered % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation
in mainland China Capital The Group The Company Activity and Operations
REERPERRAA ARH#2,356,877,3557T 50.7 - NEER hEIR,
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. RMB2,356,877355 Property development Mainland China
EREEHERRLA 7154,660,000,0007 50.7 - NEER PEIAL
Kunming Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$4,660,000,000 Property development Mainland China
EEERGERRAA 451,500,000% 7 50.7 - NEER PEIR
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$451,500,000 Property development Mainland China
WREENEER AR 385,000,005 50.7 - NRERREE mEA,
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$385,000,000 Property development Mainland China
& leasing
ELEEERRAR 349,990,000% 70 50.7 - NRERREE RERH,
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$349,990,000 Property development Mainland China
& leasing
REEEMERRAF 7#2,420,000,0007C 50.7 - DRER PEIRI,
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,420,000,000 Property development Mainland China
EHERMERRAR 712,282,350,00070 50.7 - NRER RERH,
Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,282,350,000 Property development Mainland China
EHEFHERRAR 7509,000,0007C 50.7 - NRER RERH,
Wuxi Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$509,000,000 Property development Mainland China
>
: - @
AR Rl
(%) SEP NIliiEs R
Registered BExasl BzAMY Place of
MBI B E Capital % Held by % Held by £/ Incorporation
Equity Joint Venture in mainland China (USS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
HEEARMERERRAR 167,004,736 50.2 - NEERRAE hEM
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Property development Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing
HEERREHERRAA 17,766,000 70 - EE hEA
Shanghai Heng Cheng Real Estate Property development Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd.
TEBEREREBRAR 165,000,000 522 - NELENEE IR
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Property development Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing
4

" EEBKEE

*# Operated in Hong Kong

* FE RS ES S * Not audited by KPMG

FRINHEZRRRYAEE 28 KR
BEREAFEZTIEWNBRA -

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group which in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the profit and assets of
the Group.
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35 TERENAT
R—E2—F+=-_H=+—H

35 PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
At December 31, 2011

BEARE Gl

o) REAE S Adm B

ssued  EEEDH  gemay Place of

A Share Capital % Held by % Held by £75 Incorporation

Company (HKS) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations

HEERBRAF 400 25 - nEEE BE

Daily Win Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

BERIE (X&) BRAA] 2 50 - i BE

Hang Hing Mortgage (TH) Limited Financial services Hong Kong

BlEAFEEEARAT 519,000 50 - BR RO TR BE

Hang Lung-Hakuyosha Dry Cleaning Dry and laundry cleaning Hong Kong
Limited

Newfoundworld Finance Limited 100,000 20 - 5 B

Financial services Hong Kong

Newfoundworld Holdings Limited 2,000,000 20 - IR A 0

Investment holding Hong Kong

Newfoundworld Investment Holdings 8 20 - PR E EBERRHS

Limited Investment holding  British Virgin Islands

Newfoundworld Limited 2,000,000 20 - MEER BE

Property development Hong Kong

Pure Jade Limited 1,000 20 - MEER B

Property development Hong Kong

ERERERAR 3 17 - MEEE BE

Star Play Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

EIARY IR E B G ENESAE

% o

The above companies are not audited by KPMG.

FRINHEZRRRYAEE 28 R
BEAEATEZIRRERA -

The above list gives the principal jointly controlled entities of the
Group which in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
profit and assets of the Group.
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Ten-Year Financial Summary

+=
+=A HBEAA=TRLET=EA
Jul - Dec For the years ended June 30
NWASBELHE in HK$ million 201 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
wEE Total assets 163,088 155367 126512 98676 93489 76222 66,508 58704 52,004 46416
REME Investment properties 101,833 94003 83633 69958 66136 52539 43753 39370 32227 28,658
HEME Properties for sale

- BER - Completed 5158 5089 5086 6954 6805 9706 10215 10,757 7078 542

—BEf - Under development 987 905 800 760 43 41 - - 5018 10,914
B RFTFR Cash and deposits with banks 26149 28274 11852 9632 10,738 7092 6189 3734 1959 1,684
weE Total liabilities 41920 35170 24167 19907 21432 17733 20,182 14,738 17538 17185
BITER Bank loans 27694 20901 10790 9966 9,040 8482 11,787 6397 11,319 9,759
FERE Floating rate notes - - - 1500 1500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540
RRES Convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - 3414
RRER Shareholders’ equity 60510 58972 52973 40640 36782 29095 25013 22839 18829 16,888
EEFE (B Net assets (including

R ELR) non-controlling interests) 121,168 120,197 102,345 78,769 72,057 58489 46326 43966 34,466 29,231
EEE Tumover 3,361 5714 12580 4696 10553 4,778 4,200 7472 5449 3421
R REL LR Net profit attributable to

shareholders 1578 3529 13139 2,559 7516 4786 2,833 4644 2544 387
EARGF (HEE1) Underlying net profit (Note 1) 1,000 1,733 3695 1454 2,555 1,996 950 1,869 987 387
RE Dividends 512 1,025 1,017 941 941 813 739 725 637 584
Shas Per share data
&7 Earnings

—-&X - Basic $117  $262 $983 $192 $564 $359  $213  $350 $192  $0.29

o - Diluted $116  $260 $971  $190 $556 $356  $211  $348  $191  $029
EREF (1) Undertying earnings (Note 1)

—&X - Basic $0.74  $129 $276 $109 $192  $150 $071  $141  $074  $0.29

o - Diluted $074 $128 $273 $108 $189  $148 $071  $140 $0M4  $029
K& Dividends

— g - Interim - 19¢ 19¢  165¢  165¢  145¢  145¢  145¢ 12¢ 12¢

— RHA — Final 38¢ 57¢ 57¢ B¢ b4¢  46.5¢ a¢ 40¢ 36¢ 32¢

-28,/% — Total for the period/year 38¢ 76¢ 76¢  705¢  70.5¢ 61¢  555¢  54.5¢ 48¢ 44¢
R g (PizE3) Shareholders” equity (Note 3) $449  $437  $396  $305  $276  $218  $188 $172  $142  $127
BEFHE (RFE Net assets (including non-

JEERRIERS) (BH3E3)  controlling interests) (Note 3) $89.9  $89.2  $764  $59.0 9540  $439  $348  $331  $260  $22.1
BE= (Mi2) Gearing ratio (Note 2) 1% 0% 0% 3%  04% 6% 14% 10% 24% 31%
REHE Pay-out ratio 32% 29% 8% 37% 13% 17% 26% 16% 25%  151%
ERRELLE Underlying pay-out ratio

(FfzE1) (Note 1) 51% 59% 28% 65% 37% 4% 78% 39% 65%  151%
BERTRY Number of shares issued

(AEBR) (in million) 1348 1348 1339 1334 1334 133 1,332 1328 1328  13%

B EE - Notes:

1. RIGEHAEEEEEBHIEM - Ltz ERG
F - BREBF KRS LR E MR E P2 R %
BRREMEZ ATESHREAMECRER

s/,

TR

2. AEXRAGFEREARENFE
A ES

HIRTTER

3. BENGEHAZRRER BEFERBEETR

e

B - FER
EREBEERY
AYE - MRS RRITFR - BAER S IERRE
M IFFE R R -

1.

St

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

To facilitate better understanding of the Group’s operational results, the underlying net profit,
earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the effect of changes in
fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development and their
related deferred tax and non-controlling interests.

Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank loans,
convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits
with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

Based on shareholders’ equity/net assets divided by number of shares outstanding on the

reporting date.
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Corporate Information

B=E

PREUR (2% &)

BREE (azEs)*

PRk (FFmmrs)

PR 48 R

B2 exmies . OBE - AFME*
PR 415 *

B CBE - ATHM+*

=iRE

CEZS

o OEsTEE
* BUHHTESE

Directors

Ronnie C. Chan (chairman)
S.S.Yin (Vice Chairman)*

Philip N.L. Chen (Managing Director)
Gerald L. Chan*

H.K. Cheng, 68s, 08¢, sp*

Laura L.Y. Chen*

Simon S.O. Ip, cBE JP*

William RY. Ko

H.C. Ho

#  Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

EREEE
5L CBE - AFHME ()
BIESD auHES - OBE - A ¥+

Audit Committee
Simon S.O. Ip, ¢BE, JP (Chairman)
H.K. Cheng, 68s, 08E, Jp

PR 4405 Laura L.Y. Chen

RERTHNEES Nomination and Remuneration Committee
EESS si2E - OBE - X FML (£5) H.K. Cheng, 68s, 0BE, JP (Chairman)

PR 45 15 Laura L.Y. Chen

TR CBE - AT

Simon S.O. Ip, cBE Jp

REREK Authorized Representatives
FeR B 1% Philip N.L. Chen

2N Bella PL. Chhoa

ARWE Company Secretary

2N Bella PL. Chhoa

TRRERE Registered Office

BEREPREHES MR
BITIRITREZ /&
EiE 12879 0111
{55 : 2868 6086

28th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building
4 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel: 2879 0111

Fax: 2868 6086

L=ER: g

#94F : http://www.hanglunggroup.com
BE MU : HLGroup@hanglung.com

Internet Address
Website: http://www.hanglunggroup.com
Email address: HLGroup@hanglung.com

3
£S5 g EI T
PR AT

Auditor
KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
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11 ¥
Listing Information

R-Z——%F+— H=+—H At December 31, 2011

@
1,348,441,242 RBFREEE 1.00 T 1,348,441,242 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on
EEBBERZERAR LM ’MN The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
IR 1K 5% Stock Code
ERBMARRZT Hong Kong Stock Exchange 00010
- yrxan Reuters 0010.HK
EAE] Bloomberg 10HK
BFEEEN (KRMT) Board Lot Size (Share) 1,000
EHFEEES American Depositary Receipt
E—RRE(EERS) Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)

BEBUK—RE S ZHEAR CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol 41043E102/HNLGY
TBREEEFHRMD Z X ADR: Underlying Share Ratio 15
TFREERTT + BAIEEIRTT Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon
k- Website: http://www.adrbnymellon.com
BREBFRERLE Share Registrars
BEEPRELEERLRBRAA Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEEERRKER—BN\T=% 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
ALt HiE 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong
B Tel: 2862 8628
BE Fax: 2529 6087
REERBRBE Investor Relations Contact
4 Bl C.F Kwan
B E AL Email address: ir@hanglung.com
@
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Bt 47 & B} Share Information
@
f&%{E Price f&f& Price
HAPKACER #APKACER
Fm &K Total Trading Bm =K Total Trading
High Low Volume High Low Volume
ok 4 &R (FR) B A RHEE (FR)
HKS$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000) HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000)
2011 2010
% —2 First quarter 5495  44.00 47,270 | Z5—7 First quarter 42.95 32.85 74,368
% —7 Second quarter  54.70  46.40 54,591 | % =% Second quarter 43.60 35.20 54,568
=7 Third quarter 5180 37.95 49,374 | Z=7 Third quarter 51.75 40.90 59,120
092 Fourth quarter  49.80  36.20 53,660 | $PUZ Fourth quarter 5450 46.75 52,068
R-B—F+-A=+—HZRE: ## 42,5550 R-B—B|E+-A=+—HZRE: ##51.107T
Share Price as at December 31, 2011: HK$42.55 Share Price as at December 31, 2010: HK$51.10
R-B——&+-A=+—HZHHE: ¥ 573.8 87T R-B—B|E+-A=+—HZHHE: ¥ 688.9 87T
Market Capitalization as at December 31, 2011: HK$57.38 billion Market Capitalization as at December 31, 2010: HK$68.89 billion
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